

Open access • Journal Article • DOI:10.1142/S0217751X18420058

Probing Leptogenesis — Source link ☑

E. J. Chun, Gorazd Cvetič, P. S. B. Dev, Marco Drewes ...+11 more authors **Published on:** 08 Nov 2017 - <u>arXiv: High Energy Physics - Phenomenology</u> **Topics:** Leptogenesis, Neutrino oscillation, Neutrino and Double beta decay

Related papers:

- arXiv : Probing Leptogenesis
- Baryogenesis without grand unification
- $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$ at a rate of one out of 109 muon decays?
- Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Nonconservation
- · Baryogenesis via neutrino oscillations



Probing Leptogenesis

E. J. Chun^{*}, G. Cvetič[†], P. S. B. Dev[‡], M. Drewes^{§,||}, C. S. Fong[¶], B. Garbrecht^{||}
T. Hambye^{**}, J. Harz^{††1}, P. Hernández^{‡‡}, C. S. Kim^{§§}, E. Molinaro^{¶¶}, E. Nardi^{||||},
J. Racker^{***}, N. Rius^{†††}, J. Zamora-Saa^{‡‡‡}

*Korea Institute for Advanced Study, Seoul 02455, Korea

[†]Department of Physics, Universidad Técnica Federico Santa María, Valparaíso, Chile

[‡]Department of Physics and McDonnell Center for the Space Sciences, Washington University, St. Louis, MO 63130, USA

[§] Centre for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve B-1348, Belgium

¶Instituto de Física, Universidade de São Paulo, C. P. 66.318, 05315-970 São Paulo, Brazil

Physik Department T70, Technische Universität München, James Franck Straße 1, 85748 Garching, Germany

** Service de Physique Théorique - Université Libre de Bruxelles, Boulevard du Triomphe, CP225, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

^{††}Institut Lagrange de Paris (ILP), Sorbonne Universitès, 98 bis Boulevard Arago, 75014 Paris, France

^{††}LPTHE, UPMC Univ Paris 06, Sorbonne Universitès, UMR 7589, 75005 Paris, France

^{††}LPTHE, CNRS, UMR 7589, 75005 Paris, France

^{‡‡}Instituto de Física Corpuscular, Universidad de Valencia and CSIC, Edificio Institutos Investigación, Catedrático José Beltrán 2, 46980, Spain ^{‡‡}Theory Division, CERN 1211 Geneve 23, Switzerland

§§ Department of Physics and IPAP, Yonsei University, Seoul 120-749, Korea

¶CP³-Origins, University of Southern Denmark, Campusvej 55, DK-5230 Odense M, Denmark

III INFN, Laboratori Nazionali di Frascati, C.P. 13, I-00044 Frascati, Italy

*** Instituto de Astronomía Teórica y Experimental (IATE), Universidad Nacional de Córdoba (UNC) - Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Córdoba, Argentina

¹Corresponding Author.

^{†††}Instituto de Física Corpuscular (IFIC), CSIC-Universitat de València, Apartado de Correos 22085, 46071 Valencia, Spain

^{‡‡‡}Dzhelepov Laboratory of Nuclear Problems, Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, Dubna 141980, Russia.

Abstract: The focus of this chapter lies on the possible experimental tests of leptogenesis scenarios. We consider both leptogenesis generated from oscillations, as well as leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays. As the Akhmedov-Rubakov-Smirnov (ARS) mechanism allows for heavy neutrinos in the GeV range, this opens up a plethora of possible experimental tests, e.g. at neutrino oscillation experiments, neutrinoless double beta decay, and direct searches for neutral heavy leptons at future facilities. In contrast, testing leptogenesis from out-ofequilibrium decays is a quite difficult task. We comment on the necessary conditions for having successful leptogenesis at the TeV-scale. We further discuss possible realizations and their model specific testability in extended seesaw models, models with extended gauge sectors, and supersymmetric leptogenesis. Not being able to test high-scale leptogenesis directly, we present a way to falsify such scenarios by focusing on their washout processes. This is discussed specifically for the left-right symmetric model and the observation of a heavy W_R , as well as model independently when measuring $\Delta L = 2$ washout processes at the LHC or neutrinoless double beta decay.

Contents

Probing Leptogenesis 1
1. Introduction
2. Testability of GeV-scale leptogenesis
2.1. Testing the minimal seesaw model at the GeV-scale
2.2. Testing the symmetry protected scenario
2.3. Constraints on sterile neutrinos
2.4. Probing CP violation in meson decays
3. General mechanisms for low scale leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays 32
4. Testability of leptogenesis in extended seesaw models
4.1. Extensions to the type I seesaw model
4.2. Extensions to type II and III seesaw models
5. Testability of leptogenesis with extended gauge sectors
5.1. TeV leptogenesis in Z' models
5.2. Leptogenesis in left-right symmetric models
6. Testability of supersymmetric leptogenesis
6.1. Type I soft leptogenesis
6.2. Type II soft leptogenesis
7. Model independent falsification of high-scale leptogenesis
8. Summary and conclusions
References

1. Introduction

The baryon asymmetry of our Universe is precisely determined by the baryon-tophoton ratio [1]

$$\eta_B^{\text{obs}} = \frac{n_B - n_{\bar{B}}}{n_{\gamma}} = (6.09 \pm 0.06) \times 10^{-10}.$$
 (1)

or in terms of the yield

$$Y_{\Delta B} = \frac{n_B - n_{\bar{B}}}{s} = (8.65 \pm 0.09) \times 10^{-11} \,. \tag{2}$$

As the Standard Model (SM) is not able to explain the asymmetry by itself, this observation is a clear indication for the existence of new physics [2–10]. While different ideas exist to create such an asymmetry (e.g. electroweak baryogenesis [11–16], Affleck-Dine mechanism [17, 18], etc.), the most popular scenario is baryogenesis via leptogenesis [19, 20], as it allows one to address additionally open questions of neutrino physics like the underlying mechanism of neutrino mass generation and mixing.

While the SM charged fermions can only acquire Dirac masses, as they carry charges of the unbroken electromagnetic/color groups, the SM neutrinos ν_L , being electric and color charge neutral, can lead another type of masses,^a

$$M_{\nu}\bar{\nu}_{L}\nu_{L}^{c},\tag{3}$$

with the flavor index being suppressed. This was pointed out for the first time by Ettore Majorana. The Majorana mass term can be described by the dimension-5 Weinberg operator [21, 22]

$$\mathcal{O}^{d=5} = \frac{y}{\Lambda_{\text{seesaw}}} \left(\bar{\ell}\phi^c\right) \left(\ell^c\phi^c\right),\tag{4}$$

where y is some dimensionless coupling and Λ_{seesaw} is the seesaw scale at which new degrees of freedom set in. There are three possible ultraviolet completions of the Weinberg operator at tree-level, known as type I, type II and type III seesaw. The respective new degrees of freedom are singlet fermions, $SU(2)_L$ triplet scalars and $SU(2)_L$ triplet fermions.

The most minimal realization is hereby the type I seesaw of which the Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L} = \bar{N}_k \, i \partial \!\!\!/ N_k - \left(\frac{1}{2} M_k \, \bar{N}_k^c N_k + \lambda_{\alpha k} \, \bar{\ell}_\alpha \phi^c N_k + \text{h.c.}\right) \,, \tag{5}$$

where at least two heavy singlet fermions N_k , also known as right-handed (RH) neutrinos, are introduced. With this simple extension two problems can be solved at the same time: *light neutrino masses*

$$M_{\nu} \approx -\frac{v^2}{2} \lambda M_N^{-1} \lambda^T \,, \tag{6}$$

with v = 246 GeV, as well as *leptogenesis*. The standard approach for leptogenesis is via

^aThroughout this chapter we use doublets $\ell = (\nu_L, e_L)^T$ with ν_L, e_L, N denoting four-component Dirac spinors. ν_L, e_L are assumed to be left-handed, i.e. $P_L e_L = e_L, P_L \nu_L = \nu_L$, while N is right-handed, $P_R N = N$. We define $\phi^c \equiv \epsilon \phi^*$ with $(\epsilon_{12} = 1)$.

(1) leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays. In order to feature small enough neutrino masses and at the same time a large enough baryon asymmetry, the right handed (RH) neutrino mass is constrained. This was firstly discussed in [23] in the context of type I seesaw and is known as *Davidson-Ibarra bound*. For thermal production, the heavy neutrino mass is bounded from below as

$$M_N \gtrsim 10^8 \left(\frac{\eta_B}{5 \times 10^{-11}}\right) \left(\frac{0.06 \text{eV}}{m_3}\right) \text{GeV},$$
 (7)

with m_3 being the heaviest of the SM neutrinos. While this bound holds for vanilla seesaw models, it does not apply to the inverse seesaw model or radiative neutrino mass generation. However, the tight connection of the CP-violating decays with the washout processes, forces the heavy neutrino mass to similar high values in order to achieve successful baryogenesis. Due to this, the vanilla seesaw scenarios as mechanism behind leptogenesis are difficult to probe. These problems (and possible solutions) will be discussed in more detail in Sec. 3. The main features of the thermal leptogenesis scenario including its possible connection to CP violation in the lepton sector are reviewed in the accompanying chapters of this review [24–26].

In the following sections, we will discuss models which lead to successful leptogenesis and can be tested for at different experiments. In Sec. 4, seesaw models with additional new matter fields will be addressed. Seesaw models with an extended gauge sector will be considered in Sec. 5. Testability of leptogenesis in the supersymmetric context will be discussed in Sec. 6. If the energy scale of the new physics is too high to be tested, possibilities to falsify high-scale models exist. A model independent approach will be outlined in Sec. 7.

Besides leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays, another approach exists, namely

(2) leptogenesis from oscillations. This scenario is also called Akhmedov-Rubakov-Smirnov (ARS) mechanism, being firstly discussed in Ref. [27]. In this approach, Yukawa couplings have to be small and feature a certain hierarchy such that at least one of the sterile neutrinos does not reach thermal equilibrium until the critical temperature of sphaleron decoupling (t_c) , whereas at least another one thermally equilibrates before t_c . While the total lepton number is approximately conserved, flavor oscillations create an asymmetry in between the different flavor sectors. The singlets that are in thermal equilibrium are able to transfer their asymmetry to the active neutrino sector before sphaleron decoupling and thus create a baryon asymmetry. The ones having not reached thermal equilibrium before t_c will have, however, no effect on the final baryon asymmetry as they translate their asymmetry only after sphaleron decoupling. For further details on this setup, we refer to [28]. With respect to testability, this scenario is highly

interesting. As the Yukawa couplings are generally small, heavy neutrinos with much smaller masses, i.e. around the GeV scale, are allowed

$$M_{\nu} \approx -\frac{v^2}{2} \lambda M_N^{-1} \lambda^T \simeq 0.3 \left(\frac{\text{GeV}}{M_N}\right) \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{10^{-14}}\right) \text{eV} \,. \tag{8}$$

This opens up a plethora of possible experimental tests, which will be the topic of the following Sec. 2.

2. Testability of GeV-scale leptogenesis

In chapter [28] we have reviewed the Akhmedov-Rubakov-Smirnov mechanism of leptogenesis in the context of the type I seesaw model at low scales, i.e. for Majorana neutrino masses between 0.1 - 100 GeV. We have seen that the type I seesaw model in Eq. (5) can explain neutrino masses provided that a number of Majorana singlets $n \ge 2$ is added to the SM. In spite of being a relatively mild extension of the SM, these models add an enormous complexity to the lepton flavor sector, which increases rapidly with n. The type I seesaw model with n = 2 involves four mixing angles, four mass eigenstates and three CP phases. The model with n = 3 instead involves six angles as well as six masses and six CP phases. However, at present only two mass differences and three angles have been determined (see [26] for a summary of the current status of data on neutrino masses and lepton mixing).

The flavor complexity opens up in full blossom when considering observables such as the baryon asymmetry. For the n = 2 model, for example, it has been shown that this observable is sensitive to all flavor parameters of the lepton sector [29–32]. The question is therefore, whether there is any hope that all these flavor parameters can be determined experimentally, at least in principle, and thus the baryon asymmetry predicted.

A number of experiments will explore the lepton flavor sector with more accuracy in the future. Particularly important to test the ARS leptogenesis scenario will be the following experiments:

• Neutrino oscillation experiments

These experiments will search for leptonic CP violation in light neutrino mixing. The oscillation probabilities are sensitive to the light neutrino mixing angles, mass differences and the CP phase, δ , of the PMNS matrix, see Eq. 2 in [26]. Although existing accelerator neutrino experiments such as T2K [33] and NO ν A [34], as well as atmospheric neutrino experiments, are sensitive to δ , this sensitivity is rather limited and will be improved significantly in the future with the experiments DUNE [35] and Hyper-Kamiokande [36]. For a maximal CP phase, they could measure the phase δ with ≈ 0.17 rad accuracy.

• Neutrinoless double beta $(0\nu\beta\beta)$ decay searches

This measurement is very sensitive to low-scale seesaw scenarios [37–41], as the heavy neutrinos can give a significant contribution to the amplitude for masses below 1 GeV. Besides, the light neutrino contribution to this amplitude is very sensitive to the CP phases of the PMNS matrix, in particular the Majorana phases that decouple from neutrino oscillations, but nevertheless are relevant for the baryon asymmetry. For a review of current and future searches of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay we refer to [26].

• Future direct searches for neutral heavy leptons

Experiments such as SHiP [42, 43] or high intensity e^+e^- colliders [44–46] will improve significantly the sensitivity to neutral heavy leptons in the range of masses relevant for ARS leptogenesis. If neutral heavy leptons are discovered and their masses and mixings to the different flavors measured, these observables provide very useful information on CP phases and other flavor parameters.

In the next section we will show that in the context of the minimal model with n = 2, these three inputs might suffice to actually predict the baryon asymmetry if the Majorana masses lie in the GeV range.

Other phenomenological implications of seesaw models include lepton flavor violating processes, such as $\mu \to e\gamma$, $\mu \to 3e$ or $\mu - e$ conversion in nuclei [47–49], lepton electric dipole moments [50–52], electroweak corrections [53–58], or CP-violating meson decays as will be covered in Sec. 2.4. Any such measurement could of course add very valuable information on the flavor parameters, but it is unlikely that the parameter space relevant for successful baryogenesis will give measurable contributions to these observables in the near future, since typically this would require larger mixings.

2.1. Testing the minimal seesaw model at the GeV-scale

In the following, we constrain ourselves to the n = 2 type I seesaw model, the simplest extension of the SM that can explain neutrino masses. A convenient parameterization of the Yukawa matrix in the Lagrangian Eq. (5) is given by the Casas-Ibarra parameterization (adapted to the case of n = 2) [59]:

$$\lambda = -iU_{\nu}^* \sqrt{M_{\nu}^{\text{diag}}} P_{NO} R^T(z) \sqrt{M_N} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{v}, \qquad (9)$$

where U_{ν} is the PMNS matrix of Eq. 2 in [26], M_{ν}^{diag} is the diagonal matrix of the light neutrino masses (note that the lightest neutrino is massless because only two Majorana singlets are included), $M_N = M_N^{\text{diag}} = \text{diag}(M_1, M_2)$, where M_1, M_2 are the heavy neutrino masses, P_{NO} is a 3×2 matrix that depends on the neutrino

ordering (NH, IH)

$$P_{NH} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ P_{IH} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(10)

and finally R(z) is a generic two dimensional orthogonal complex matrix that depends on one complex angle $z \equiv \theta + i\gamma$. The mixings of the heavy states are given by

$$U_{\alpha k} = -i \left(U_{\nu}^* \sqrt{M_{\nu}^{\text{diag}}} P_{NO} R^T(z) \frac{1}{\sqrt{M_N^{\text{diag}}}} \right)_{\alpha k}.$$
 (11)

This parameterization assumes that non-unitarity effects are sufficiently small, which is a good approximation in the mass range relevant for leptogenesis, given the existing constraints reviewed in the following Sec. 2.3.

It is important to stress that the model with n = 2 is also a good representation of the model with $n \ge 3$ in which one of the states is very weakly coupled and effectively decouples from the physics relevant in baryogenesis. This happens e.g. in the ν MSM [60], where the almost-decoupled state could play the role of warm dark matter. The realization of leptogenesis in this minimal model, which is, in practice, equivalent to the ν MSM, has been studied by many authors. As the mechanism has been described in detail in [28], we refer to that chapter for a full list of references.

In a recent work, the Bayesian posterior probabilities from a successful prediction of the baryon asymmetry have been evaluated [32]. The results for the heavy state mixing $|U_{\alpha4}|^2$ with $\alpha = \tau, \mu, e$ versus the mass M_1 is reproduced in Fig. 1 for normal (left) and inverted (right) hierarchy. The result for the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay amplitude $m_{\beta\beta}$ versus the mass degeneracy $\Delta M_{12}/M_1$ is shown in Fig. 2. The blue/red regions correspond to considering flat priors in $\log_{10} M_1$ and $\log_{10} M_2/\log_{10} |M_2 - M_1|$, respectively. Thus, the red regions allow for larger tuning in the degeneracy of the masses. Interestingly, the less tuned blue regions are within the reach of SHiP, and seem to be correlated with a sizeable non-standard contribution to the amplitude of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, see Fig. 2. This has been observed as well in other studies [61, 62].

On general grounds, we expect that, in the weak washout regime, where a perturbative expansion in Yukawas is a good approximation, the baryon asymmetry is proportional to the most general weak-basis invariant:

$$Y_{\Delta B} \propto \Delta_{CP} = \sum_{\alpha,k} |\lambda_{\alpha k}|^2 \,\Delta_{\alpha},\tag{12}$$

with

$$\Delta_{\alpha} = \sum_{i,j} \operatorname{Im}[\lambda_{\alpha i} \lambda_{\alpha j}^{*}(\lambda^{\dagger} \lambda)_{ij}] f(M_{i}, M_{j}), \qquad (13)$$

where f is some arbitrary function. The $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^6)$ dependence holds only in the weak washout regime, while at equilibration time it reaches $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^4)$, as discussed in [28].



Fig. 1. Comparison of the posterior probability contours at 68% and 90% from successful matterantimatter asymmetry on the planes mixings with e, μ, τ versus masses, with the present (shaded region) and future constraints from DUNE, FCC and SHiP for NH (left) and IH (right). Figure taken from Ref. [32].

The dependence of $Y_{\Delta B}$ on the flavor parameters is well represented by this combination. In terms of the Casas-Ibarra parameters, the exact formulae are not very illuminating, but simpler expressions can be obtained by expanding in the



Fig. 2. 68% and 90% posterior probabilities from successful matter-antimatter asymmetry for the amplitude of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay versus the mass degeneracy. Figure taken from Ref. [32].

following small parameters:

$$\mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon\right): r \equiv \sqrt{\frac{\Delta m_{sol}^2}{\Delta m_{atm}^2}} \sim \theta_{13} \sim e^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}},\tag{14}$$

where γ is assumed to be positive.^b Note that, although γ is unknown, the region of sensitivity of SHiP and high intensity colliders requires that $|\gamma| \geq 2$.

At leading order in ϵ expansion, the CP asymmetry in this regime can be approximated by

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\Delta_{CP}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \right|_{IH} &= e^{4\gamma} \frac{(\Delta m_{atm}^2)^{3/2}}{4v^6} M_1 M_2 (M_1 + M_2) \\ &\times \left[(\sin 2\theta \cos 2\theta_{12} - \cos \phi_1 \cos 2\theta \sin 2\theta_{12}) \right. \\ &\times \left(\sin^2 2\theta_{23} + (4 + \cos 4\theta_{23}) \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right], \end{aligned} \tag{15}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\Delta_{CP}}{g(M_1, M_2)} \right|_{NH} &= e^{4\gamma} \frac{(\Delta m_{atm}^2)^{3/2}}{4v^6} M_1 M_2 (M_1 + M_2) \left[\frac{\sqrt{r}}{2} \sin 4\theta_{23} c_{12} \cos(\phi_1 - 2\theta) \right. \\ &+ r \left(\sin^2 2\theta_{23} \left[c_{12}^2 \sin 2(\phi_1 - \theta) + (2 + \cos 2\theta_{12}) \sin 2\theta \right] - 2 \right) \\ &+ \sqrt{r} \theta_{13} s_{12} (1 + \cos^2 2\theta_{23}) \cos(\delta + \phi_1 - 2\theta) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) \right], \end{aligned}$$

where g is some function of the masses that can be found in [32]. In the case of NH we have included NLO corrections, because the LO contributions cancel for $\overline{}^{b}$ Note that γ can also be negative, but there is an approximate symmetry $\gamma \to -\gamma$, that would lead to very similar results by expanding in $e^{-\frac{|\gamma|}{2}}$ in this case. maximal atmospheric mixing. We see that for both neutrino hierarchies, the baryon asymmetry depends on all flavor parameters of the model: the light neutrino masses and mixings, the heavy neutrino masses, as well as the real and imaginary part of the Casas-Ibarra complex angle θ , γ . A very important question is how many of these parameters could be measured in the future experiments listed above, at least in principle.

Future searches for heavy neutral leptons in the GeV range are obviously most promising. Ideally, such experiments could discover the two heavy states of the minimal model, measure their splitting, and their mixings to individual SM flavors. Defining

$$A \equiv \frac{e^{2\gamma} \sqrt{\Delta m_{atm}^2}}{4},\tag{16}$$

the perturbative expansion in ϵ gives for their mixing the following approximate expressions in IH:

$$\begin{aligned} |U_{e4}|^2 M_1 \simeq |U_{e5}|^2 M_2 \simeq A \Big[(1 + \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12}) (1 - \theta_{13}^2) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} r^2 s_{12} (c_{12} \sin \phi_1 + s_{12}) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3) \Big], \\ |U_{\mu 4}|^2 M_1 \simeq |U_{\mu 5}|^2 M_2 \simeq A \Big[\left(1 - \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12} \left(1 + \frac{1}{4}r^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2}r^2 c_{12}^2 \right) c_{23}^2 \\ &+ \theta_{13} (\cos \phi_1 \sin \delta - \sin \phi_1 \cos 2\theta_{12} \cos \delta) \sin 2\theta_{23} \\ &+ \theta_{13}^2 (1 + \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12}) s_{23}^2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3) \Big], \\ |U_{\tau 4}|^2 M_1 \simeq |U_{\tau 5}|^2 M_2 \simeq A \Big[\left(1 - \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12} \left(1 + \frac{1}{4}r^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2}r^2 c_{12}^2 \right) s_{23}^2 \\ &- \theta_{13} (\cos \phi_1 \sin \delta - \sin \phi_1 \cos 2\theta_{12} \cos \delta) \sin 2\theta_{23} \\ &+ \theta_{13}^2 (1 + \sin \phi_1 \sin 2\theta_{12}) c_{23}^2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3) \Big], \end{aligned}$$

$$(17)$$

while the result for NH is as follows:

$$|U_{e4}|^{2}M_{1} \simeq |U_{e5}|^{2}M_{2} \simeq A \Big[rs_{12}^{2} - 2\sqrt{r}\theta_{13}\sin(\delta + \phi_{1})s_{12} + \theta_{13}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2}) \Big],$$

$$|U_{\mu4}|^{2}M_{1} \simeq |U_{\mu5}|^{2}M_{2} \simeq A \Big[s_{23}^{2} - \sqrt{r} \ c_{12}\sin\phi_{1}\sin2\theta_{23} + rc_{12}^{2}c_{23}^{2} + 2\sqrt{r} \ \theta_{13}\sin(\phi_{1} + \delta)s_{12}s_{23}^{2} - \theta_{13}^{2}s_{23}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2}) \Big],$$

$$|U_{\tau4}|^{2}M_{1} \simeq |U_{\tau5}|^{2}M_{2} \simeq A \Big[c_{23}^{2} + \sqrt{r}c_{12}\sin\phi_{1}\sin2\theta_{23} + rc_{12}^{2}s_{23}^{2} + 2\sqrt{r} \ \theta_{13}\sin(\phi_{1} + \delta)s_{12}c_{23}^{2} - \theta_{13}^{2}c_{23}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{5/2}) \Big].$$

$$(18)$$

We see that all the mixings are inversely proportional to the mass and exponentially dependent on the parameter γ . However the ratio of the mixings to the electron and

muon flavor depends only on the light neutrino masses and the PMNS mixing angles and phases. In particular it depends on the two unknown CP phases: δ which can be determined in future neutrino oscillation experiments and the Majorana phase ϕ_1 , that modifies the amplitude for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay. A recent study [63] has evaluated the sensitivity of this observable to leptonic CP violation.

Note that there is no dependence at this order on the angle θ and therefore the measurement of the mixings and masses of the heavy states does not provide sufficient information to predict the baryon asymmetry. There is always a choice of θ for which the asymmetry vanishes in this approximation.

There is, however, what could be called a GeV-miracle: the heavy states in this mass range can give non-standard contributions to $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, as we have seen in the posterior probabilities in Fig. 2. Interestingly, the angle θ controls the interference between the light and heavy contributions to this observable. In the ϵ expansion, the amplitude for $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay is given by (see [26] for the definition of $|m_{\beta\beta}|$)

$$\frac{|m_{\beta\beta}|_{IH}}{\sqrt{\Delta m_{atm}^2}} \simeq \left| c_{13}^2 \left(c_{12}^2 + e^{2i\phi_1} s_{12}^2 \left(1 + \frac{r^2}{2} \right) \right) - e^{2i\theta} e^{2\gamma} (c_{12} - ie^{i\phi_1} s_{12})^2 (1 - 2e^{i\delta} s_{23} \theta_{13}) h(M_1, M_2) \right|, \quad (19)$$

$$\frac{|m_{\beta\beta}|_{NH}}{\sqrt{\Delta m_{atm}^2}} \simeq \left| e^{2i\phi_1} c_{13}^2 s_{12}^2 r + e^{-2i\delta} s_{13}^2 - e^{2i\theta} e^{2\gamma} s_{12} \left(r s_{12} e^{2i\phi_1} - 2i\sqrt{r}\theta_{13} e^{-i\delta} \right) h(M_1, M_2) \right|,$$
(20)

where

$$h(M_1, M_2) \equiv f(A) \frac{(0.9 \,\text{GeV})^2}{4M_1^2} \left(1 - \left(\frac{M_1}{M_1 + \Delta M_{12}}\right)^2 \right).$$
(21)

The two lines in each amplitude correspond respectively to the light and heavy contributions and f(A) depends on the nucleus under consideration. For ⁴⁸Ca, ⁷⁶Ge, ⁸²Se, ¹³⁰Te and ¹³⁶Xe, $f(A) \approx 0.035$, 0.028, 0.028, 0.033 and 0.032, respectively [37, 64]. Since f(A) is very small, we have neglected $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ effects in the heavy contribution.

As a proof of principle, we have considered the model indicated by the star in Fig. 1, corresponding to an inverted neutrino hierarchy. Assuming a putative measurement of the two heavy states at SHiP, with M_1, M_2 determined with a 0.1% accuracy, and their mixings to electrons and muons with a 1% accuracy, the Bayesian posterior probabilities in the plane $(Y_{\Delta B}, |m_{\beta\beta}|)$ are shown in Fig. 3. The red contour corresponds to a measurement of SHiP only, while the blue includes the assumption that the phase δ is determined in future neutrino oscillation experiments with a 0.17 rad accuracy [35]. The latter measurement is very important, because it resolves the (δ, ϕ_1) correlation in the mixings. The shape of the blue contour can be understood as resulting from this correlation [32]. Depending on the measurement of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, the baryon asymmetry might be predicted up to a sign.



Fig. 3. Posterior probabilities in the $|m_{\beta\beta}|$ vs $Y_{\Delta B}$ plane from a putative measurement at SHiP, assuming 0.1%, 1% uncertainties in the masses and mixings (red) or the latter with an additional measurement of δ with a 0.17 rad uncertainty in DUNE and HyperK (blue). The grey band indicates the standard 3ν expectation. Figure taken from Ref. [32].

This exercise clearly demonstrates the synergy of the different experimental tests of this minimal model: long-baseline neutrino oscillation experiments, $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay and direct searches of neutral heavy leptons, are optimal for probing the GeV range, where a prediction of the matter-antimatter asymmetry in the Universe might be achievable.

2.2. Testing the symmetry protected scenario

In much of the parameter space discussed in the previous sections the $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ are too small to give sizeable branching ratios in existing experiments. This is mostly owed to the relation Eq. (6) and the fact that the light neutrino masses are very small. If we neglect the matrix structure of Eq. (6), i.e., pretend to live in a world with only one generation of SM particles and one flavour of heavy neutrinos, then the magnitude of the Majorana mass M_N uniquely fixes the size of the Yukawa coupling as $\lambda^2 = 2M_N m_{\nu}/v^2$. When the matrices M_N and λ have no special structure, then one would expect a similar scaling for their eigenvalues. In this case we can estimate the magnitude of the active-sterile mixing by the "naive seesaw scaling"

$$U^2 \sim \sqrt{\Delta m_{\rm atm}^2 + m_{\rm lightest}^2/M_N},$$
 (22)

where $\Delta m_{\rm atm}$ and $m_{\rm lightest}$ are the atmospheric mass splitting and the mass of the lightest neutrino, respectively. This corresponds to simply scaling the familiar relation between light and heavy neutrino masses in high-scale seesaw models down to a lower scale. The smallness of the light neutrino masses in this scenario does

not come from the familiar seesaw suppression $v/M_N \ll 1$,^c but is due to very small Yukawa couplings $\lambda^2 \sim 2m_{\nu}M_N/v^2 \sim 10^{-8}M_N/v$.

However, many models that incorporate a low-scale seesaw exhibit additional symmetries, e.g. an approximate B - L symmetry that makes the limit $M_N \to 0$ technically natural. The probably most prominent class of models that realize this symmetry are the *inverse seesaw models* [65–67], and the symmetry protected scenario that we will consider here and is also often called the *inverse seesaw limit* of the standard type I seesaw Lagrangian. In the Casas-Ibarra parameterization with n = 2, an approximate B - L symmetry emerges in the limit where the parameters $c = e^{-2\gamma}$ and $\mu = \frac{M_2 - M_1}{2}$ (23)

$$\epsilon \equiv e^{-2\gamma}$$
 and $\mu = \frac{M_2 - M_1}{M_2 + M_1}$ (23)

are small. Here M_1 and M_2 are the heavy neutrino masses, and γ is the imaginary part of the complex angle $z = \theta + i\gamma$ in Eq. (9). It is therefore instructive to use the variables

$$\bar{M} = \frac{M_2 + M_1}{2}$$
 and $\Delta M = \frac{M_2 - M_1}{2} = \mu \bar{M}.$ (24)

 ε basically controls the overall interaction strength of the heavy neutrinos,

$$U^{2} \equiv \sum_{\alpha,i} |U_{\alpha i}|^{2} = \mu \frac{M}{M_{1}M_{2}}(m_{i} - m_{j})\cos(2\theta) + \frac{M}{M_{1}M_{2}}(m_{i} - m_{j})\frac{1}{2}(\epsilon + \frac{1}{\epsilon}), (25)$$

while μ determines the splitting between their masses. Here m_i and m_j are the two non-zero light neutrino masses, and we assumed n = 2. In this scenario, Yukawa couplings $|\lambda_{\alpha i}|$ that are larger than the electron Yukawa coupling can be made consistent with small neutrino masses m_i for M_N below the TeV scale. The smallness of the light neutrino m_i is primarily a result of the smallness of ϵ and μ . Specific models that predict $\mu, \epsilon \ll 1$ typically establish relations between these parameters, i.e., specify a trajectory in the ϵ - μ plane along which the limit $\mu, \epsilon \rightarrow 0$ should be taken. While there is nothing that prevents us from setting $\mu = 0$, ϵ must remain finite in order to ensure that the Yukawa couplings λ remain finite. This is nothing but a manifestation of the fact that the B - L symmetry cannot be exact within the seesaw model with $M_i \gg m_i$ unless the light neutrinos were massless $(m_i = 0)$. In the present discussion we prefer to remain agnostic with respect to the model building and treat ϵ and μ as independent parameters. In the following we mostly focus on the minimal seesaw model with n = 2 for illustrative purposes, and because this is by far the most studied scenario.

2.2.1. Leptogenesis with large mixing angles

The limit $\mu, \epsilon \ll 1$ is interesting for two different reasons. First, it allows to realize large active-sterile mixing angles while respecting constraints from light neutrino oscillation data. Second, it allows for at least three mechanisms of low-scale leptogenesis in the minimal model, see (5).

^cOne may consider it questionable that the name "seesaw" is appropriate for scenarios with $M_N/v \gtrsim 1$. However, it is common to refer to the Lagrangian (5) with the parameter choice $M_i < \text{TeV}$ as *low-scale seesaw*.

- (a) For M_i above the electroweak scale, the baryon asymmetry can be generated in the decay of N_i via *resonant leptogenesis* [68]. The lower bound on the mass comes from the requirement that the heavy neutrinos freeze out and decay before sphalerons freeze out at $T_{\rm EWsp} \sim 130$ GeV [69].
- (b) For smaller masses M_i , the baryon asymmetry can be produced in the decay of Higgs bosons into heavy neutrinos and SM leptons. This decay is kinematically possible in the symmetric phase of the SM due to the "thermal masses" that (quasi)particles obtain from forward scatterings in the primordial plasma. Both, the Higgs bosons and the SM leptons receive a thermal mass of equal size due to their gauge interactions. The Higgs boson receives an additional contribution to its thermal mass from the couplings to fermions (primarily the top quark) and its self-interaction, which makes the $1 \rightarrow 2$ decay into a SM lepton ℓ_a and a heavy neutrino N_i kinematically possible. This kinematic possibility was already realized in Ref. [70] and briefly discussed in Ref. [71] (cf. also Ref. [72] in the context of sterile neutrino Dark Matter production). In Refs. [73, 74] it has been pointed out that it opens a new channel for low-scale leptogenesis. In addition to the decays and inverse decays considered in Ref. [73], scatterings may play an important role for total lepton number violation. This is known to be the case for purely flavor violating processes [75, 76], see Refs. [77–79].
- (c) For M_i below the electroweak scale, the baryon asymmetry may also be generated via CP-violating oscillations of the heavy neutrinos during their production (instead of their decay) [27, 60]. This mechanism of *leptogenesis* from neutrino oscillations is reviewed in detail in [28].

For n = 2, all three mechanisms require $\mu \ll 1$ to achieve a resonant enhancement of the produced baryon asymmetry,^d while ϵ does not necessarily have to be small. The mechanisms (b) and (c) in addition require that the number densities of the heavy neutrinos are negligibly small at the beginning of the radiation dominated epoch. They are then thermally produced from the primordial plasma. The first of them reaches thermal equilibrium at $T = T_{\rm eq} \simeq \max[\lambda^{\dagger}\lambda]\gamma_{\rm av}M_{\rm Pl}\sqrt{45/(4\pi^3g_*)}$. Here $\gamma_{\rm av}$ is a numerical factor $\sim 10^{-2}$ that appears in the matrix of thermal heavy neutrino damping rates

$$\Gamma_N = \lambda^{\dagger} \lambda \gamma_{\rm av} T \tag{26}$$

in the symmetric phase of the SM at $T \gg M_i$ [77–79]. In the following we focus on the symmetry protected scenario with n = 2 and on the mass range below the electroweak scale. In this region planned or proposed experiments have a realistic chance to enter the parameter region in which leptogenesis is possible, cf. Fig. 4. In this regime, the mechanisms (b) and (c) generally coexist.

To estimate the magnitude of the different contributions, we first consider the "naive seesaw regime" ($\epsilon \sim 1$). In the context of low-scale leptogenesis, $\overline{}^{\text{d}}$ For n > 2, a flavor asymmetric washout can allow for successful leptogenesis from neutrino oscillations (mechanism (c)) even without a degeneracy [80]. this regime is also referred to as the oscillatory regime because the heavy neutrinos undergo a large number of oscillations between the temperature $T_{\rm osc}$ \simeq $\left(|M_2^2 - M_1^2|M_{\rm Pl}\sqrt{45/(4\pi^3 g_*)}\right)^{1/3}$ when the heavy neutrinos perform their first oscillation and the freeze-out of weak sphalerons at the temperature $T_{\rm EWsp}$. There is a clear separation of scales $T_{\rm osc} \gg T_{\rm eq}$, which is the basis for the derivation of the expressions presented in Sec. 2.1. The source term in the kinetic equations can be separated into a lepton number violating part and a lepton flavour violating part.^e Both of them are of order $\mathcal{O}[\lambda^4]$ in the Yukawa couplings. It has often been argued that the total lepton number violating part of the source term (which drives the Higgs decay mechanism (b) should be sub-dominant compared to the purely flavor violating source (which drives the leptogenesis mechanism (c) via neutrino oscillations) because the only lepton number violating term in the Lagrangian is the Majorana mass M_N , which leads to a suppression $\sim M_N^2/T^2$ of lepton number violating decays in the regime $T \gg M_N$. However, because the total lepton number is approximately conserved in the heavy neutrino oscillations at $T_{\rm osc} \gg M_N$, they cannot directly generate a net baryon asymmetry. This can only be achieved with the help of a flavor asymmetric washout. Since the washout is also mediated by the heavy neutrino Yukawa interactions, the final baryon asymmetry in the regime $\epsilon \sim 1$ is $\mathcal{O}[\lambda^6]$ (cf. also Ref. [81] for a pedagogical discussion). This can also be seen in Eq. (12) and Eq. (13). In contrast to that, the Higgs decays directly violate lepton number and generate a baryon asymmetry $\mathcal{O}[\lambda^4 M_N^2/T^2]$. Since the seesaw relation (6) in the regime $\epsilon \sim 1$ predicts a "naive seesaw scaling" $\lambda^2 \propto m_{\nu} M_N / v^2$, the Higgs decays can dominate if the asymmetry is primarily generated near the electroweak scale $(T \sim v)$.^f Delaying the oscillations until $T \sim T_{\rm EWsp}$, however, requires much smaller mass splittings than the values that are required for the mechanism (c) ($\mu \lesssim 10^{-1} - 10^{-3}$ with n = 2 [30–32, 46] and $\mu \sim 1$ with n = 3 [80, 82]). Such small splittings seem highly tuned if they cannot be explained by a symmetry. Such a protecting symmetry exists if we require $\epsilon \ll 1$.

The behavior in the symmetry protected regime $\epsilon, \mu \ll 1$ is qualitatively rather different from the oscillatory regime discussed above and in Sec. 2.1. The difference can best be understood in terms of the temperatures $T_{\rm osc}$ and $T_{\rm eq}$. The oscillatory regime is characterized by a clear hierarchy $T_{\rm osc} \gg T_{\rm eq}$, which implies that the oscillations that generate the initial flavored asymmetries occur long before the heavy neutrinos come into equilibrium and the washout is efficient. For $\epsilon, \mu \ll 1$, however, the matrix $\lambda^{\dagger}\lambda$ (and hence matrix Γ_N of damping rates) has two vastly

^eHere *lepton number violation* refers to the violation of a generalized lepton number to which the two heavy Majorana neutrinos' helicity states contribute with opposite sign. That is, for $T \gg \overline{M}$ the two helicity states behave like "particles" and "antiparticles". This generalized lepton number, which is approximately conserved during leptogenesis, is in general not identical to the generalized lepton charge that is conserved in the limit $\mu, \epsilon \to 0$. A detailed discussion of the different lepton numbers can e.g. be found in Ref. [46].

^fA more detailed comparison of the contributions from both mechanisms in oscillatory regime is given in Ref. [74]. In addition to the different dependence on the Yukawa couplings, also the heavy neutrino mass spectrum affects the asymmetry in a different way.

different eigenvalues of size ~ ϵ and $1/\epsilon$. The large eigenvalue ~ $1/\epsilon$ implies that one heavy neutrino flavor eigenstate of Γ_N reaches equilibrium before the oscillations commence, i.e., $T_{\rm eq} \gg T_{\rm osc}$. The other flavor-eigenstate evolves slowly and exhibits overdamped behavior. The *overdamped regime* has first been discussed in the ν MSM [29]. The parametric dependence of the baryon asymmetry on the model parameters is in general non-polynomial. A detailed discussion can be found in Ref. [83] and in [28].

The $1/\epsilon$ enhancement of one eigenvalue of $\lambda^{\dagger}\lambda$ also implies that successful leptogenesis is possible for much larger mixing angles $U_{\alpha i}$ than in the oscillatory regime. This can be seen by comparing Figure 1 and Figure 4. Note that, in contrast to Fig. 1, the upper limits on the mixings in Fig. 4 are the maximum values found compatible with leptogenesis. Instead, Fig. 1 shows the most probable regions (at 90%CL) in a Bayesian analysis that assumes a flat measure in the chosen parameter space. Even though this measure does not disfavor the symmetry protected scenario, it does not favor it either. In contrast to the contours in Fig. 1, the lines in Fig. 4 do not correspond to Bayesian likelihoods, but simply show the boundaries of the viable parameter region if one remains entirely agnostic about the values of the heavy neutrino parameters (in particular ϵ and μ) and the unknown phases δ and α in the light neutrino mixing matrix U_{ν} . Here δ is the Dirac phase and α the Majorana phase, see [28]. These results were obtained from the flavored source alone; total lepton number violating processes should be included in further studies [46, 84, 85].

2.2.2. Testability

From a viewpoint of testability^g the symmetry protected scenario is very attractive because the $1/\epsilon$ enhancement of the Yukawa coupling allows for larger mixing angles and hence larger branching ratios in experiments. The quantities that determine the branching ratios in experiments are the mixing angles $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$. The overall interaction strength of the heavy neutrinos can be characterized by the quantity $U^2 = \text{tr}(U^{\dagger}U)$, which can be expressed in terms of the model parameters by Eq. (25) without any approximations, which clearly shows the enhancement for small ϵ .

To relate the dynamics during leptogenesis to the behavior in the laboratory, we have to relate the heavy neutrino interaction eigenstates (i.e., the flavor eigenvectors of the matrix $\Gamma_N = \lambda^{\dagger} \lambda \gamma_{av} T$) to the physical mass states. In the very early Universe, the effective heavy neutrino masses are dominated by the thermal masses $\propto \lambda^{\dagger} \lambda T$. Hence, Γ_N and the effective mass matrix are both proportional to the matrix $\lambda^{\dagger} \lambda$ and can be diagonalized simultaneously, so that the N_i mass and interaction eigenstates are identical. As the temperature drops, the contribution from M_N to their effective mass becomes increasingly important, and the gradual decrease of the

^gBy "testability" we here mean the potential to actually discover the heavy neutrinos in near future experiments, which requires that their masses are below the TeV-scale. The potential to indirectly rule out leptogenesis with larger M_i has been studied in Refs. [98, 99], cf. Sec. 7.



Fig. 4. The viable leptogenesis parameter space for n = 2 (between the blue lines) [86] compared to the constraints from past experiments (gray area) [86] and the expected reach of NA62 [87], SHiP [43, 88], a similar detector at LBNE/DUNE [89] or T2K [90] displaced vertices at FCC-ee [44] (solid) [91] (dashed), B decays at FCC-ee [92], BELLE II [92, 93], LHCb [94], ATLAS or CMS [95] (cf. also [96, 97]) ILC [91] and CEPC [91]. Here $U^2 = \sum_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}^2$. The left column corresponds to normal light neutrino mass ordering, the right column to inverted ordering. Figure taken from [86].

thermal masses leads to a rotation of the effective mass matrix. Moreover, below the electroweak scale, the heavy neutrinos receive a mass contribution of $\mathcal{O}[U^2 M_N]$ from the Higgs mechanism, which roughly is of the same order as the light neutrino mass matrix. The Higgs contribution is tiny compared to the overall scale of the

eigenvalues of M_N and therefore has no effect on particle kinematics. However, it may not be negligible compared to the mass splitting between them in the symmetry protected limit of small μ , and it can therefore affect flavor oscillations of the heavy neutrinos in the laboratory and low energy CP violation [86].^h The complete physical mass matrix in the laboratory is given by

$$(M_N^{\text{phys}})_{jk} = (M_N)_{jk} + \frac{1}{2} \left(U_{j\alpha}^{\dagger} U_{\alpha i} (M_N)_{ik} + (M_N)_{ij} U_{\alpha i} U_{k\alpha}^{\dagger} \right).$$
(27)

In the symmetry protected scenario, Γ_N and the thermal mass on the one hand and the heavy neutrinos' vacuum Majorana mass matrix M_N on the other are maximally misaligned, which can easily be verified by taking the limit $\epsilon, \mu \to 0$ in the Casas-Ibarra parameterization (9), which corresponds to $M_1 = M_2$ and $\gamma \to \infty$. Since $M_N^{\rm phys}$ is dominated by M_N , the mass basis is strongly misaligned with the interaction basis. The two interaction eigenstates couple with very different strengths $\sim \epsilon$ and $\sim 1/\epsilon$. The two mass eigenstates, on the other hand, couple with the same strengths, i.e., $\lambda_{\alpha 1} = \lambda_{\alpha 2}$ and $U_{\alpha 1} = U_{\alpha 2}$. Moreover, for $\mu \ll 1$ it is difficult to resolve their mass splitting experimentally, and experiments are only sensitive to

$$U_{\alpha}^2 = \sum_i |U_{\alpha i}|^2 \tag{28}$$

in the laboratory. In the $\epsilon, \mu \to 0$ limit, N_1 and N_2 effectively can be treated as one Dirac spinor $\Psi_N = (N_1 + iN_2)/\sqrt{2}$ with couplings U_{α}^2 . Hence, the symmetry protected scenario predicts pseudo-Dirac heavy neutrinos in the laboratory. Finite values of ϵ and μ lead to deviations from the Dirac-like behaviour that can be treated as perturbations if they are sufficiently small. Some proposals have been made to look for these deviations even in the regime where the mass splitting cannot be resolved kinematically [101–103].

While the ratio $U_{\alpha 1}^2/U_{\alpha 2}^2 = 1$ is fixed in the B - L conserving limit $\epsilon, \mu \to 0$, the ratios $|U_{\alpha i}|^2/|U_{\beta i}|^2$ of the heavy neutrino couplings to different flavors remain free. They are determined by the CP-violating phases in the light neutrino mass matrix U_{ν} , cf. Eqns. (17) and (18).ⁱ This point has previously been observed in Refs. [29, 42, 104, 105], and its importance for the full testability of the low-scale seesaw was pointed out in Refs. [32, 86]. If ΔM is large enough to be resolved experimentally, then the mixings $U_{\alpha 1}^2$ and $U_{\alpha 2}^2$ can be measured independently. A measurement of all $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ would fix the z and the phases in U_{ν} up to one discrete transformation, with M_1 and M_2 being extracted from the kinematics. The remaining discrete parameter degeneracy can be broken by an independent measurement of the Dirac phase δ in U_{ν} in neutrino oscillation experiments. Hence, the Lagrangian can at least in principle

^hThis contribution also plays a crucial role in the ν MSM [29]: The interplay between the different contributions to the effective mass splitting allows for resonant production of lepton asymmetries below the electroweak scale [31], which is crucial to produce sufficiently cold sterile neutrino Dark Matter at temperatures $T \sim 100 \text{ MeV} [100]$. ⁱThe relations between the individual $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ and the model parameters for arbitrary values of μ

are e.g. given in the appendix of Ref. [86] (at leading order in ϵ).

be fully reconstructed from experimental data, which allows to calculate the baryon asymmetry and compare it to the observed value. The parameter space can even be over-constrained if measurements of indirect observables that are sensitive to the heavy neutrino properties are added, such as $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, lepton universality violation or searches for CP-violation in the heavy neutrino decay (cf. Sec. 2.3). This at least in principle makes the low-scale seesaw a fully testable model of neutrino masses and baryogenesis [86].

However, in practice it may be difficult to determine all parameters with sufficient accuracy to reliably predict the baryon asymmetry. In particular, it will be very difficult to resolve the heavy neutrino mass splitting ΔM , which strongly affects the baryon asymmetry, at SHiP or future lepton collider if it is smaller than about 10 MeV.^j For the tiny mass splittings in the overdamped regime this is certainly not possible. This also means that the mixings $U_{\alpha 1}^2$ and $U_{\alpha 2}^2$ cannot be measured independently, and experiments are only sensitive to $U_{\alpha}^2 = \sum_i |U_{\alpha i}|^2$. Compared to the complete set of $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$, the set $(U_e^2, U_{\mu}^2, U_{\tau}^2)$ is invariant under one more transformation of the model parameters that has no simple analytic form. If in addition $\epsilon \ll 1$, then the ratios U_{α}^2/U^2 are in good approximation independent of z and \overline{M} . As a result, one cannot put constraints on the two parameters ΔM and θ , both of which are crucial for leptogenesis, if μ is very small. In spite of this, consistency checks for both, the hypothesis that the N_i generate the light neutrino masses via the seesaw mechanism and the BAU via leptogenesis, are still possible [32, 86]. In the approximation $\mu = 0$, a measurement of all U_{α}^2 allows to uniquely fix ϵ , cf. Eq. (25). The relative sizes of the U_{α}^2 are then entirely determined by the phases α and δ alone. Since not every set $(U_e^2, U_\mu^2, U_\tau^2)$ can be realized by varying (α, δ, γ) , see Fig. 5, the consistency of the U_{α}^2 measurements with each other and with a possible determination of δ in neutrino oscillation experiments allow to rule out or support the minimal model with n = 2. Moreover, for large U^2 , leptogenesis requires $U_{\alpha}^2/U^2 \ll 1$ for at least one flavor in order to prevent a complete washout of the asymmetries before sphaleron freeze-out. This means that the requirement for successful leptogenesis allows to make additional predictions for the allowed range of U_{α}^2/U^2 , cf. Fig. 5, which can be used as a test for leptogenesis.

Finally, it has been pointed out in Refs. [32, 111] that one may turn the tables and use the U_{α}^2 measured in heavy neutrino decays at SHiP or a future collider to constrain the phases in U_{ν} , in particular the Majorana phase α , which is hard (if not impossible) to detect in light neutrino experiments.

^j Information about ΔM may still be obtained indirectly by an observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay [32, 61, 62, 86] comparing the rates of lepton number violating and conserving decays as well as the momentum distribution of the decay products [101, 103, 106–109] or by looking for the heavy neutrino oscillations in the detector [108, 110].



Fig. 5. Values of U_{α}^2/U^2 inside the black line are consistent with neutrino oscillation data for normal hierarchy (left) and inverted hierarchy (right) of light neutrino masses. The dashed lines correspond to constant U_{τ}^2 . The light region marked in red is unphysical because it would imply $U_{\tau}^2 < 0$. The colored regions indicate the maximally allowed value of U^2 for given U_{α}^2/U^2 if one requires that the the observed η_B can be generated by leptogenesis with $\bar{M} = 1$ GeV. Figure taken from [86].

2.2.3. Parameter space in the minimal model

Based on these considerations, we can dissect the parameter space in the following way.

- In the "naive seesaw" regime $\epsilon \sim 1$, $\mu \sim 1$, leptogenesis is not possible in the minimal model with n = 2 because it requires a mass degeneracy.^k Moreover, the tiny coupling strengths $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ of the heavy neutrinos in the regime $\epsilon \sim 1$ leads to tiny branching ratios in experiments.
- In the regime $\epsilon \sim 1$, $\mu \gtrsim 10^{-3}$ the minimal low-scale seesaw is in principle a fully testable model of neutrino masses and baryogenesis. However, the overall coupling strength U^2 of the heavy neutrinos in this regime is too tiny to detect them in any near future experiment.
- In the mildly symmetry protected regime $\epsilon \ll 1$, $\mu \gtrsim 10^{-3}$, the chances for an experimental discovery of the heavy neutrinos are greatly improved because their overall coupling strength is enhances as $1/\epsilon$. However, this also implies an enhanced washout, so that leptogenesis with the largest U^2 relies on a hierarchy $U_{\alpha}^2/U^2 \ll 1$ for at least one flavor. It is in principle still possible to extract all model parameters from experiments, but the accuracy of near future experiments is probably not sufficient to uniquely determine the baryon asymmetry of the universe from such measurements. However, if any heavy neutral leptons are discovered at colliders, the relationships

^kModels with n > 2 allow for successful leptogenesis without mass degeneracy, but the phenomenology of these models (which contain more free parameters) has not been studied in detail. First estimates indicate that leptogenesis can be achieved with larger $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ than for n = 2 [82, 112].

between the $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ and other observables still provide a powerful tool to test the hypothesis that these particles are the origin of neutrino mass and the origin of matter. In particular, these relations allow to indirectly measure the Majorana phase α in U_{ν} .

• Deep in the symmetry protected regime $\epsilon, \mu \ll 1$, the chances for an experimental discovery of the heavy neutrinos are the best because the $1/\epsilon$ enhancement of the couplings $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$, and because the smaller μ allow for leptogenesis with larger $|U_{\alpha i}|^{2.1}$ However, it is very difficult (practically impossible) to gain any information about the parameters ΔM and θ , which are crucial for leptogenesis, and experiments can only determine U_{α}^2 (rather than the individual $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$). In spite of this, the comparison of independent measurements of all three U_{α}^2 with indirect probes still provides a powerful test for the hypothesis that the heavy neutrinos generate the light neutrino masses. It also provides a way to determine the Majorana phase α in the light neutrino mixing matrix U_{ν} . For comparably large U^2 , the requirement to reproduce the correct baryon asymmetry imposes additional constraints on the ratios U_{α}^2/U^2 , which can be used as a test for leptogenesis. An independent measurement of the Dirac phase in the light neutrino mixing matrix would strongly modify the allowed leptogenesis parameter region in this regime because it would put strong constraints on the ratios U_{α}^2/U^2 .

2.3. Constraints on sterile neutrinos

If the heavy neutrinos N_i generate the light neutrino masses via the seesaw mechanism, then Eq. (6) implies that they necessarily must mix with the SM neutrino flavor eigenstates $\nu_{L\alpha}$,

$$\nu_{L\alpha} = (U_{\nu})_{\alpha i} \nu_i + U_{\alpha k} N_k^c, \tag{29}$$

and therefore feel the weak interaction with a strength that is suppressed by the mixing angle

$$U_{\alpha i} = v(\lambda M_N^{-1})_{ai}.$$
(30)

Here ν_i are the light neutrino mass eigenstates and U_{ν} is the unitary matrix that diagonalizes the matrix M_{ν} in (6). It is related to the full light neutrino mixing matrix V_{ν} as

$$(V_{\nu})_{\alpha k} = \left(\delta_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}U_{\alpha i}U_{i\beta}^{\dagger}\right)(U_{\nu})_{\beta k}.$$
(31)

On this basis, their properties can be constrained by the negative result of various searches for deviations from the SM [113, 114]. Which experiments and observations are sensitive to the N_i properties strongly depends on the magnitude(s) of

¹In the overdamped regime this is not primarily a consequence of the usual "resonant enhancement", which is indeed regulated by the width $\Gamma_N \gg \Delta M$ in this regime. Instead, it is due to the fact that $T_{\rm osc} \simeq T_{\rm eq}$ for small μ , which means that the washout has not enough time to erase the asymmetries before sphaleron freeze-out even if the Yukawa couplings λ are comparably large.

their masses M_i . Though neutrino oscillation data currently provides the strongest indirect probe of heavy neutrino properties, their masses cannot be constrained from the relation (6) alone for two reasons:

- (1) If one assumes that M_N and λ have no special structure, then the relation (6) predicts $M_N \sim \frac{v^2}{M_\nu} \frac{\lambda^2}{2}$, cf. also the discussion following Eq. (22). That is, any value of M_i can be made consistent with the constraints on the light neutrino mass matrix M_ν by adjusting λ .
- (2) There is even more freedom if we make use of the full matrix structure of equation (6). What is experimentally constrained to be small are the eigenvalues m_i^2 of $M_{\nu}M_{\nu}^{\dagger}$, not the individual entries of the matrix M_{ν} . For example, in the symmetry protected scenario described in Sec. 2.2, rather large individual entries can be made consistent with small m_i in a natural way if the parameters μ and ϵ defined in Eq. (23) are chosen small.

Hence, the range of masses allowed by neutrino oscillation data in principle is very large and reaches from the eV-scale [115] up to values above the suspected scale of grand unification.^m We in the following restrict the discussion to the parameter region in which the heavy neutrinos that generate the baryon asymmetry can be found in existing or proposed experiments. This effectively restricts us to masses M_i below the electroweak scale.ⁿ A more general discussion of right handed neutrinos with various different masses and their role in particle physics and cosmology can e.g. be found in the review [117].

All following considerations are based on the fact that the heavy neutrinos couple to the weak currents via a term

$$-\frac{g}{\sqrt{2}}\overline{N^{c}}_{i}U^{\dagger}_{i\alpha}\gamma^{\mu}e_{L\alpha}W^{+}_{\mu} - \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}}\overline{e_{L\alpha}}\gamma^{\mu}U_{\alpha i}N^{c}_{i}W^{-}_{\mu}$$
$$-\frac{g}{2\cos\theta_{W}}\overline{N^{c}}_{i}U^{\dagger}_{i\alpha}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{L\alpha}Z_{\mu} - \frac{g}{2\cos\theta_{W}}\overline{\nu_{L\alpha}}\gamma^{\mu}U_{\alpha i}N^{c}_{i}Z_{\mu}.$$
(32)

In addition, they may have other (new physics) interactions that we do not discuss here because they are model dependent. A popular choice are e.g. SU(2) gauge interactions in left-right symmetric theories, which are e.g. discussed in Ref. [118] and references therein. It is instructive to classify the experimental signatures in two qualitatively different categories. In *direct searches* the N_i appear as real particles and can therefore be discovered. In contrast to that, we refer to experiments that are indirectly affected by the heavy neutrinos as *indirect searches*; this usually primarily happens via the modification of the light neutrino interactions due to the non-unitarity in (31).

^mA theoretical upper bound can be imposed if one requires that their Yukawa interactions can be described by perturbative quantum field theory; then their masses M_i should be at least 1-2 orders of magnitude below the Planck mass [116].

ⁿHeavier N_i can of course in principle be produced at the LHC or future colliders, but the production rates are much smaller than those in weak gauge boson decays, and it is currently not clear whether searches can enter the range of $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ for which leptogenesis is possible.

2.3.1. Direct Searches

Depending on their mass, heavy neutrinos are predominantly produced in meson decays ($M_i < 5$ GeV), real weak gauge boson decays (5 GeV $< M_i < 80$ GeV or exchange of virtual weak gauge bosons (80 GeV $< M_i$).^o Being neutral, the N_i themselves do not leave any trace in the detector and can only be observed by studying the kinematics of the charged particles that are produced along with them and when they decay into charged particles. The best search strategy strongly depends on their mass because their lifetime scales as $\propto |U_{\alpha i}|^2 M_i^5$ [42].

Heavy neutrinos that are light enough to be produced in meson decays can be so long lived that the number of N_i -decays within conventional detectors at colliders is very small. They can, however, be observed in fixed target experiments if one places a detector behind the target. Past beam dump experiments include PS191 [126], NuTeV [127], CHARM [128], CHARM and CHARM II [129], NA3 [130], E949 [131], IHEP-JINR [132], BEBC [133], FMMF [134] and NOMAD [135]. The NA62 experiment has performed peak searches [136] and will perform a dedicated search for heavy neutrinos in dump mode ("SHADOWS run"). In the next decade, the proposed SHiP [43, 137, 138] experiment could improve the existing constraints by several orders of magnitude [88]. For very small masses even fixed target experiments are limited by the length of their detector. However, the heavy neutrinos may still reveal their existence because their on-shell production causes a peak in the spectrum or charged leptons emitted in meson decays. *Peak searches* have been performed using kaons and pions as initial mesons [139–146]. For larger masses of a few GeV, the experiments BELLE [147] LHCb [148]^p have looked for lepton number violation in meson decays, which can be mediated by heavy neutrinos. LHCb has also looked for displaced vertices [150]. The interesting possibility to look for CP violation in meson decays mediated by heavy neutrinos is discussed in Sec. 2.4.

Heavy neutrinos with larger masses have been searched for by the experiments DELPHI [151], L3 [152, 153], ATLAS [154] and CMS [155–157]. The LHC searches have so far been focused on *lepton number violating signals*, such as same sign di-leptons in the final state. These are probably the most promising signals if the heavy neutrinos decay promptly and have been studied by a large number of authors (see e.g. Refs. [118, 158] for a partial list of references). However, if the N_i are lighter than the W boson, they may be long lived enough to be observed by the displacement between their production and decay. How light exactly they have to be depends on the experiment. *Displaced vertex searches* are more powerful at masses below roughly 20-30 GeV at ATLAS and CMS [95–97] or LHCb [94]. Based on the current estimates, none of these experiments can reach deeply in the leptogenesis region for n = 2 (though at least LHCb may touch it in the high luminosity run of the LHC). An upgrade of the MATHUSLA-type [159] could enable the LHC to

^pNote that the LHCb results presented in Ref. [148] have recently been corrected in Ref. [149].

^oThe production involving t-channel exchange of photons [119, 120], Higgs decays [121–124] or vector boson fusion [125] are not relevant for the searches discussed in the following.

probe at least part of the leptogenesis region. For n > 3 the leptogenesis region is larger and may be accessed by current LHC experiments or BELLE II [112].^q The perspectives to search for heavy neutrinos are certainly much better at a future high energy collider. They have been studied by a number of authors, see e.g. [118] for a partial list of references. A recent summary of signatures at different types of colliders can be found in Ref. [160]. In Ref. [46] the potential of future colliders to probe low-scale leptogenesis has been studied specifically.

The results from different past searches are shown in Fig. 6. In Fig. 4 we compare the sensitivity of different planned or proposed direct searches to the viable leptogenesis parameter region for n = 2.

2.3.2. Indirect Searches

The properties of heavy neutrinos are not only constrained by the negative result of direct searches for them, but also by searches for deviations from the SM predictions in precision observables and rare processes. These are primarily sensitive to the properties of the N_i because they modify the weak interactions of the SM leptons in Eq. (32). Various processes have been studied by a large number of different authors. A (possibly incomplete) list can e.g. be found in Refs. [158, 162, 165–167], along with a (certainly incomplete) list of references. The most important ones in the parameter regime considered here are

• Neutrino oscillation data - The strongest indirect constraints on N_i properties come from neutrino oscillation data. The requirement to generate the observed light neutrino masses imposes a mass dependent lower bound on U^2 , which provides a "bottom line" for experimental searches. The physical reason is that the right handed neutrinos cannot give mass to the SM neutrinos if they do not interact with them. For n = 2 this requirement also imposes a lower bound on the individual U^2_{α} [104, 105], which can be seen in Fig. 4. The lower bound is considerably weaker for n > 2 [158, 168]. In addition, neutrino oscillation data also constrains the relative size U^2_{α}/U^2 of the heavy neutrino couplings to individual SM flavours, cf. Fig. 5. The use of the Casas-Ibarra parameterization (9) automatically ensures consistency with neutrino oscillation data constraints at tree level. For mixing angles much larger than the "naive seesaw estimate" (22), loop corrections may be not negligible. They can be included by using the radiatively corrected

^qThe results presented in Ref. [112] should be treated with some care because the authors did not take the fast equilibration of some heavy neutrino interaction eigenstates in the large $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ regime into account consistently. However, the main observation made in this paper is that the constraints from neutrino oscillation data allow for larger hierarchies amongst the N_i couplings to individual SM flavors (i.e., smaller U_{α}^2/U^2) for n > 2, as compared to the minimal model with n = 2. This allows to protect part of the asymmetries from washout even if some heavy neutrino interaction eigenstates have reached equilibrium. Hence, the conclusion that leptogenesis can be possible with (much) larger $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ for n > 2 remains true irrespectively of the details of the N_i equilibration.



Upper panel: Constraints on U_{ei}^2 (versus M_i) from the experiments ATLAS [154], CMS Fig. 6. [161], L3 [152], DELPHI [151], PIENU [139], BELLE [147] (as given in the erratum), TRIUMF [141], PS191 [126], CHARM [128], NA3 [130], and kaon decays [145]. For peak searches below the kaon mass we show the summarized bound given in Ref. [162], for the PS191 experiment we show the re-interpretation given in [104]. Middle panel: Constraints on $U^2_{\mu i}$ from DELPHI [151], L3 [152], ATLAS [154], CMS [155], BELLE [147] (as given in the erratum), BEBC [133], FMMF [134], E949 [131], PIENU [139], TRIUMF [141], PS191 [126], CHARMII [129], NuTeV [127], NA3 [130] and kaon decays in [145, 146]. For LHCb we show the re-interpretation of the search for lepton number violating decays [148] given in Ref. [149] (solid line) and the interpretation of the displaced vertex search [150] as given in Ref. [94] (dashed line). For the bounds from kaon decays we use the interpretation given in [162, 163]. For NA3, BEBC and FMMF we use the estimates from [162]. For the PS191 experiment we compare the re-interpretation in Ref. [104] (solid line) to that shown in Ref. [131] for two different channels (dashed and dotted line). Lower Panel: The bounds on $U_{\tau i}^2$ are based on the interpretation of CHARM data given in [164], NOMAD [135], L3 [152] and DELPHI [151]. Note that many of the experiments also constrain ratios of the $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ or sums thereof in addition to what is shown here. Figure taken from [158].

Casas-Ibarra parameterization introduced in Ref. [41]. However, very large mixings can only be realized without fine-tuning in the symmetry protected scenarios described in Sec. 2.2, in which radiative corrections are also suppressed by the small the parameters μ and ϵ defined in Eq. (23).

• $0\nu\beta\beta \ decay$ - If one assumes that there is no special structure in the matrices λ and M_N , then the non-observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay by far imposes the strongest bounds on U_e^2 for N_i that are heavier than the kaon [37, 162]. However, like all lepton number violating observables, these constraints can easily be avoided in the symmetry protected scenario described in Sec. 2.2. For n = 2 and $\mu, \epsilon \ll 1$, the effective Majorana mass $m_{\beta\beta}$ that affects the rate of the $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay can be expressed as

$$|m_{\beta\beta}|_{\rm NH} \simeq \left| [1 - f_A(\bar{M})] m_{\beta\beta}^{\nu} + f_A^2(\bar{M}) \frac{\bar{M}^2}{\Lambda^2} \frac{\mu}{\epsilon} |\Delta m_{\rm atm}| e^{-2i(\theta+\delta)} \right|, \quad (33)$$
$$|m_{\beta\beta}|_{\rm IH} \simeq \left| [1 - f_A(\bar{M})] m_{\beta\beta}^{\nu} + f_A^2(\bar{M}) \frac{\bar{M}^2}{\Lambda^2} \frac{\mu}{\epsilon} |\Delta m_{\rm atm}| \cos^2 \theta_{13} + f_A^2(\bar{M}) \frac{\bar{M}^2}{\Lambda^2} \frac{\mu}{\epsilon} |\Delta m_{\rm atm}| \cos^2 \theta_{13} + e^{-2i\theta} (\xi e^{i\alpha_2/2} \sin \theta_{12} + i e^{i\alpha_1/2} \cos \theta_{12})^2 \right|, \quad (34)$$

with $\xi = \pm 1$. Here $m_{\beta\beta}^{\nu} = \sum_{i} (U_{\nu})_{ei}^{2} m_{i}$ is the standard contribution from light neutrino exchange. The function $f_A(M) \simeq \frac{\Lambda^2}{\Lambda^2 + M^2}$ quantifies the virtuality of the exchanged N_i , where $\Lambda^2 \sim (100 \text{ MeV})^2$ is the momentum exchange in the decay, whose exact value depends on the isotope. It is well-known that the contribution from N_i exchange can be sizeable [37, 39, 40, 64, 105, 169], but it was long believed that the requirement $\mu \ll 1$ in the context of leptogenesis suppresses the last term in Eq. (33), so that $|m_{\beta\beta}| \simeq |[1 - f_A(M)]m_{\beta\beta}^{\nu}|$ is insensitive to the heavy neutrino parameters (except \overline{M}) [105, 167, 169]. Recently it has been pointed out that this argument only applies to the model with n = 2, where $\mu \ll 1$ is a necessary requirement for leptogenesis. For n = 3, no mass degeneracy is required [80], and a large $m_{\beta\beta}$ can easily be realized within the leptogenesis parameter region [61]. Moreover, even in the model with n = 2, there exists a corner in the parameter space in which the observed baryon asymmetry can be reproduced while the term $\propto \mu/\epsilon$ in $m_{\beta\beta}$ dominates [32, 61, 62]. A part of this region that is not constrained by any other experiment has been ruled out by the constraints from GERDA [170] and KAMLAND-Zen [171] experiments, making them the strongest constraint on N_i properties in this regime [61]. Possibly even more importantly, this allows to constrain the parameter θ even if μ is so small that direct searches cannot kinematically distinguish the two heavy neutrinos, at least in the region where $\Lambda/\bar{M} > 0.1$ [32, 86].

All other indirect constraints are currently not sensitive to the small mixing angles required for leptogenesis. For completeness, we shall nevertheless mention the most important observables that can constrain the low-scale seesaw model with M_i below the TeV-scale, even though most of these are very far from being able to constrain the parameter region where low-scale leptogenesis is possible.

- Lepton universality The existence of heavy neutrinos violates the universality of the strength at which different SM neutrinos couple to the weak interaction. This e.g. leads to deviations of the relative size of the branching ratios at which mesons decay into muon and electron final states. If one tries to explain the observed data within the minimal seesaw model, the best fit value actually suggests $U_e^2 \neq 0$ [166]. However, the significance of this preference is rather low, and it would be difficult to make this result consistent with other observables.
- *CKM unitarity* The CKM matrix is unitary in the minimal seesaw model. However, its elements are experimentally determined from processes involving leptons, whose branching ratios are modified by the effect of the heavy neutrinos, cf. Eq. (32). If N_i exists and one interprets the data in the framework of the SM, then one will incorrectly conclude that there is a violation of unitarity in the mixing of quarks. In reality this could be of course the effect of the non-unitarity in the light neutrino mixing matrix U_{ν} . The constraints from CKM data are currently sub-dominant, but almost saturated by the largest mixings $|U_{\alpha i}|^2$ allowed by direct searches across the entire mass range considered [158].
- Electroweak precision data The modification of the weak currents (32) also affects the relations between the weak gauge boson masses, the Weinberg angle, the observed Fermi constant and the fine structure constant at the Z pole. These relations are measured with high precision. In Ref. [55]it was reported that data provides tentative evidence for the existence of TeV-scale heavy neutrinos. In most of the mass range below the W boson we consider here, the constraints from electroweak precision data are subdominant compared to direct searches. Also observations of the invisible Z decay width are not sensitive to heavy neutrinos that are much lighter than the Z boson because, as a result of the unitarity of the total (light and heavy) neutrino mixing matrix or "GIM suppression", the additional decay channels into N_i are exactly compensated by a reduction of the decay amplitude into light neutrinos (as long as M_i can be kinematically neglected). However, for masses near or above the W mass, where the constraints from DELPHI and L3 begin to fade (cf. Fig. 4), electroweak precision data currently imposes the strongest upper bound on U_{α}^2 .
- Flavor violating lepton decays The lepton flavor violating interactions with the N_i mediate lepton flavor violating decays, such as $\mu \to e\gamma$, $\mu \to eee$, $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ and $\tau \to e\gamma$. These processes are subject of the GIM suppression as long

as M_i is much smaller than the weak gauge boson masses. For larger masses, where the GIM suppression does not apply and the direct search bounds are weaker, the upper bound on the U_{α}^2 from non-observation of these lepton flavor violating decays are comparable to those from electroweak precision observables. At the moment $\mu \to e\gamma$ is the process that has been measured most precisely. In the near future experiments measuring $\mu \to e$ conversion in nuclei will become a serious competitor [48], though it seems unlikely that they can reach the baryogenesis region in the minimal n = 2 model [172].

• Lepton dipole moments - In Refs. [52, 173] it has been pointed out that heavy neutrinos with masses above the W mass can make a sizable contribution to the electric dipole moments of charged leptons.

2.3.3. Cosmological constraints

Leptogenesis from neutrino oscillations in principle can generate the observed baryon asymmetry for M_i as small as 10 MeV [30, 31, 174]. However, such small masses are strongly disfavored in the context of the seesaw mechanism because they lead to N_i lifetimes that are long enough that their decay in the early Universe disturbs Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) [175, 176] unless their mixing angles are very large. More precisely, the requirement to decay before nucleosynthesis imposes a lower bound on $U_i^2 = \sum_a |U_{\alpha i}|^2$ for given M_i , which becomes stronger than the lower bound from neutrino oscillation data for M_i below a few hundred MeV. The exact point where the bound from nucleosynthesis becomes stronger depends on the flavor structure and neutrino mass hierarchy. Combining these consideration with the negative result of various past experimental searches [86, 104, 158, 162], one finds that the lower bound on M_i is roughly 100 MeV [105, 177, 178] in the minimal model with n = 2. To reach this conclusion, one has to bear in mind that right handed neutrinos that decay after BBN leave an imprint in the effective number of relativistic degrees of freedom $N_{\rm eff}$, either because they are relativistic during BBN or because their decay disturbs the phase space distribution of SM particles at later times, which would have a similar effect on the properties of temperature fluctuations in the Cosmic Microwave Background as extra relativistic particles. A more careful analysis reveals that this conclusion can be avoided for some of the heavy neutrinos for n > 2 [178]. However, the states with masses below 100 MeV are required to have very feeble mixing angles $U_{\alpha i}$ in order to avoid thermalization in the early Universe. While this opens up the interesting possibility that these particle compose the Dark Matter [179, 180], which is e.g. realized in the Neutrino Minimal Standard Model (ν MSM) [60, 181] (see Ref. [182] for a review), it means that the contribution of these states to the seesaw mechanism and to leptogenesis is negligible. We will therefore not further discuss this case and only consider masses $M_i > 100$ MeV. For a recent review of the sterile neutrino DM scenario, we refer the interested reader to Ref. [183]. Leptogenesis does not provide an upper bound on the magnitude of the M_i , but heavy neutrinos with masses heavier than a few

hundred GeV cannot be produced in sizable numbers at any existing experiment.

2.3.4. Global Constraints

Within a given model, it is possible to obtain "global constraints" on the properties of the heavy neutrinos by combining the various observables mentioned above. Various authors have done this under different assumptions about the data sets that should be included, the number n of heavy neutrinos, the mass m_{lightest} of the lightest neutrinos and the validity of cosmological constraints (which obviously depend on at least moderate assumptions about the thermal history of the universe) [31, 38, 41, 52, 57, 58, 61, 86, 104, 105, 117, 118, 158, 162, 165–167, 174, 178, 184–195]. Most of these efforts have been focused on the minimal model with n = 2, where the number of free parameter is rather low and the combination of different bounds imposes considerably stronger constraints than simply superimposing them in the $M_N - U_{\alpha}^2$ plane. The gray area in Fig. 4 corresponds to the global constraints for n = 2 as reported in Ref. [86]. It is shown along with the minimal and maximal U_{α}^2 compatible with successful leptogenesis. In Ref. [158] a similar analysis has been performed for n = 3. The leptogenesis parameter space has not been explored systematically for n = 3 to date.

2.4. Probing CP violation in meson decays



Fig. 7. Diagrams contributing to the LNV semileptonic meson decay $M^+(p_M) \rightarrow \ell_1^+(p_1)\ell_2^+(p_2)M'^-(p_{M'})$ mediated by a Majorana neutrino: direct (**a**) and crossed (**b**) channels.

We investigate the possibility of measuring CP violation in the rare lepton number violating (LNV) semileptonic decays of charged pseudoscalar mesons within the low-scale type I seesaw extension of the SM. In particular, we consider $M^{\pm} \rightarrow \ell_1^{\pm} \ell_2^{\pm} M^{'\mp}$, where $M = K, D, D_s, B, B_c$ and $M^{'} = \pi, K, D, D_s$. The charged leptons are $\ell_{1,2} = e, \mu$. The amplitude of this process receives two contributions, depicted by the direct (**a**) and crossed (**b**) channels in Fig. 7.

The signal of CP violation in such decays is enhanced when the heavy Majorana neutrinos are on-shell and almost degenerate in mass.^r For concreteness, we consider below scenarios with only two sterile neutrinos N_1 and N_2 . Then, the CP asymmetry

^rSimilar effects can be observed in decays as presented in [196–200].



Fig. 8. The suppression factors $\eta(y)/y$ and $\delta(y)$, due to the overlap of the propagators of N_1 and N_2 , as a function of $y \equiv 2|M_2 - M_1|/(\Gamma(N_1) + \Gamma(N_2))$. Figure taken from [201].

in meson semileptonic decays is defined as follows [197, 201]

$$\epsilon_{M} \equiv \frac{\Gamma(M^{-} \to \ell_{1}^{-} \ell_{2}^{-} M^{'+}) - \Gamma(M^{+} \to \ell_{1}^{+} \ell_{2}^{+} M^{'-})}{\Gamma(M^{-} \to \ell_{1}^{-} \ell_{2}^{-} M^{'+}) + \Gamma(M^{+} \to \ell_{1}^{+} \ell_{2}^{+} M^{'-})} \\ = \frac{\sin \tilde{\theta}_{21}}{\left\{\frac{1}{4} \left[\kappa_{\ell_{1}} \kappa_{\ell_{2}} \left(1 + \frac{\Gamma(N_{1})}{\Gamma(N_{2})}\right) + \frac{1}{\kappa_{\ell_{1}} \kappa_{\ell_{2}}} \left(1 + \frac{\Gamma(N_{2})}{\Gamma(N_{1})}\right)\right] + \delta[y] \cos \tilde{\theta}_{21}\right\}} \frac{\eta[y]}{y} ,$$
(35)

where $\Gamma(N_j)$ is the total decay width of the heavy Majorana neutrino N_j (j = 1, 2). The relevant CP-violating phase θ_{21} in Eq. (35) is defined in terms of the phases of the active-sterile neutrino mixing, $U_{\ell j} \equiv |U_{\ell j}| e^{i\phi_{\ell j}}$, i.e. $\tilde{\theta}_{21} \equiv \phi_{\ell_1 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2} - \phi_{\ell_1 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2} - \phi_{\ell_2 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2} - \phi_{\ell_2 2} + \phi_{\ell_2 2$ $\phi_{\ell_1 1} - \phi_{\ell_2 1}$. We also introduce the effective couplings $\kappa_{\ell_i} \equiv |U_{\ell_i 2}|/|U_{\ell_i 1}|$ and the overlap functions $\delta[y]$ and $\eta[y]/y$, where $y \equiv 2|M_2 - M_1|/(\Gamma(N_1) + \Gamma(N_2))$. The latter are computed numerically and shown in Fig. 8 as a function of y in the range $1 \leq y \leq 10$. It turns out that $\delta[y]$ and $\eta[y]$ are in practice independent of the type of the pseudoscalar meson (M^{\pm}, M'^{\mp}) and of the final lepton flavor $(\ell_{1,2} = e, \mu)$ [201]. We see that when the difference of the masses of the two sterile neutrinos becomes small enough, comparable to the total decay widths of these neutrinos, i.e. $y \approx 1$, a large CP asymmetry in meson decays, $|\epsilon_M| \lesssim 1$, is possible, provided CP-violating difference $\tilde{\theta}_{21}$ of the phases of active-sterile neutrino mixings is not suppressed. In experiments one has to consider the acceptance (suppression) factor in the detection of these decays. It results from the small length of the detector in comparison to the relatively large lifetime of the (on-shell) sterile neutrinos N_j . Most of the on-shell neutrinos, produced via the decay $M^{\pm} \to \ell_1^{\pm} N_j$, could indeed survive a long enough time to decay (into $\ell_2^{\pm} M^{(\mp)}$) outside the detector. This effect suppresses the number of detected decays and has to be taken into account. For details of regarding the

acceptance factor, we refer to [96, 137, 196, 202, 203]. This effect may be absent only if N_j is heavy ($M_j \gtrsim 3$ GeV) and thus can decay fast, i.e., in the rare decays of B^{\pm} and B_c^{\pm} .

3. General mechanisms for low scale leptogenesis from out-ofequilibrium decays

After focusing on probing GeV-scale leptogenesis via oscillations, we want to review the testability of leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays. As already described in Sec. 1, in the latter type of leptogenesis an asymmetry is created by *L*-violating out-of-equilibrium decays of new heavy degrees of freedom X that provide a new source of CP violation via loop effects. As long as these decays generate a net asymmetry above the electroweak scale, when electroweak sphalerons are in thermal equilibrium, baryogenesis via leptogenesis [19] becomes possible. For more detailed reviews about leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays, the reader is referred to Refs. [20, 204–207] and references therein.

Before addressing the possibility of probing specific models, we review in this section the main difficulties which arise in order to achieve thermal baryogenesis from heavy particle decays at low temperatures (around or below the TeV scale) and briefly explain the three known mechanisms to avoid the most crucial one. Let us note that the discussion also applies to baryogenesis from particle annihilations.

Thermal baryogenesis from particle decays or annihilations at low energy scales faces two main problems:

(a) Small neutrino masses. The CP violation relevant for baryogenesis is parameterized by the CP asymmetry ϵ per decay (or annihilation) of heavy particles. In some leptogenesis models ϵ is proportional to the masses of both, the light (mostly active) neutrinos and the heavy ones. Given the tiny value of light neutrino masses (compared to the electroweak scale), the leptogenesis scale set by the mass of the heavy neutrinos has to be very high in order to generate a large enough lepton asymmetry. Let us study this in more detail, considering the vanilla mechanisms of type I, type II, and type III seesaw, where the respective new degrees of freedom are singlet fermions, $SU(2)_L$ triplet scalars and $SU(2)_L$ triplet fermions, respectively. Here, the CP-violating decays $X \to \ell \phi$ (type I and III) or $X \to \ell \ell$ (type II), generate a CP asymmetry defined by

$$\epsilon^{\text{I,III}} = \frac{\Gamma(X \to \ell \phi) - \Gamma(X \to \ell^c \phi^c)}{\Gamma(X \to \ell \phi) + \Gamma(X \to \ell^c \phi^c)},\tag{36}$$

$$\epsilon^{\mathrm{II}} = \frac{\Gamma(X \to \ell\ell) - \Gamma(X \to \ell^c \ell^c)}{\Gamma(X \to \ell\ell) + \Gamma(X \to \ell^c \ell^c)},\tag{37}$$

where ℓ, ϕ indicate the physical states and ℓ^c, ϕ^c their charged conjugate. $\Gamma(a)$ denotes the decay width for process a. Nonzero $\epsilon^{I,II,III}$ can appear first at one loop. From dimensional analysis, the CP parameter originating from the decay of the lightest degree of freedom with mass M_X can be estimated as

$$|\epsilon^{\text{I,II,III}}| \sim \frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{m_3 M_X}{v^2} ,$$
 (38)

where m_3 denotes the largest of the light neutrino masses.

The generated lepton asymmetry can be parameterized as

$$Y_{\Delta L} = \eta \, \epsilon^{\text{I,II,III}} \, Y_X^{\text{eq}},\tag{39}$$

where $Y_a \equiv n_a/s$ denotes the number density of *a* normalized to the entropy density $s, \eta \leq 1$ is the efficiency factor taking into account possible washout, and $Y_X^{\text{eq}} \sim 10^{-3}$ indicates the thermal abundance.

From electroweak sphalerons, the induced baryon asymmetry is approximated by $Y_{\Delta B} \sim -Y_{\Delta L}/3$. The precise relation depends on the degrees of freedom in the thermal bath during the freeze-out of the electroweak sphalerons. Requiring $|Y_{\Delta B}| \gtrsim 10^{-10}$, in accordance with observations, we obtain the lower bound on the mass of the heavy new degrees of freedom

$$M_X \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(1) \times 10^{10} \left(\frac{0.1}{\eta}\right) \left(\frac{0.1 \,\mathrm{eV}}{m_{\nu}}\right) \,\mathrm{GeV}.$$
 (40)

This back-of-the-envelope estimation [208–211] agrees with the exact bound firstly derived by Davidson and Ibarra in the context of type I leptogenesis, cp. (7) [23]. The main difference between type I compared to type II and III leptogenesis is that the heavy degrees of freedom in the former are singlet under $SU(2)_L$, while those for the latter two are triplets and hence they will be maintained close to thermal equilibrium by gauge interactions. Nevertheless, the bound obtained in these models does not differ very much from the estimation in Eq. (40). For a more detailed discussion the reader is referred to Sec. 4.2 and the reviews [212, 213]. The bound on the mass of the new heavy degree of freedom, can be relaxed if lepton flavor effects [208, 214–216] are taken into account. In the context of type I leptogenesis, it was shown in Ref. [217] that the bound can be lowered to 10^6 GeV.

Although present in well motivated scenarios, this problem is not generic and does not arise in neutrino mass models like the inverse seesaw or the radiative ones.

(b) Interplay between CP asymmetry and washout. This problem is intrinsic to all models for thermal baryogenesis from particle decays (or annihilations). In order to generate a CP asymmetry, both a CP odd and a CP even phase are required. The former comes from complex couplings while the latter from the absorptive parts of one-loop contributions to the decay processes, which are always proportional to the amplitude of B or L-violating scatterings [218], as depicted in Fig. 9. Therefore the size of the CP asymmetry is tied to the strength of processes capable of erasing the asymmetry



Fig. 9. At leading order the CP asymmetry in N_1 decays arises from the interference of treelevel and one-loop diagrams (upper part). The vertical cuts through the loops point out that the propagating particles can go on shell -a requisite for having CP even phases-. This entails the existence of *L*-violating processes, which might be very efficient at erasing the lepton asymmetry (lower part). Here the inert doublet model with sterile neutrinos has been used as an example.

when they are faster than the expansion rate of the Universe H. Given that H decreases with the temperature T ($H \propto T^2/M_{\rm Pl}$), it is difficult to have both, small washout and large CP asymmetries (see Fig. 10) when the baryogenesis scale is very low relative to $M_{\rm Pl}$. In this review, this issue will be discussed more specifically in Sec. 4.1.1, taking an extension to type I seesaw as an example. In [219], the tight connection between CP asymmetry and washout was discussed extensively within the Inert Doublet Model (IDM) with singlet neutrinos [220],^s which circumvents problem (a) by having radiatively generated neutrino masses. The lower limit on the heavy neutrino mass was found to be $M_1 \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(10^2)$ TeV when none of the low scale mechanisms for baryogenesis explained next are incorporated. As discussed in [219], this bound is arguably quite model independent, e.g. it is similar within an order of magnitude in the inverse seesaw model [217] and for cloistered baryogenesis discussed in Sec. 4.1.1.

In order to allow for leptogenesis at or below the TeV scale, the aforementioned two problems have to be addressed. In the following we would like to discuss the three known ways to avoid problem (b), which is the one common to all scenarios of thermal baryogenesis from particle decays or annihilations:

• Almost degenerate particles: In case of decaying particles almost degenerate in mass, the CP asymmetry can be enhanced up to O(1) values [222–224]. As an example, let us consider two sterile neutrinos N_k (k = 1, 2), with masses M_k , Yukawa couplings $\lambda_{\alpha k}$, and decay widths Γ_k . When the reso-

^sIn this model, the SM is extended by a Higgs doublet, ϕ_2 , and some sterile neutrinos, N_k , with masses M_k . The new fields are odd under a conserved Z_2 discrete symmetry.



Fig. 10. The final baryon asymmetry in the inert doublet model normalized to the entropy density, $Y_{\Delta B}$, plotted as a function of M_1 , including the washout scattering processes $\phi_2 \ell \leftrightarrow \bar{\phi}_2 \bar{\ell}$ and $\ell \ell \leftrightarrow \bar{\phi}_2 \bar{\phi}_2$ (solid blue curve) or neglecting them (dashed red curve). Here the mass of ϕ_2 , M_{ϕ_2} , is taken to be negligible compared to M_1 . The value of M_2 and the Yukawa couplings are chosen in order to keep ϵ_1 and $\frac{\Gamma_1}{H(T=M_1)}$ constant for all M_1 (with Γ_1 being the N_1 decay width). It is apparent that for $M_1 \lesssim 10^7$ GeV, Y_B falls exponentially as M_1 decreases. However if the washout is omitted, as sometimes done -wrongly- in the literature, the baryon asymmetry only decreases linearly and its value at the TeV scale is many orders of magnitude above the true one. This figure has been taken from Ref. [221].

nant condition $\Delta M \equiv M_2 - M_1 = \Gamma_2/2$ is fulfilled, the CP asymmetry in N_1 decays, ϵ_1 , can be as large as 1/2. But even if this condition does not hold exactly, the CP asymmetry is enhanced by a large ratio of $1/\delta \equiv M_1/\Delta M$, $\epsilon_1 \propto (\lambda^{\dagger}\lambda)_{22}/\delta$, as long as $\Gamma_{1,2} \ll \Delta M \ll M_1$. This way, the key washout processes can be diminished by choosing small values of $(\lambda^{\dagger}\lambda)_{22}$, while compensating the associated decrease in ϵ_1 with a tiny value for δ .^t This approach, known as "resonant leptogenesis" mechanism is thoroughly discussed in the accompanying chapter of this review [225].

• Late decay: The washout processes inherent to the CP asymmetry in N_1 decays have a rate proportional to $(T/M_2)^a$ for $T \leq M_2$, where a = 2 (4) for a Majorana (scalar or Dirac) mediator with mass M_2 . Rising M_2 relative to M_1 is not helpful for lowering the baryogenesis scale, since both, washout and CP asymmetry, decrease by the same amount. Nevertheless, the previous relation shows that the washout effects can be diminished by letting N_1 decay very late. Two conditions must be fulfilled for this "late-decay" mechanism to be successful:

(1) a small decay width $\Gamma_1 \ll H(T = M_1)$ such that the N_1 's begin to

^tThe required level of degeneracy δ when taking flavor effects into account has been studied in detail in Ref. [219]. It dependens on the hierarchy among Yukawa couplings and on M_1 .
decay at $T \ll M_1$.

(2) an interaction to populate the Universe with the N_1 's which is different from the one inducing the decay (as this one is too weak in order to fulfill (1)), e.g. a new gauge interaction [226, 227]. This interaction should be effective only at $T \gtrsim M_1$ such that the N_1 's disappear via the CP-violating processes.

With this setup, it is possible to achieve TeV-scale leptogenesis (as well as baryogenesis at much lower scales when the decays violate B, see [219] for more details).

• Massive decay (annihilation) products: In general the washout rate depends not only on the amplitude of the corresponding process, but also on the number density of the particles involved. Therefore, if one of these particles has a mass such that it becomes non-relativistic in the baryogenesis era, the washout is Boltzmann suppressed. Under the non-trivial conditions explained next, this mechanism of washout suppression was demonstrated to enable baryogenesis at the TeV scale from DM annihilation in [228] and from heavy particle decays later in [219]. It also allows for baryogenesis well below the electroweak scale if B is violated perturbatively.

For clarity purposes we consider a specific model, the IDM with sterile neutrinos heavier than the exotic Higgs doublet ϕ_2 . The decays of the heavy neutrino N_1 generate an asymmetry in both, leptons and ϕ_2 (which plays the role of the massive decay product with mass M_{ϕ_2}). In turn, the asymmetries in each of these sectors (ℓ and ϕ_2) induce washout of the lepton asymmetry (e.g. more ℓ 's than $\bar{\ell}$'s, but also more ϕ_2 's than $\bar{\phi}_2$'s, lead to an increase of the rate of $\ell \phi_2 \rightarrow \bar{\ell} \bar{\phi}_2$ relative to $\bar{\ell} \bar{\phi}_2 \rightarrow \ell \phi_2$). Under kinetic equilibrium this observation leads to the following terms in the Boltzmann equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}Y_{\Delta_{\ell}}}{\mathrm{d}z} = \frac{-1}{sHz} \left\{ \frac{Y_{\Delta_{\ell}}}{Y_{\ell}^{\mathrm{eq}}} + \frac{Y_{\Delta\phi_2}}{Y_{\phi_2}^{\mathrm{eq}}} \right\} \gamma^{\mathrm{eq}} \left(\ell\phi_2 \leftrightarrow \bar{\ell}\bar{\phi}_2\right) + \dots$$
(41)

$$\equiv \frac{-Y_{\Delta_{\ell}}}{sHz} \left[w_1(z) + w_2(z) \right] + \dots$$
(42)

with $Y_{\Delta X} \equiv Y_X - Y_{\bar{X}} \equiv \frac{n_X - n_{\bar{X}}}{s}$, $z \equiv M_1/T$, and $\gamma(\dots)$ is the density rate of the corresponding process. For simplicity we omit flavor indices. The superscript "eq" denotes the value of a given quantity for equilibrium phase space distributions with zero chemical potentials. To understand the washout effects on Y_{Δ_ℓ} , we have introduced the functions $w_i(z)$ in Eq. (42). While $w_1(z) \propto \gamma^{\text{eq}}(\ell\phi_2 \leftrightarrow \bar{\ell}\phi_2)/Y_\ell^{\text{eq}}$ and is thus Boltzmann suppressed by $e^{-M_{\phi_2}/T}$, the case of $w_2(z)$ is more tricky as its effect depends on how $Y_{\Delta\phi_2}$ is related to $Y_{\Delta\ell}$. When $Y_{\Delta\phi_2}$ and $Y_{\Delta\ell}$ are linked by a conservation law implying $Y_{\Delta\phi_2} =$ number $\times Y_{\Delta\ell}$, then $w_2(z) \propto \gamma^{\text{eq}}(\ell\phi_2 \leftrightarrow \bar{\ell}\phi_2)/Y_{\phi_2}^{\text{eq}}$, and consequently there is no Boltzmann suppression (the factor $e^{-M_{\phi_2}/T}$ cancels



Fig. 11. The final baryon asymmetry normalized to the entropy density, $Y_{\Delta B}$, as a function of λ_5 for $M_1 = 2.8$ TeV and $M_{\phi_2} = 0.6M_1$ (the remaining parameters of the IDM have fixed values irrelevant for the discussion). It is apparent that the BAU can only be generated if λ_5 is large enough, in order for the processes $\phi_2 \bar{\phi} \leftrightarrow \bar{\phi}_2 \phi$ to be fast during the crucial time for baryogenesis. This figure has been taken from [221].

in the ratio). In this case the main problem for achieving baryogenesis at low energy scales persists. Instead, if the asymmetry in ϕ_2 can be erased by some fast interaction different from the one that sources baryogenesis, with chemical equilibrium implying that $Y_{\Delta\phi_2}$ is Boltzmann suppressed relative to $Y_{\Delta\ell}$, then a way opens for thermal baryogenesis at the TeV scale.

These possibilities can be illustrated by one of the terms in the scalar potential of the IDM, $\lambda_5(\phi^{\dagger}\phi_2)^2/2$. If $\lambda_5 = 0$ there is a conserved lepton number (ϕ_2 is assigned L = -1), whereas for large values of λ_5 , new fast ϕ_2 -depleting interactions exist. With λ_5 modeling a non-trivial $w_2(z)$, Fig. 11 demonstrates the crucial dependence of the baryon asymmetry on the size of these interactions.

Different ways of implementing consistently heavy decay or annihilation products in order to achieve baryogenesis at low scales have been developed in Refs. [228–231]. A more radical approach to avoid the potential problem related to the asymmetry in the heavy sector is to make a Majorana fermion play the role of the heavy decay or annihilation product [232]. In this way there is no asymmetry in the heavy field and the aforementioned problem is completely avoided. An implementation of this idea developed in [232] is to have baryogenesis from DM annihilation, with the sterile neutrinos responsible for the masses of the SM neutrinos playing a key role in baryogenesis and the freeze-out of DM annihilations.

To conclude, we have summarized the main difficulties which have to be over-

come to achieve TeV-scale leptogenesis and discussed the three known mechanisms which allow to circumvent the main problem common to all models of thermal baryogenesis from particle decays (or annihilations). In the following sections, we will discuss their implementation in the context of specific models giving us the possibility to probe TeV-scale leptogenesis experimentally.

4. Testability of leptogenesis in extended seesaw models

As we have seen in the previous section, specific conditions have to be fulfilled in order to obtain TeV-scale leptogenesis. As this is difficult for the "vanilla" seesaw models, as shown in Eq. (40), we want to concentrate on extensions to these models which allow for testable scenarios. First, we focus on extensions to the standard seesaw models by new matter fields only, without considering any new gauge interactions.

4.1. Extensions to the type I seesaw model

In type I seesaw, at least two heavy Majorana singlet fermions N_k are introduced, resulting in the Lagrangian given in Eq. (5). For definiteness, we consider three generations of RH neutrinos k = 1, 2, 3. As illustrated in the previous section, Eq. (40), the mass of the lightest heavy neutrino N_1 is bounded from below, essentially due to constraints implied by the light neutrino mass scale. In order to evade these constraints, we can extend the type I seesaw by coupling N_k to other SM fermions. The type of new interactions is restricted by gauge invariance such that only new scalars with the same quantum numbers as SM fermions (generically denoted as ψ) can be involved [233]:

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{\psi}} = \eta_{mk} \bar{\psi}_{Lm} N_k \, \tilde{\psi} + \sum_{\psi' \, \psi''} y_{mn} \bar{\psi}'_{Lm} \psi''_{Rn} \, \tilde{\psi} + \text{h.c.} \,, \tag{43}$$

where ψ_L , ψ'_L denote the SM left-handed fermion fields ℓ , e^c , Q, d^c , u^c , $\psi''_R = \ell^c$, e, Q^c , d, u denote the corresponding SM RH fields, and $\tilde{\psi}$ denote scalars that must match the gauge quantum numbers of ψ_L in the first term (we borrow the usual supersymmetric notation with $\tilde{\psi} = \tilde{\ell}$, \tilde{e} , \tilde{Q} , \tilde{d} , \tilde{u}). The second term in Eq. (43) represents possible new couplings of a new scalar to the SM fermion bilinears. Table 1 lists the possible scalars, their couplings to SM fermions allowed by gauge invariance and (as long as they can be consistently given) the assignments that render the Lagrangian in Eq. (43) L and B conserving. The last two columns indicate the amount of L and B violation of the $\bar{\psi}_L N \tilde{\psi}$ term with L(N) = 0.

The two cases of \tilde{u} and d yield B violation, and will lead to too fast nucleon decays. For instance, after $SU(2) \times U(1)$ spontaneous symmetry breaking, a mixing between the RH and light neutrinos of order $\sqrt{m_{\nu}/M_N}$ is induced and gives rise to the dimension 6 operator $\frac{1}{M_{\tilde{u}}^2} \sqrt{\frac{m_{\nu}}{M_N}} (\bar{d}^c d) (\bar{\nu} u)$. Taking $m_{\nu} \sim 10^{-2} \,\text{eV}$ and $M_{\tilde{u}} \sim$

type of SM fermions ($\epsilon = i\tau_2$ is the SU(2) antisymmetric tensor). The third and fourth column list the assignments that render these couplings B and Lconserving. $\tilde{\ell}$ is a (down-type) second Higgs, \tilde{e} is a lepton, \tilde{Q} is a leptoquark, \tilde{u} is a baryon. For \tilde{d} no B and L conserving assignments are possible. The last two columns give the amount of L and B violation in the couplings to RH neutrinos with L(N) = 0. Scalar field Couplings B L ΔB ΔL

Five types of scalars can be coupled to the RH neutrinos and to one

Scalar field	Couplings	B		ΔB	ΔL
$\tilde{\ell}$	$ar{\ell} e\left(\epsilon ilde{\ell}^{*} ight), \ ar{Q} d\left(\epsilon ilde{\ell}^{*} ight), \ ar{Q} u ar{\ell}$	0	0	0	-1
\tilde{e}	$ar{\ell}(\epsilon\ell^c) ilde{e}$	0	+2	0	+1
$ ilde{Q}$	$ar{\ell} d (\epsilon ilde{Q}^*)$	+1/3	-1	0	-1
$ ilde{u}$	$\overline{d^c} d ilde{u}$	-2/3	0	-1	0
$ ilde{d}$	$\bar{\ell}(\epsilon Q^c)\tilde{d},\;\overline{Q^c}(\epsilon Q)\tilde{d},\;\bar{u}e^c\tilde{d},\;\overline{u^c}d\tilde{d}$	_	—	_	-

 $M_N \sim 1 \text{ TeV}$, this results in the following nucleon lifetime:

Table 1.

$$\tau_{N \to \pi \nu} \sim 10^{32} \left(\frac{10^{-19}}{y_{dd\tilde{u}} \eta_{N u \tilde{u}}} \right)^2 \text{ years }.$$
 (44)

To satisfy the experimental limits [234] $\tau_{p\to\pi\nu} > 3.90 \times 10^{32} \text{ yr}$ and $\tau_{n\to\pi\nu} > 11.0 \times 10^{32} \text{ yr}$, the couplings y and η need to be extremely small, or additional symmetries like baryon number must be imposed to forbid them. For example, in Sec. 4.1.2 we will focus on the case of \tilde{u} by imposing baryon number conservation at the perturbative level, which forbids the interaction $\overline{d^c} d \tilde{u}$. This results in a novel mechanism known as cloistered baryogenesis [235].

The cases ℓ , \tilde{e} , and \tilde{Q} , instead, are viable without additional assumptions. If these new scalars are around the TeV scale, they could be produced at colliders in principle. Notice that $\tilde{\ell}$ has the same electroweak quantum numbers as the SM Higgs doublet and as such, their presence can generally induce flavor-changingneutral currents at tree-level [236]. However, experimental limits require that either $\tilde{\ell}$ is very heavy, or that its couplings are very small [237]. A TeV scale \tilde{e} can be pair produced at the LHC via electroweak processes, while \tilde{Q} (leptoquark) can be produced with a large rate via QCD processes [238–242]. Their production modes are discussed in Ref. [233] and will not be discussed further in this review.

From the new interactions, we can also have new contributions to CP violation as shown in Fig. 12. Assuming $M_j > M_1 > M_{\tilde{\psi}}$ (j = 2, 3) and summing over final state flavors, the self-energy and vertex contributions to the CP violation in $N_1 \to \bar{\ell}\phi, \bar{\psi}\tilde{\psi}$ decays are:

$$\epsilon_{1\chi}^{S} = \frac{\kappa_{\chi}}{16\pi D_{1}} \sum_{j\neq 1} \sum_{\chi'} \kappa_{\chi'} \operatorname{Im}\left[\left(\xi_{\chi'}^{\dagger}\xi_{\chi'}\right)_{1j} \left(\xi_{\chi}^{\dagger}\xi_{\chi}\right)_{1j}\right] f^{S}\left(\frac{M_{j}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right), \quad (45)$$

$$\epsilon_{1\chi}^{V} = \frac{\kappa_{\chi}}{8\pi D_1} \sum_{j\neq 1} \operatorname{Im} \left[\xi_{\chi}^{\dagger} \xi_{\chi} \right]_{1j}^2 f^{V} \left(\frac{M_j^2}{M_1^2} \right) \,, \tag{46}$$

where $D_1 = 16\pi\Gamma_1/M_1$ with Γ_1 being the total N_1 decay width. $\chi, \chi' = \{\ell, \psi\}$ denote the SM fermions in the final states and in the loops, while $\xi_{\chi}, \xi_{\chi'} = \{\lambda, \eta\}$



Fig. 12. The one-loop self-energy and vertex diagrams with $\chi_m^{(\prime)} = \ell_{\alpha}$, (ψ_m) and $\tilde{\chi}^{(\prime)} = H$, $(\tilde{\psi})$ which generate CP asymmetries in $N_k \to \chi_m \tilde{\chi}$ decays. Figure taken from Ref. [233].

and $\kappa_{\chi}, \kappa_{\chi'}$ are the corresponding Yukawa couplings and gauge multiplicities. The self-energy and vertex loop functions are given by:

$$f^{S} = \frac{\sqrt{x}}{1-x}, \qquad f^{V} = \sqrt{x} \left[1 - (1+x) \ln \frac{1+x}{x} \right].$$
 (47)

In Sec. 4.1.1, we will show that in the case of hierarchical RH neutrinos, the bound on M_1 (cf. Eq. (40)) can be lowered down to ~ 10⁷ GeV within extended seesaw models. This result does not apply only to extensions to the type I seesaw, but is valid in general. However, due to the interplay between CP violation and washout scatterings, leptogenesis with hierarchical RH neutrinos in the TeV range, as suggested in [233], cannot be reached. The reason, in case of hierarchical RH neutrinos, is the following: In order keep the washout scatterings under control at the TeV scale, the amount of CP violation will be too small for successful leptogenesis. When considering, however, a scenario with quasi-degenerate RH neutrinos and resonantly enhanced CP asymmetries, TeV leptogenesis can still be realized.

In Sec. 4.1.2, we will then discuss cloistered baryogenesis [235] that, as was already mentioned above, is based on an extension to the type I seesaw with \tilde{u} , where conservation of baryon number at the perturbative level is imposed. In particular, we will prove that even in the presence of fast B - L violating interactions, an asymmetry can still be obtained.

4.1.1. The scale for extended type I seesaw baryogenesis

In this section we show that assuming a non degenerate RH neutrino spectrum, we can derive a lower bound on the temperature that allows for successful baryogenesis via leptogenesis, and specifically also for cloistered baryogenesis. In that case the bound follows from the interconnection between the CP asymmetry and the requirement that the cloistered sector will remain secluded from the active sector or, in other words, from the requirement that the washout processes are kept under control. This argument was first put forth in [219], in the context of the inert Higgs doublet model (the case of $\tilde{\ell}$ in Table 1), and in relation to the derivation of a bound on the mass of the lightest RH neutrino.

In cloistered baryogenesis, one is interested in the case in which a Majorana RH neutrino decays in a SM u-type quark and in the complex conjugate of a new

scalar \tilde{u} of equal baryon charge. However, the argument does not apply only to the inert Higgs doublet model or to cloistered baryogenesis, but it is quite general. Although below we will present it referring to a *B* asymmetry, we are confident that its wide range of validity will be easily understood. Consider a generic $U(1)_B$ invariant interaction between two self conjugate particles $X_i = X_i^c$ (i = 1, 2) and two other complex fields *Y* and *Z* carrying opposite $U(1)_B$ charges

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset \sum_{i=1,2} g_i X_i Y Z + \text{h.c.}, \tag{48}$$

where g_1 and g_s are two relatively complex parameters $\operatorname{Arg}(g_1^*g_2) \neq 0$. In general X_i can be Majorana fermions while Y and Z a pair of complex scalar and fermion or X_i can be real scalars while Y and Z a pair of fermions or complex scalars. In the first two cases g_i are dimensionless couplings while in the last case they have mass dimension one. Now let us assume $M_{X_2} > M_{X_1} > M_Y + M_Z$ such that the decays $X_i \to YZ, \overline{YZ}$ are kinematically allowed. These decays are in general CP-violating, implying that B asymmetries in Y and Z that are equal in size and opposite in sign can be generated. Let us further assume that X_1 decays while electroweak sphalerons are still active and that Y has in-equilibrium chemical reactions with electroweak sphalerons while Z remains chemically decoupled from the thermal bath, i.e. cloistered. The B asymmetry in Z, denoted by ΔB_Z , remains constant, while the B asymmetry carried by Y gets quickly distributed among the SM particles through electroweak sphalerons. Due to partial conversion to Lasymmetry, the B asymmetry in the thermal bath is no longer balanced by the one stored in Z i.e. $\Delta B_{\rm SM} \neq -\Delta B_Z$. Eventually after electroweak sphalerons switch off, the B conserving decays of Z into the SM particles give rise to a nonzero total B asymmetry $\Delta B = \Delta B_{\rm SM} + \Delta B_Z \neq 0$.

The CP asymmetry between Y baryons and \overline{Y} anti-baryons produced in X_1 decays can be defined as the differences in their decay widths normalized over their sum:

$$\epsilon_{X_1} = \frac{\Gamma\left(X_1 \to YZ\right) - \Gamma\left(X_1 \to \bar{Y}\bar{Z}\right)}{\Gamma\left(X_1 \to YZ\right) + \Gamma\left(X_1 \to \bar{Y}\bar{Z}\right)} . \tag{49}$$

 ϵ_{X_1} can be computed from the interference between tree-level and one-loop vertex and wave-function diagrams. Considering the hierarchical case $M_{X_1} \ll M_{X_2}$, for the cases of a fermion X_1 decays into fermion-scalar pair and of a scalar X_1 decaying into fermion pairs or scalar pairs, we obtain respectively the following leading terms:

$$\epsilon_{X_1}^{(fs)} \simeq -\frac{|g_2|^2}{8\pi} \frac{M_{X_1}}{M_{X_2}} \sin\phi ,$$
 (50)

$$\epsilon_{X_1}^{(ff')} \simeq -\frac{|g_2|^2}{8\pi} \frac{M_{X_1}^2}{M_{X_2}^2} \sin\phi ,$$
 (51)

$$\epsilon_{X_1}^{(ss')} \simeq -\frac{1}{8\pi} \frac{|g_2|^2}{M_{X_2}^2} \sin\phi , \qquad (52)$$

with $\phi = \operatorname{Arg} \left[(g_1^* g_2)^2 \right]$. In the following, we set $\sin \phi \sim 1$ to maximize the CP asymmetries. We see that in all the three cases they increase with $|g_2|$. The value of $|g_2|$, however, cannot be arbitrarily large because at some point $YZ \leftrightarrow \overline{Y}\overline{Z}$ scatterings mediated by X_2 would become sufficiently fast to enforce chemical equilibrium between Y and Z, i.e. $\mu_Y + \mu_Z = 0$, rendering cloistered baryogenesis ineffective. For the three cases above, the $2 \leftrightarrow 2$ scattering rates are given by:

$$\gamma^{(fs)}(YZ \leftrightarrow \bar{Y}\bar{Z}) \simeq \frac{1}{\pi^3} \frac{T^3}{M_{X_2}^2} \left|g_2\right|^4 , \qquad (53)$$

$$\gamma^{(ff')}(YZ \leftrightarrow \bar{Y}\bar{Z}) \simeq \frac{1}{\pi^3} \frac{T^5}{M_{X_2}^4} |g_2|^4 ,$$
 (54)

$$\gamma^{(ss')}(YZ \leftrightarrow \bar{Y}\bar{Z}) \simeq \frac{1}{\pi^3} \frac{T}{M_{X_2}^4} \left|g_2\right|^4 .$$
(55)

For the temperature relevant to leptogenesis $T \sim M_{X_1}$, all the expressions above can be rewritten as

$$\gamma^{(a)}(YZ \leftrightarrow \bar{Y}\bar{Z}) \simeq \frac{64}{\pi} M_{X_1} \left(\epsilon_{X_1}^{(a)}\right)^2, \tag{56}$$

with a = (fs), (ff'), (ss'). Hence we see that for all the cases the equilibrating scattering rates are proportional to the square of the respective (maximum) CP asymmetries. Requiring that at $T \sim M_{X_1}$ these scatterings are out of equilibrium, that is $\gamma^{(a)}(YZ \leftrightarrow \bar{Y}\bar{Z}) \lesssim H(M_{X_1})$, with $H(M_{X_1}) \sim 17M_{X_1}^2/M_{\rm Pl}$ the Universe expansion rate and $M_{\rm Pl}$ the Planck mass, $M_{\rm Pl} = 1.2 \times 10^{19}$ GeV, when

$$M_{X_1} \gtrsim 10^{19} \times \left(\epsilon_{X_1}^{(a)}\right)^2 \text{ GeV}.$$
 (57)

Since a CP asymmetry smaller than $\epsilon_{X_1}^{(a)} \sim 10^{-6}$ could hardly explain the observed baryon asymmetry, Eq. (57) implies $M_{X_1} \gtrsim 10^7$ GeV, which constitutes a necessary condition for successfully preserving an asymmetry. Let us note that in deriving the bound above, we have ignored the masses of the final states. It was argued in Ref. [219] that, by taking a final state mass of the order of M_{X_1} , due to Boltzmann suppression of the washout scatterings it is possible to lower the scale M_{X_1} down to the TeV region. Arranging for such a condition, the leptogenesis scenarios proposed in Ref. [233] becomes viable also at the TeV scale. (See Sec. 3 for details about the conditions required for lowering the scale of leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays.)

4.1.2. Cloistered baryogenesis

In the following, we will present a simple model which realizes cloistered baryogenesis [235]. We consider the fourth model of Table 1, in which besides three RH singlet fermions N_k a new scalar \tilde{u} with the SM quantum numbers of the SU(2)singlet RH up-type quark u is also introduced. The relevant terms involving \tilde{u} are

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{2}M_{\tilde{u}}^{2}\tilde{u}^{*}\tilde{u} + \left(\eta_{ak}\bar{u}_{a}^{c}N_{k}\tilde{u}^{*} + \text{h.c.}\right), \qquad (58)$$



Fig. 13. In the initial stage, the decays of N_1 generate an equal and opposite sign B asymmetries respectively in u and \tilde{u} denoted by ΔB_u and $\Delta B_{\tilde{u}}$. At electroweak sphaleron decoupling the Basymmetry in SM particles $\Delta B_{\rm SM}$ is no longer equal in magnitude to the opposite sign asymmetry $\Delta B_{\tilde{u}}$ due to the electroweak sphaleron processes which distribute the initial ΔB_u among the SM particles in which part of the asymmetry resides in the lepton sector. As a result, we obtain a net nonzero baryon asymmetry $\Delta B_{\rm SM} + \Delta B_{\tilde{u}} \neq 0$. Figure taken from Ref. [235].

where we have imposed global $U(1)_B$ conservation to forbid the term $y_{ab}\bar{d}_a^c d_b\tilde{u}$ in order to prevent nucleon decay, and we have assigned $B(\tilde{u}) = 1/3$.

Fixing $M_1 \sim 10^7$ GeV, baryogenesis can proceed at $T \sim 10^7$ GeV through out-ofequilibrium, B conserving and CP-violating decays $N_1 \to u_a \tilde{u}^*$ as long as \tilde{u} remains cloistered until after electroweak sphalerons freeze-out. Given that astrophysical arguments rule out the possibility of cosmologically stable heavy colored particles [243-245], \tilde{u} must eventually decay. It is a feature automatically embedded in our model that \tilde{u} will decay only after electroweak symmetry breaking. Decays can in fact proceed through the mixing between active and RH neutrinos $(\nu - N)$, which opens up the decay channel $\tilde{u} \to u_a \nu$. After electroweak symmetry breaking and switch off of electroweak sphaleron processes, the $\Delta B_{\tilde{u}}$ released into the thermal bath from \tilde{u} decays remains largely unbalanced by the baryon asymmetry already present in the thermal bath, resulting in a net nonzero baryon asymmetry. The mechanism for this scenario is sketched in Fig. 13. Notice that at this temperatures the CP asymmetry for the standard N_1 leptogenesis (assuming a hierarchical RH neutrino mass spectrum) is way too small [23]. Here for simplicity we will assume that the branching ratio for $N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} \phi$ is much smaller than that of $N_1 \to u_a \tilde{u}^*$, so that we can normalize the CP asymmetries to the sum of $N_1 \rightarrow u_a \tilde{u}^*$. In this case, while the type I seesaw Lagrangian still accounts for neutrino masses and mixing, it plays no role in baryogenesis.

The CP asymmetry in N_1 decays results from the interference between the treelevel and the one-loop diagrams in Fig. 14. Assuming a hierarchical RH neutrino mass spectrum $(M_1 \ll M_2 \ll M_3)$ and summing over quark flavors, the CP asymmetry for $\sum_a (N_1 \to u_a \tilde{u}^*)$ is given as

$$\epsilon_{N_1}^{\tilde{u}} \simeq -\frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{(\eta^{\dagger} \eta)_{11}} \sum_{k \neq 1} \operatorname{Im} \left[\left(\eta^{\dagger} \eta \right)_{1k}^2 \right] \frac{M_1}{M_k} .$$
(59)

In addition to sufficiently large CP asymmetry, we require the following additional conditions:



Fig. 14. Tree-level and one-loop diagrams responsible for the CP asymmetry in the decays $N_1 \rightarrow u_a \tilde{u}^*$. Figure taken from Ref. [235].

- (i) The decays $\Gamma_{N_1} \equiv \sum_a \Gamma(N_1 \to u_a \tilde{u}^*)$ should occur out of equilibrium (we recall that for simplicity we have assumed $\sum_{\alpha} \Gamma(N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} \phi) \ll \Gamma_{N_1}$).
- (*ii*) The scalars \tilde{u} should remain chemically decoupled from the thermal bath until after electroweak sphalerons switch off at $T_{\rm fo}$, although strong interactions will keep them in kinetic equilibrium.
- (*iii*) The decays $\tilde{u} \to u_a \nu$ after electroweak symmetry breaking, which eventually fix the final magnitude and sign of the baryon asymmetry, should occur well before the Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) era.

For $M_1 \sim M_k/10 \sim 10^7$ GeV (k = 2,3), condition (i) gives $|\eta_{a1}| \leq 10^{-5}$, while condition (ii) gives $|\eta_{ak}| |\eta_{bk}| \leq 10^{-4}$. On the other hand, condition (iii) requires at least one coupling $|\eta_{ak}| \gtrsim 10^{-4}$. Hence, it is possible to have $\tilde{u} \to u_a \nu$ decays at a sufficiently early stage from the contributions of $\nu - N_{2,3}$ mixing. For example, taking $\eta_{a(2,3)} \sim 0.03$ and $M_{2,3} \sim 10^8$ GeV, the lifetime of the colored scalar is $\tau_{\tilde{u}} \sim 10^{-4}$ s, which ensures that all \tilde{u} decay much before the onset of BBN.

Using the method advocated in Ref. [246] once we identified the effective U(1) symmetries of the system, the final baryon asymmetry generated can be easily related to the asymmetry stored in \tilde{u} . The crucial point is that $U(1)_{\tilde{u}}$ remains an effective symmetry once the baryogenesis is completed, until after the freeze-out of electroweak sphalerons. The detailed generation of an asymmetry in \tilde{u} can be studied quantitatively using Boltzmann equations.

Since the asymmetry is generated and stored in \tilde{u} , B - L only plays a spectator role, with at most $\mathcal{O}(1)$ effects [247, 248]. Let us look at the two limiting cases below. Assuming negligible B - L violation, i.e. setting the total B - L charge to zero, after all \tilde{u} decays, we obtain the final baryon asymmetry^u

$$Y_{\Delta B} = \frac{21}{79} Y_{\Delta \tilde{u}}.$$
 (60)

On the other hand, assuming fast B - L violation, after all \tilde{u} decays, we have

$$Y_{\Delta B} = \frac{7}{33} Y_{\Delta \tilde{u}}.$$
 (61)

Comparing the two limiting cases above confirms that B - L violation acts as spectator. In particular, the observation of fast *L*-violation at colliders in Ref. [98] will not be able to invalidate cloistered baryogenesis.

^uThe factor of 3 with respect to [235] is because here $Y_{\Delta \tilde{u}}$ denotes abundance where we have summed over color.

Let us conclude by pointing out that the discovery at the LHC or at future colliders of new, relatively long-lived scalars, with similar properties to the ones discussed in this review, will support the possibility that baryogenesis arises from extended seesaw models of type I. To avoid issues with BBN, the lifetime of these scalars should be less than about 10^{-2} s. For the case of \tilde{u} , choosing parameters consistent with cloistered baryogenesis, we have a typical lifetime of $\tau_{\tilde{u}} \sim 10^{-4}$ s, for which the decay length is still few $\times 10^4$ m. Clearly, these relatively heavy colored scalars would hadronize into the so-called *R*-hadron $\tilde{u}\bar{u}$ and give rise to spectacular events right inside the detectors (see Ref. [249] and the references therein). Nevertheless, to probe directly that these scenarios are truly responsible for the cosmological baryon asymmetry would require producing also N_k . However, as was shown in [233], bringing down the RH neutrino mass scale to energies accessible at foreseeable colliders remains quite challenging, and it would require, for example, quasi-degenerate N_k to resonantly enhance the CP asymmetries.

4.2. Extensions to type II and III seesaw models

As well-known and already emphasized above, to generate the neutrino masses at tree-level, an exchange of RH neutrinos between SM lepton and scalar doublets is not the only possibility. There exist two alternatives, from the exchange of one or more scalar triplets with hypercharge Y = 2 (type II seesaw) and from the exchange of self-conjugate triplets of fermions (type III seesaw). These scenarios offer the possibility to generate the lepton asymmetry from the decay of these heavy scalar triplets (type II leptogenesis [212, 250–256]) or of these fermion triplets (type III leptogenesis [212, 257–260]). In order to discuss possibilities of testing/falsifying these scenarios it is necessary to briefly review how they work, discussing in particular the effects of gauge scatterings. For a detailed review, see Ref. [212].

The relevant Lagrangians for the type II and type III seesaw models are given in Table 2, together with their contribution to neutrino masses and the definition of the total lepton number CP asymmetries they lead to. Type II or type III seesaw states appear naturally in many gauge extensions of the SM. These extensions include the usual left-right (L-R) models and renormalizable SO(10) models, which on top of RH neutrinos involve a type II $SU(2)_L$ scalar triplet (related, together with its $SU(2)_R$ partner, to the generation of the RH neutrino masses). Other examples are the SU(5) models with an adjoint fermion representation [258, 261–265], which contains both a type I and a type III seesaw state. Seesaw models with an extended gauge sector will be discussed in more detail in Sec. 5 and in Sec. 6 in the context of Supersymmetry.

A single seesaw state cannot lead to successful leptogenesis because such a state cannot generate alone the necessary CP asymmetry. But, if at least a second seesaw state exists, as in all these GUT inspired models, this is possible. For instance, as shown in Fig. 15, from the decay of a scalar triplet one can generate a CP asymmetry from a diagram involving any heavier seesaw state, for example a heavier second

and $\phi = i\tau_2\phi^*$. For the scalar triplet $\Gamma_{\Delta} = \Gamma_{\overline{\Delta}} = \Gamma(\Delta_L \to \ell\ell) + \Gamma(\Delta_L \to \phi\phi)$.						
	Type of seesaw model					
	Type II	Type III				
Seesaw states	$\Delta_L = \begin{pmatrix} \delta^+ / \sqrt{2} & \delta^{++} \\ \delta^0 & -\delta^+ / \sqrt{2} \end{pmatrix}$	$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma^0 / \sqrt{2} & \Sigma^+ \\ \Sigma^- & -\Sigma^0 / \sqrt{2} \end{pmatrix}$				
Kin. term	$\mathrm{Tr}\left[(D_{\mu}\Delta_{L})^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}\Delta_{L})\right]$	$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\overline{\Sigma}i\not\!\!\!\!D\Sigma ight]$				
Mass term	$-M_{\Delta}^{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\Delta_{L}^{\dagger} \Delta_{L}\right]$	$-\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{Tr}\left[\overline{\Sigma}M_{\Sigma}\Sigma^{c}+\overline{\Sigma^{c}}M_{\Sigma}^{*}\Sigma\right]$				
Interactions	$-\ell^T \lambda_{\Delta} C i \tau_2 \Delta_L \ell + \mu \tilde{\phi}^T i \tau_2 \Delta_L \tilde{\phi}$	$-\tilde{\phi}^{\dagger}\overline{\Sigma}\sqrt{2}\lambda_{\Sigma}\ell-\bar{\ell}\sqrt{2}\lambda_{\Sigma}^{\dagger}\Sigma\tilde{\phi}$				
u masses	$M_{\nu}^{\Delta} = 2\lambda_{\Delta} v_{\Delta_L} = \lambda_{\Delta} \mu^* \frac{v^2}{M_{\Delta}^2}$	$M_{\nu}^{\Sigma} = -\frac{v^2}{2} \lambda_{\Sigma}^T \frac{1}{M_{\Sigma}} \lambda_{\Sigma}$				
CP asym.	$\epsilon_{\Delta} \equiv 2 \frac{\Gamma(\bar{\Delta}_L \to \ell \ell) - \Gamma(\Delta_L \to \bar{\ell} \bar{\ell})}{\Gamma_{\Delta} + \Gamma_{\bar{\Delta}}}$	$\epsilon_{\Sigma} \equiv \frac{\Gamma(\Sigma \to \ell \phi) - \Gamma(\overline{\Sigma} \to \overline{\ell} \overline{\phi})}{\Gamma(\Sigma \to \ell \phi) + \Gamma(\overline{\Sigma} \to \overline{\ell} \overline{\phi})}$				

Table 2. Lagrangian, neutrino mass contribution and CP asymmetry definition for type II and type III seesaw model (in matrix notation, a summation over the lepton flavor and heavy state indices is implicit, except for the CP asymmetries where it is defined for each of the 3 triplet components separately), with $\ell_{\alpha} = (\nu_{L\alpha}, e_{L\alpha})^T$, $\phi = (\phi^+, \phi^0)^T$ and $\tilde{\phi} = i\tau_2\phi^*$. For the scalar triplet $\Gamma_{\Lambda} = \Gamma_{\Lambda} = \Gamma(\Lambda_T \to \ell\bar{\ell}) + \Gamma(\Lambda_T \to \phi\phi)$.



Fig. 15. Diagrams contributing to the asymmetry created by the decay of a Δ_L , if there are several scalar triplets, or a RH neutrino N. The third diagram also contribute to the asymmetry of a N in presence of a heavier scalar triplet.

scalar triplet [250, 251] or a heavier RH neutrino [252, 266]. Similarly, even if the lightest state is a RH neutrino, still, the presence of a heavier triplet can modify the type I leptogenesis scenario [252, 266], because it will contribute to the CP asymmetries of the RH neutrinos, see the last diagram of Fig. 15. For the pure type III leptogenesis scenario the diagrams are the same as for the type I case, replacing each of the RH neutrinos in these diagrams by a $SU(2)_L$ triplet [257].

Similarly to the type I case, the type II and III leptogenesis scenarios highly

depend on the type of seesaw state mass spectrum. By far the simplest case arises if the seesaw states have a hierarchical spectrum. It is easy to show that in this case, the total lepton number CP asymmetries depend on the heavy seesaw states (which are virtual in the one-loop diagram) only through their contributions to the neutrino mass matrix [267], whereas they depend on the decaying state through both its contribution to the neutrino mass matrix and its mass. For the type II and III cases, for each of the 3 triplet components, the CP asymmetry takes the form [252, 253, 257]

$$\epsilon_{\Delta} = -\frac{1}{16\pi^2} \frac{M_{\Delta}^3}{\Gamma_{\Delta} v^4} \operatorname{Im}[(M_{\nu}^{\Delta})_{\beta\alpha} (M_{\nu}^H)_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}]$$
(62)

$$\epsilon_{\Sigma} = -\frac{1}{32\pi^2} \frac{M_{\Sigma}^3}{\Gamma_{\Sigma} v^4} \mathrm{Im}[(M_{\nu}^{\Sigma})_{\beta\alpha} (M_{\nu}^H)_{\alpha\beta}^{\dagger}]$$
(63)

with M_{ν}^{Σ} , M_{ν}^{Δ} and M_{ν}^{H} indicating the neutrino mass matrix induced by the decaying Σ , the decaying Δ_L and by whatever heavier state in the loop diagram present, respectively. For type III leptogenesis the result above is the same as for type I, replacing $N \leftrightarrow \Sigma$. Thus, similarly to the type I leptogenesis scenario, for a hierarchical spectrum of seesaw states, the produced lepton asymmetry depends only on the mass and interactions of the lightest state, and on the contribution of the heavy seesaw states to the neutrino mass matrix, no matter what these heavy states are. As these equations show, the smaller the mass of the decaying seesaw state is, the smaller is the CP asymmetry. This implies that successful leptogenesis requires this mass scale to be large enough. As mentioned already in Sec. 3, this lower bound is of order 10¹⁰ GeV. For a quasi-degenerate spectrum of seesaw states, these simple picture and bounds do not hold. In this case, self-energy diagrams involving two states of the same type, such as in the first diagram of Fig. 15, are resonantly enhanced. This allows successful leptogenesis for much smaller mass scales. Thus, as for type I leptogenesis, it is the quasi-degenerate case, which is relevant for possible tests, as already generally discussed in Sec. 3.

Triplets, unlike RH neutrinos, undergo gauge interactions, leading in particular to $X\overline{X} \leftrightarrow \text{SM}$ SM transitions. These processes do not cause any washout effect, since they conserve lepton number, but they do thermalize the triplets. As a result they put the triplet number density n_X close to the equilibrium distribution one, n_X^{eq} . As the lepton asymmetry production proceeds proportionally to $(n_X - n_X^{eq}) \cdot \epsilon_X$, this leads to a suppressed result. At temperature $T \gg M_X$ the gauge scatterings are not in equilibrium because the corresponding reaction rate over the Hubble rate, $\gamma_A/n_X^{eq}H$, scales as M_{Pl}/T . At $T \ll M_X$ these processes are not in equilibrium either, because they involve two heavy seesaw states in the initial or final state, which means that the γ_A reaction density is doubly Boltzmann suppressed,

$$\gamma_A^{\rm II/III}(X\,\overline{X} \leftrightarrow \rm{SM}\,\rm{SM}) \approx \frac{M_X\,T^3\,e^{-2\,M_X/T}}{32\,\pi^3} \left[c_s^{\rm II/III} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{T}{M_k}\right)\right], \qquad (64)$$

with [253, 259]

$$c_s^{\text{III}} = \frac{111 g^4}{8 \pi}, \qquad c_s^{\text{II}} = \frac{9 g^4 + 12 g^2 {g'}^2 + 3 {g'}^4}{2 \pi}.$$

However, between these two regimes, at $T \sim M_X$, the gauge scatterings are in thermal equilibrium as soon as $M_X \lesssim 10^{14}$ GeV, because $\gamma_A/n_X^{eq}H|_{T\sim M_X} \simeq$ $10^{14} \,\mathrm{GeV}/M_X$. In practice, as long as the gauge reaction rate γ_A/n_X^{eq} is both larger [212] than the Hubble rate and larger than the triplet decay reaction rate γ_D/n_X^{eq} (so that the triplets scatter before they decay), the asymmetry production is suppressed by a factor given by the ratio of both rates, γ_A/γ_D . Afterwards, when one of these two conditions is not fulfilled anymore, say at $T \equiv T_A$, the gauge scatterings have a negligible effect. As the γ_A/γ_D ratio is Boltzmann suppressed at $T < M_X$ (due to the double Boltzmann suppression of γ_A), this decoupling of the gauge scatterings always happens for M_X/T_A not larger than a few. This is why at $T > T_A$ no substantial asymmetry can be created, but afterwards it can, because the number of triplets remaining at this time and decaying afterwards, which is given by $\sim n_X^{eq} \propto e^{-M_X/T_A}$, can be substantial. This explains [251, 253] why type II or type III leptogenesis can still be successful for M_X much smaller than 10^{14} GeV. However, the smaller M_X is, the more the gauge scatterings are in thermal equilibrium at $T \sim M_X$. The larger M_X/T_A is, the smaller is the asymmetry produced. In practice, see the details in Ref. [212], the final asymmetry depends on whether at $T \simeq T_A$ the decay/inverse decay rate is still in thermal equilibrium. If they are not in thermal equilibrium, the final asymmetry produced is not affected by any washout effect from inverse decays and one lies in the so-called "gauge regime" [212, 260]. In the opposite case, one lies in the "Yukawa regime", where, at $T \simeq T_A$, one enters in a strong washout regime, in case the final asymmetry does not depend on the fact that there were gauge scatterings occurring at $T > T_A$ [212, 260].

The type III leptogenesis scenario differs from the type I scenario mainly by the fact that it involves this gauge scattering effect (besides the fact that it involves a number of decaying and virtual states in the one-loop diagrams which is three times larger than for the type I case). As a result of this effect, the lower bound on the lightest triplet for a hierarchical mass spectrum of seesaw states is a factor of about two orders of magnitude [257] larger than for the type I case, $M_{\Sigma} \gtrsim 3 \cdot 10^{10}$ GeV. Below this mass scale, the number of triplets remaining at the temperature T_A , whose subsequent decays produce the asymmetry, is already too Boltzmann suppressed to produce a large enough lepton asymmetry (given the CP asymmetry in this case, Eq. (62)). For a quasi-degenerate spectrum of triplet fermions, the resonance of the self-energy diagram allows for much larger CP asymmetries. Still, the lower M_{Σ} is, the larger is the gauge reaction rate with respect to the Hubble rate at $T \sim M_{\Sigma}$, the larger is M_{Σ}/T_A , the more the remaining number of triplets at T_A is Boltzmann suppressed, the less an asymmetry is produced. For instance, for $M_{\Sigma} = 1$ TeV, one gets $M_{\Sigma}/T_A \sim 25$. At this temperature the number of triplets remaining is so suppressed that even with CP asymmetries of order unity successful leptogenesis cannot proceed. One obtains the lower bound from taking a CP asymmetry of order one [259]

$$M_{\Sigma} > 1.6 \text{ TeV}$$
. (65)

Note that flavor effects have no impact on this bound. These effects for type III leptogenesis have been incorporated in Ref. [260]. For the regime where the inverse decays do have an impact on the asymmetry (Yukawa regime), they can be relevant, by reducing the washout effect from these inverse decays, similarly to the flavor effects in type I leptogenesis. In contrast, for the regime where inverse decays can be neglected (gauge regime), the suppression comes only from the gauge scatterings. These processes and the resulting suppression are flavor blind: gauge scatterings put n_X close to n_X^{eq} no matter Boltzmann equations are considered for individual lepton flavors or only for the total lepton number. The 1.6 TeV bound above is clearly obtained deeply in the gauge regime.

The gauge scatterings have the same effects in type II and type III leptogenesis. This is why the bound we get with a quasi-degenerate spectrum, i.e. with CP asymmetries of order unity from the self-energy diagram involving at least two different scalar triplets, is basically the same [259]

$$M_{\Delta} > 1.6 \text{ TeV}. \tag{66}$$

However, the dynamics operating for type II leptogenesis for the creation of the asymmetry is quite different from the one in the fermion seesaw cases. One important difference is that a scalar triplet, unlike the type I and type III states, is not self-conjugated. This implies that one must distinguish the number of triplets and antitriplets. Both number densities do not necessarily evolve in the same way. As a result, with respect to the other cases, the type II leptogenesis scenario involves one more Boltzmann equation, determining the triplet-antitriplet asymmetry number density. Moreover, unlike the fermion seesaw states, which involve only one type of couplings (the Yukawa couplings), the type II seesaw is based on two completely different interactions: the coupling of the scalar triplet to two Higgs doublets and to two lepton doublets, whose coexistence breaks lepton number. This leads naturally to situations where one decay channel could proceed much faster than the other, resulting in an approximate conservation of lepton number, even if the triplets decay at a rate much larger than the Hubble rate. All in all, this implies that the interplay of Boltzmann equations can be very different from the fermion cases, resulting in a different dynamics. For instance, this allows a lepton asymmetry to be effectively stored in a large triplet-antitriplet asymmetry which is created first, and which will lead to a lepton asymmetry afterwards, when these states will decay. Details can be found in Refs. [212, 253], including the lower bound on the scalar triplet mass in the hierarchical case (which around 10^{10} GeV depends on the contribution of the heavier seesaw states to the neutrino mass matrix). Similarly, these effects and the fact that a single scalar triplet can induce all three neutrino masses (unlike a fermion seesaw state, which can induce only one) lead to different flavor dynamics when the flavor effects are incorporated [254-256], see also the related discussion in [24].

All the discussion above, in particular on the role of the gauge scatterings, lead us to a situation which is representative of the difficulties one has to face when one tries to find ways to test leptogenesis. The fact that the type II and type III seesaw states undergo gauge interactions is welcome from the point of view of discovering the seesaw states at the LHC. These states, unlike the type I seesaw fermions, can be pair produced via SM gauge interactions [261, 263, 268–271], and they are intensively searched for at the LHC experiments. The seesaw states can also lead in addition to specific signatures, in particular displaced vertices, since at LHC energies the seesaw mechanism naturally predicts small values of the seesaw couplings, leading to slow decays, i.e. characteristic displaced vertices [269]. However, as discussed above, the very same interactions that allow seesaw states production also imply that these states will be pretty close to thermal equilibrium when they decay, leading to very large suppression of the produced asymmetry at these energies. In particular, even in the best situation where the CP asymmetry is of order unity, one cannot go below the ~ 1.6 TeV lower bound above, due to this effect. This scale turns out to be already a bit too high to be reachable at LHC. But at the very least this offers clear possibilities of falsifying these leptogenesis scenarios or even any leptogenesis scenario producing the asymmetry at higher energies. For instance a triplet which would be discovered at the LHC would not be able to produce the asymmetry through its decay but could washout a previously produced asymmetry, if it has large enough interactions (to all lepton flavors). More generally if these triplets are present at LHC energies they could come with other associated states, such as in the L-R model which, on top of the scalar triplets, involves a Z_R or a W_R . The discovery of such associated states, especially a W_R (because its thermalization effect is extremely efficient at these energies, see Sec. 5 below) could rule out type I leptogenesis, in case at the seesaw level one would be left with the type II or type III options.

Extensions of the low scale type II/III leptogenesis scenarios usually involve the addition of new scalars and fermions, which either implement the resonant enhancement of the asymmetry or provide an additional/dominant contribution to the neutrino mass generation (see, e.g., [210, 272–281]). In some scenarios (see Ref. [278] for an example of TeV scale type II and Refs. [279, 280] for TeV scale type I/III (inverse) seesaw mechanisms), an initial asymmetry is dynamically produced from lepton number conserving decays of new electroweak singlet fields and in a second step transferred to the SM leptons through the same Yukawa interactions which contribute to neutrino mass generation via the seesaw mechanism. All in all, this separation between the scale involved in the generation of the lepton/baryon asymmetry and the one responsible for neutrino masses, typically, increases the phenomenology and testability of this class of models. In particular, the new TeV scale fields carrying gauge interactions provide specific collider signatures, testable in the current run of LHC. Note that for type I leptogenesis low scale alternatives [210, 219, 282, 283] to the resonant mechanism are to consider a radiative generation of the neutrino masses, with either a hierarchy of couplings for the various seesaw states or with seesaw states decaying to three-body decays rather than to two-body

decays. To generate in those ways the baryon asymmetry from the decay of type II or III states does not help much because, still in these cases, too large gauge scatterings heavily suppress the result at low scale.

5. Testability of leptogenesis with extended gauge sectors

So far we just covered leptogenesis within seesaw models that are based on an extended matter sector with particles obeying the SM gauge groups. In the following, we open up the discussion for models with an extended gauge sector and allow for the observation of an additional gauge boson. As an example, we discuss the Z'and the L-R symmetric model.

5.1. TeV leptogenesis in Z' models

RH neutrinos realizing the seesaw mechanism may be connected to the presence of an extra gauge symmetry U(1)' and an extra gauge boson Z' at the TeV scale, which can be searched for at colliders. However, such U(1)' seesaw models have a difficulty to provide successful baryogenesis as the resulting lepton asymmetry is highly suppressed by efficient gauge annihilations through Z' mediation. Such a strong suppression may be compensated by a resonant enhancement, which generically involves an unpleasant fine-tuning. Nonetheless, it would be interesting to see if leptogenesis can work successfully in Z' models, or to set a limit on the Z' mass (or the U(1)' gauge coupling, g') for successful leptogenesis. Assuming the standard gauge coupling strength $\alpha' \equiv g'^2/4\pi = 1/60$ and maximal CP asymmetry, the Z'mass has to be larger than 2 - 3 TeV [284]. It will be an interesting task to find such a heavy Z' and the associated large CP violation required for TeV leptogenesis at colliders.

For a definite discussion, we assume a Z' model with $U(1)_{\chi}$ [285–287]. In terms of the SU(5) notation, the SM fermions and the singlet field N carry the $U(1)_{\chi}$ charges as follows:

10
$$(\frac{-1}{\sqrt{40}}), \quad \overline{\mathbf{5}}(\frac{3}{\sqrt{40}}), \quad \mathbf{1}(\frac{5}{\sqrt{40}}).$$

The Lagrangian of the RH neutrino sector reads as follows:

$$-\mathcal{L} = \lambda \ell \phi_u N + \frac{1}{2} \lambda SNN + h.c., \qquad (67)$$

where ℓ , ϕ_u and N denote the lepton, up-type Higgs and RH neutrino field (in chiral notation), respectively. The supersymmetric version has a similar superpotential, promoting all fields to the corresponding superfields. The spontaneous breaking of U(1)' by the vacuum expectation value, $\langle S \rangle$, generates the Z' mass $M_{Z'} \sim g' \langle S \rangle$ and the RH neutrino mass $M_k = \lambda_k \langle S \rangle$. In the non-supersymmetric seesaw models, resonant leptogenesis occurs, when two RH neutrinos $N_{1,2}$ are close in mass, $\Delta M = M_2 - M_1 \ll M_{1,2}$, and satisfy $\Delta M \approx \Gamma_{N_{1,2}}$. In the supersymmetric version,

leptogenesis can work even with one RH neutrino via "soft leptogenesis" and the resonance condition $B \approx \Gamma_{\tilde{N}}$ for the RH sneutrino \tilde{N} (fore more details see Sec. 6, in particular Sec. 6.2). The decay of a heavy seesaw particle X (which can be N or \tilde{N}) generating a CP asymmetry ϵ , will produce a lepton asymmetry in unit of the entropy density s, $Y_{\Delta \ell} = (n_{\ell} - n_{\bar{\ell}})/s$, following the Boltzmann equation:

$$\frac{dY_{\Delta X}}{dz} = -zK \left[\gamma_D (Y_{\Delta X} - Y_{\Delta X}^{eq}) + \gamma_A \frac{(Y_{\Delta X}^2 - Y_{\Delta X}^{eq^2})}{Y_{\Delta X}^{eq}} \right]
\frac{dY_{\Delta \ell}}{dz} = 2zK\gamma_D \left[\epsilon (Y_{\Delta X} - Y_{\Delta X}^{eq}) - \frac{Y_{\Delta X}^{eq}}{2Y_{\Delta \ell}^{eq}} Y_{\Delta \ell} \right],$$
(68)

where $K \equiv \Gamma_X/H(M)$ and $H(T) = 1.66\sqrt{g_*T^2}/M_{\rm Pl}$. Note that the above Boltzmann equation can be applicable for both, the non-supersymmetric and the supersymmetric (realized by soft leptogenesis) version taking X as either almost mass degenerate RH neutrinos $N_{1,2}$ or sneutrinos $\tilde{N}_{1,2}$, respectively. In both cases, we take the SM value $g_* = 106.75$. In Eq. (68), $\gamma_D = K_1(z)/K_2(z)$ is the usual contribution from RH (s)neutrino decays involving the neutrino Yukawa coupling λ , and γ_A accounts for the annihilation of X to the light SM fermions mediated by the heavy $Z': X\bar{X} \to Z' \to f\bar{f}$. The gauge annihilation contribution is given by

$$\gamma_A = \frac{5}{\pi} \frac{\alpha'^2 M_X}{KH(M_X)} \int_1^\infty dt \, \frac{K_1(2zt)}{K_2(z)} \frac{t^3 (t^2 - 1)^{3/2}}{(t^2 - \frac{1}{4}r^2)^2 + \frac{1}{16}u^2} \,, \tag{69}$$

with $r \equiv M_{Z'}/M_X$ and $u \equiv r\Gamma_{Z'}/M_X$. Estimating $\Gamma_X = h^2 M_X/4\pi$, we get $K \sim m_{\nu}/5 \times 10^{-4} \text{eV} \sim 100$ for $m_{\nu} = 0.05$ eV, independently of M_X . Note that the annihilation gets very strong with a huge factor, $M_X/H(M_X \sim 1\text{TeV})$. As one expects from such large K and an even larger gauge annihilation effect, the RH sneutrinos follow closely the thermal equilibrium distribution until very low temperature, and the lepton asymmetry freezes out at large z, that is, T < 100 GeV. Such a behavior is shown in Fig. 16, in which the evolution of the lepton asymmetry, $\log(Y_{\Delta L}/\epsilon)$, is plotted. The lepton asymmetry increases for a larger $M_{Z'}$, as annihilation processes are suppressed for heavy $M_{Z'}$. For lager z, the asymmetry reaches an asymptotic value for which the annihilation effect eventually drops out due to Boltzmann suppression.

Let us note that the lepton asymmetry is still increasing during the electroweak phase transition at $T \sim 100$ GeV, which is well before the asymptotic value is reached. Therefore, it is important to include the sphaleron effect after phase transition to obtain the right value for the baryon asymmetry. To do this, let us define $\tilde{Y}_{\Delta \ell} = Y_{\Delta L} - Y_{\Delta B}$ where the $\tilde{Y}_{\Delta \ell}$ is the solution of the above Boltzmann equations Eq. (68) as shown in Fig. 16. The baryon asymmetry can be expressed as

$$Y_{\Delta B}(z) = -\int_0^z dy \, A_1(y) \tilde{Y}_{\Delta \ell}(y) \exp[-\int_y^z dx \, A_2(x)], \qquad (70)$$



Fig. 16. The lepton asymmetry in unit of ϵ is calculated as a function of $z = M_X/T$ with $M_X = 0.3$ TeV and K = 500. The curves, $\log(Y_{\Delta L}/\epsilon)$, are for $M_{Z'} = 1, 2, 3$ and 4 TeV from below. Figure taken from Ref. [284].

with

$$A_1(z) = z \frac{\Gamma_{\text{EWsp}}}{H_1} \left(\frac{28}{51} + \frac{108}{561} \frac{v^2(T)}{T^2} \right)$$
$$A_2(z) = z \frac{\Gamma_{\text{EWsp}}}{H_1} \left(\frac{79}{51} + \frac{333}{561} \frac{v^2(T)}{T^2} \right)$$

 $\Gamma_{\rm EWsp}$ denotes the sphaleron interaction rate and $v(T) = v_0(1 - T^2/T_c^2)^{1/2}$ with $v_0 = 246$ GeV. Above the electroweak phase transition $T > T_c$, v(T) = 0 and $\Gamma_{\rm EWsp}$ can be taken to be infinitely large so that the standard result, $Y_{\Delta B} = -\frac{28}{51}Y_{\Delta L} = -\frac{28}{79}\tilde{Y}_{\Delta\ell}$, is recovered. Below T_c , several calculations for $\Gamma_{\rm EWsp}$ have been made within the validity range of $M_W(T) \ll T \ll M_W(T)/\alpha_w$ [288–291], which indicates that the sphaleron interaction is still very active just below T_c and its freeze-out happens somewhat later [292]. One finds that $\Gamma_{\rm EWsp}$ is an extremely steep function of T and thus it is a fairly good approximation to calculate the final baryon asymmetry as follows:

$$Y_{\Delta B} \approx -\frac{A_1}{A_2} \tilde{Y}_{\Delta \ell} \Big|_{T_{\rm EWsp}} \approx -\frac{1}{3} \tilde{Y}_{\Delta \ell} \Big|_{T_{\rm EWsp}}, \tag{71}$$

with $T_{\rm EWsp}$ being the sphaleron freeze-out temperature. There is an uncertainty in determining $T_{\rm EWsp}$, which arises from the limited knowledge in calculating the sphaleron rate given by

$$\gamma_{\Delta(B+L)} = 4\pi\kappa\omega_{-}\mathcal{N}_{\rm tr}\mathcal{N}_{\rm rot}\alpha_{3}^{-6} \left(\frac{\alpha_{W}T}{4\pi}\right)^{3} e^{-E_{\rm EWsp}/T}.$$
(72)

The most uncertain quantity, κ , is known to lie in the range $\kappa = (10^{-4} - 1)$ [288–291]. Adopting the parameters given in Ref. [292], we find $T_{\text{EWsp}} = 80 - 90$ GeV, which



Fig. 17. The baryon asymmetry in unit of ϵ is shown with respect to $M_{Z'}$ /TeV for K = 100. The curves, $\log(Y_{\Delta B}/\epsilon)$, are for $M_X = 0.3, 0.6$ and 0.9 TeV from below on the right-hand side. Figure taken from Ref. [284].

is in the region of $T > M_W(T)$ to which the above sphaleron calculation (Eq. (71)) may be well extended. Current lattice calculations point us, however, to higher values for the electroweak sphaleron freeze-out temperature $T_{\rm EWSp} = 131.7 \pm 2.3$ GeV [69].

Following the above prescription, the baryon asymmetry, $\log(Y_{\Delta B}/\epsilon)$, can be calculated as a function of $M_{Z'}$ for various values of M_X and is shown in Fig. 17, taking $T_{\rm EWsp} = 90$ GeV. As one can see, Y_B depends strongly on the masses, $M_{Z'}$ and M_X . It is, however, almost unaffected by a variation of K in the range: $K = 10 - 10^3$. Requiring $Y_{\Delta B}/\epsilon > 10^{-10}$, one obtains a lower bound on $M_{Z'}$: $M_{Z'} > (2.3 - 3)$ TeV for $M_X = (0.3 - 0.9)$ TeV. Taking $T_{\rm EWsp} = 80$ GeV, the bound becomes weaker: $M_{Z'} > (2.1 - 2.6)$ TeV.

Current LHC experiments are already probing the multi-TeV region of Z' models. For the $U(1)_{\chi}$ model, the latest bound on the Z' mass is about 3.7 TeV [293], which requires $M_X \leq 1$ TeV according to Fig. 17. A crucial test of TeV leptogenesis in Z' models is by observing CP asymmetry in the RH neutrino (sneutrino) decay, $N \to \ell^{\pm} W^{\mp} (\tilde{N} \to \ell^{\pm} \tilde{\chi}^{\mp})$ following the production $pp \to Z' \to NN(\tilde{N}\tilde{N}^{\dagger})$ (here and in the following, ℓ^{\pm} indicates specifically the charged leptons $e^{\pm}, \mu^{\pm}, \tau^{\pm}$). RH neutrinos, being Majorana particles, decay to both-sign leptons $N \to \ell^{\pm} W^{\mp}$ leading to clean signals of same-sign di-leptons at the LHC. The CP asymmetry ϵ relevant for the leptogenesis can be measured by

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathcal{N}(\ell^- \ell^-) - \mathcal{N}(\ell^+ \ell^+)}{\mathcal{N}(\ell^- \ell^-) + \mathcal{N}(\ell^+ \ell^+)}.$$
(73)

For the sneutrinos \tilde{N} and \tilde{N}^{\dagger} , having the definite decay mode $\tilde{N} \to \ell^+ \tilde{\chi}^-$ and $\tilde{N}^{\dagger} \to \ell^- \tilde{\chi}^-$, a similar relation arises through $\tilde{N} - \tilde{N}^{\dagger}$ oscillation: $pp \to Z' \to$

 $\tilde{N}\tilde{N}^{\dagger} \Rightarrow \tilde{N}\tilde{N} \ (\tilde{N}^{\dagger}\tilde{N}^{\dagger}) \rightarrow \ell^{+}\ell^{+} \ (\ell^{-}\ell^{-}).$ Furthermore, the sneutrino oscillation parameter, $x \equiv \Delta M_{\tilde{N}}/\Gamma_{\tilde{N}} = B/\Gamma_{\tilde{N}}$, could be measured by

$$\frac{\mathcal{N}(\ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm})}{\mathcal{N}(\ell^{-}\ell^{+})} = \frac{r}{1+r^{2}},$$
(74)

where $r \equiv x^2/(2+x^2)$. Similar, but more spectacular phenomena can occur in the resonant type II seesaw, which will be discussed in Sec. 6.2.

To summarize, U(1)' seesaw models can lead to successful leptogenesis for a Z' mass above ~ 3 TeV provided a resonant condition. Such a realization could be tested by observing large CP violation in the same-sign di-lepton final states as well as by sneutrino-antisneutrino oscillation phenomena.

5.2. Leptogenesis in left-right symmetric models

In the context of the SM electroweak gauge group $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$, the two main features of the seesaw mechanism [47, 294–297], namely, the existence of RH neutrinos and endowing them with a Majorana mass which breaks the accidental global B - L symmetry of the SM, do not follow from any underlying principle. Extending the EW gauge group to the L-R symmetric gauge group $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_{B-L}$ [298–300] provides a simple ultraviolet-complete seesaw model. Here, the RH neutrinos are a necessary part of the model guaranteed by the gauge symmetry and anomaly cancellations, and do not have to be added ab initio to implement the seesaw mechanism [47, 294–297]. An important point is that the RH neutrinos acquire a Majorana mass as soon as the $SU(2)_R$ symmetry is broken at a scale v_R . This is quite analogous to the way the charged fermions get masses in the SM by the Higgs mechanism when the $SU(2)_L$ gauge symmetry is broken at the EW scale v. The Higgs field that gives mass to the RH neutrinos becomes the analogue of the 125 GeV Higgs boson discovered at the LHC.

Just as in the minimal seesaw with RH neutrinos, the observed baryon asymmetry of the Universe can be explained in the L-R seesaw by the mechanism of leptogenesis. For this to be both efficient and testable in laboratory experiments, we need two main ingredients: (i) low RH scale v_R not far above the TeV scale, so that the RH neutrino effects are experimentally accessible; (ii) quasi-degeneracy between at least two RH neutrinos, with the mass difference comparable to their decay widths in order to have a resonant enhancement of the CP asymmetry [68, 224, 301], thus avoiding the Davidson-Ibarra lower bound of ~ 10⁹ GeV on the RH neutrino mass [23, 302] for successful leptogenesis (see Eq. (7)). Unlike in the minimal seesaw case, we do not necessarily require the Yukawa couplings to be large in L-R seesaw for observable RH neutrino effects, thanks to the purely RH gauge interactions. For instance, both the production and decay of the RH neutrinos at colliders can proceed via the RH charged-current process $pp \to W_R \to N\ell^{\pm} \to \ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}jj$ [118, 303–308], regardless of the size of the Yukawa couplings. Similarly, the low-energy rare processes, such as lepton flavor violation [309–312] and $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay [313–317] receive

additional contributions from the RH gauge sector which could enhance these signals for low-scale L-R seesaw.

However, the same RH gauge interactions that lead to new experimental signals in the L-R seesaw could have potentially dangerous effects on successful leptogenesis [318–322]. This is because a single RH neutrino can interact through W_R exchange with SM fermions which are all in thermal equilibrium, thereby inducing very efficient scatterings, such as $Ne_R \leftrightarrow d_R \bar{u}_R$, $Nu_R \leftrightarrow e_R d_R$, $Nd_R \leftrightarrow e_R u_R$, as well as decays $N \to W_R^* \ell \to \ell j j$, which are CP-conserving and therefore contribute to the dilution of the lepton asymmetry generated from the CP-violating decay of the RH neutrinos $N \to \ell \phi, \ell^c \phi^c$. Since in generic versions of the TeV-scale seesaw model, sub-eV neutrino masses would require the Dirac Yukawa couplings to be $\lambda \leq 10^{-5}$, the additional dilution effects would lead to an efficiency factor $\kappa \sim \frac{\lambda^2 M_{W_R}^4}{g_R^4 M_N^4}$ (g_R being the $SU(2)_R$ gauge coupling, which is assumed to be equal to the $SU(2)_L$ gauge coupling in the minimal L-R seesaw), which is too small for a lowscale leptogenesis to work. Through a detailed analysis of the relevant Boltzmann equations, it was concluded in [319] that even for maximal CP asymmetry $\epsilon \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$, the observed value of the baryon asymmetry can be explained by leptogenesis in the minimal L-R model, only if $M_{W_R} \geq 18$ TeV. Turning this argument around, if a positive signal for W_R is observed at the LHC, this will falsify leptogenesis in L-R seesaw framework. It is worth noting here that the leptogenesis constraint on W_R is significantly more stringent than that on Z' (see Section 5.1) mainly because the Z'-induced RH neutrino scattering processes are doubly Boltzmann suppressed, and therefore, their interaction rates drop more quickly than the decay/inverse decay rate and the W_R induced scattering, which are simply Boltzmann suppressed.

Since this is such an important issue for the survival of the L-R seesaw leptogenesis, it is worth examining the robustness of the lower bound on M_{W_R} to see if there exists any allowed parameter space in TeV-scale L-R seesaw models with successful leptogenesis for smaller values of M_{W_B} . The basic idea is that the only source term for leptogenesis comes from the CP-violating RH neutrino decays $N \to \ell \phi, \ell^c \phi^c$, which depends on the Dirac Yukawa coupling. So, for a class of the L-R seesaw models with larger Yukawa couplings [323], it is in principle possible to overcome the large dilution effect induced by a lighter W_R , thereby weakening the lower bound on M_{W_R} [320, 321]. Of course, a TeV-scale type I seesaw with large Yukawa couplings comes with the price of fine-tuning in the seesaw matrix in order to be consistent with the light neutrino oscillation data [324]. However, such special textures of the Dirac and Majorana neutrino mass matrices can be motivated from some flavor symmetry in the leptonic sector, which ensures their stability against large radiative corrections [323, 325]. For such L-R seesaw models with large Dirac Yukawa couplings and taking into account flavor effects, it was found that successful leptogenesis requires $M_{W_R} \ge 9.9$ TeV for the maximal CP asymmetry [321]. A similar estimate of this absolute lower bound was also given in Ref. [319]. This absolute lower bound is not too far from the generic bound of 18 TeV, which is consistent

with the expectation that flavor effects cannot significantly alter the results because gauge scatterings are flavor-blind. For comparison, the $\sqrt{s} = 14$ TeV LHC with the high-luminosity option can probe W_R masses only up to 5-6 TeV [326]. Therefore, a positive signal for W_R at the LHC will indeed falsify leptogenesis as a mechanism for understanding the origin of matter in L-R seesaw framework.

5.2.1. Boltzmann Equations

The basic steps in our analysis are as follows: first we calculate the flavored CP asymmetry

$$\epsilon_{k\alpha} = \frac{1}{\Gamma_{N_k}} [\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha \phi) - \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha^c \phi^c)], \qquad (75)$$

where the partial decay widths are given in terms of the resummed Yukawa couplings in the RH neutrino mass eigenbasis [68, 327],

$$\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha \phi) = \frac{M_k}{16\pi} \lambda_{\alpha k} \lambda_{\alpha k}^* , \qquad \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha^c \phi^c) = \frac{M_k}{16\pi} \lambda_{\alpha k}^c \lambda_{\alpha k}^{c*} .$$
(76)

and the total decay width is given by

$$\Gamma_{N_k} = \sum_{\alpha} \left[\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha \phi) + \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha^c \phi^c) \right] + 2 \, \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_R q_R \bar{q}_R') \,. \tag{77}$$

Note that the last term in Eq. (77) is due to the three-body decay mediated by W_R :

$$\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_R q_R \bar{q}_R') = \Gamma(N_k \to \bar{\ell}_R \bar{q}_R q_R')
= \frac{3g_R^4}{2^9 \pi^3 M_k^3} \int_0^{M_k^2} ds \frac{M_k^6 - 3M_k^2 s^2 + 2s^3}{(s - M_{W_R}^2)^2 + M_{W_R}^2 \Gamma_{W_R}^2},$$
(78)

where $\Gamma_{W_R} \simeq (g_R^2/4\pi)M_{W_R}$ is the total decay width of W_R , assuming that all three heavy neutrinos are lighter than W_R . The CP asymmetry Eq. (75) in our case is determined by the RH neutrino Majorana mass matrix, as well as the magnitudes of the Yukawa couplings, and these parameters are constrained by the light neutrino and charged lepton mass and mixing parameters in the L-R model [323].

The next step is to calculate the thermodynamic evolution of the normalized heavy neutrino and lepton doublet number densities η_k^N and $\eta_{\alpha}^{\Delta L}$ respectively, where $\eta^X \equiv (n^X - n^{\bar{X}})/n_{\gamma}$ and $n_{\gamma} = 2M_1^3 \zeta(3)/(\pi^2 z^3)$ is the photon number density, $\zeta(x)$ being the Riemann zeta function. For simplicity, we use the flavor-diagonal Boltzmann equations:

$$\frac{d\eta_k^N}{dz} = -\left(\frac{\eta_k^N}{\eta_{\rm eq}^N} - 1\right) \left(D_k + S_k\right), \tag{79}$$

$$\frac{d\eta_{\alpha}^{\Delta L}}{dz} = \sum_{k} \epsilon_{k\alpha} \left(\frac{\eta_{k}^{N}}{\eta_{\text{eq}}^{N}} - 1\right) \widetilde{D}_{k} - \frac{2}{3} \eta_{\alpha}^{\Delta L} W_{\alpha} , \qquad (80)$$

where $z = M_1/T$ is a dimensionless variable (*T* being the temperature of the Universe) and $\eta_{eq}^N \equiv n_{eq}^N/n_{\gamma} = z^2 K_2(z)/2\zeta(3)$ is the heavy neutrino equilibrium number density, $K_n(x)$ being the *n*-th order modified Bessel function of the second kind.

The various decay (D_k, \tilde{D}_k) , scattering (S_k) , and washout (W_α) rates appearing in Eq. (79) and Eq. (80) are given by

$$\widetilde{D}_{k} = \frac{z}{n_{\gamma} H_{N}} \sum_{\beta} \widetilde{\gamma}_{k\beta}^{D}, \tag{81}$$

$$D_k = \frac{z}{n_{\gamma} H_N} \sum_{\beta} \gamma_{k\beta}^D, \tag{82}$$

$$S_k = \frac{z}{n_{\gamma} H_N} \sum_{\beta} (\gamma_{k\beta}^{S_L} + \gamma_{k\beta}^{S_R}), \tag{83}$$

$$W_{\alpha} = \frac{z}{n_{\gamma}H_{N}} \left[\sum_{k} \left(B_{k\beta} \sum_{\beta} \gamma_{k\beta}^{D} + \tilde{\gamma}_{k\alpha}^{S_{L}} + \tilde{\gamma}_{k\alpha}^{S_{R}} \right) + \sum_{\beta} \left(\gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{(\Delta L=2)} + \gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{(\Delta L=0)} \right) \right]$$

$$\equiv \frac{1}{2\zeta(3)} z^{3} K_{1}(z) K_{\alpha}^{\text{eff}}(z) , \qquad (84)$$

where $H_N \equiv H(z=1) \simeq 17 M_1^2/M_{\rm Pl}$ is the Hubble parameter at z=1, assuming only SM degrees of freedom in the thermal bath, and $B_{k\alpha}$ is the branching fraction of the RH neutrino decays relevant for the generation of CP asymmetry:

$$B_{k\alpha} = \frac{1}{\Gamma_{N_k}} [\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha \phi) + \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha^c \phi^c)].$$
(85)

The various γ 's appearing in Eq. (81) to Eq. (84) represent the reaction rates that involve the RH neutrino decays and inverse decays as well as other $2 \leftrightarrow 2$ scattering processes in the model (see Ref. [320] for details). Only the two-body decays of the RH neutrinos involving complex Yukawa couplings are responsible for building up the CP asymmetry, whereas all other processes lead to dilution/washout effects.

We present in Fig. 18 the evolution of the various collision rates, where the left panel shows the evolution of the normalized heavy neutrino number density Eq. (79), while the right panel shows it for the lepton doublet number density Eq. (80). The vertical dashed line indicates the critical value $z = z_c$ beyond which the sphaleron processes become ineffective. The horizontal dashed line is shown for easy comparison with the Hubble rate.

5.2.2. Lower bound of M_{W_B}

Now we discuss our procedure to derive a lower bound of M_{W_R} which is compatible with successful leptogenesis in the L-R seesaw model with all three RH neutrino masses being quasi-degenerate. In the strong washout regime, the flavored lepton asymmetry is approximately given by [204]

$$\eta_{k\alpha}^{\Delta L}(z) \simeq \frac{3}{2zK_{\alpha}^{\text{eff}}(z)} \epsilon_{k\alpha} \frac{D_k(z)}{D_k(z) + S_k(z)} , \qquad (86)$$

where K_{α}^{eff} is the effective washout parameter as defined in Eq. (84) and $\widetilde{D}/(D+S)$ is the effective dilution factor. The total lepton asymmetry is given by Eq. (86),



Fig. 18. Thermodynamic evolution of various reaction rates in the L-R seesaw leptogenesis. m_N indicates in this plot the mass scale of the heavy neutrino M_N . Figure taken from Ref. [321].

which can be rewritten using Eq. (84) as

$$\eta^{\Delta L}(z) = \sum_{k\alpha} \eta^{\Delta L}_{k\alpha} = \frac{3}{4\zeta(3)} z^2 K_1(z) \sum_{k\alpha} \frac{1}{W_\alpha(z)} \epsilon_{k\alpha} \frac{\widetilde{D}_k(z)}{D_k(z) + S_k(z)} .$$
(87)

This is to be compared with $\eta_{\rm obs}^{\Delta L} = -(2.47 \pm 0.03) \times 10^{-8}$, which reproduces the observed value of the baryon asymmetry $\eta^{\Delta B}$ as in Eq. (1), after taking into account the sphaleron conversion rate and the entropy dilution factors.

For the purpose of deriving a lower bound on M_{W_R} , we assume that the dominant dilution effect comes from the W_R -mediated scattering processes, i.e., $S_k \approx \sum_{\beta} S_{Rk} = 3S_{Rk}$ where $S_{Rk} \equiv z \tilde{\gamma}_{k\beta}^{S_R}/(n_{\gamma}H_N)$. This follows from the fact that gauge interactions are flavor-blind, and hence, $\tilde{\gamma}_{k\beta}^{S_R}$ has no dependence on lepton flavors. Similarly, when all the RH neutrino masses are quasi-degenerate, we can write $S_R \equiv \sum_k S_{Rk} \approx 3S_{Rk}$. We also assume that $D = \sum_k D_k \approx 3D_k$ for simplicity. Note that S_R is not summed over lepton flavors while D is. We further define $\epsilon_{k\alpha}^Y$ and $B_{k\alpha}^Y$ as the CP asymmetry and branching ratio, respectively, without the three-body decay width included in the denominator of Eq. (75) and Eq. (85). For simplicity, we further assume that the branching ratios of the decay process $N_k \to \ell_{\alpha} \phi$ are the same for all the lepton flavors. With all the above-mentioned reasonable assumptions, we can approximate the total lepton asymmetry in Eq. (87) at the critical temperature as

$$\begin{aligned} |\eta^{\Delta L}(z_c)| &\approx \frac{3z_c^2 K_1(z_c)}{4\zeta(3)} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{\sum_k [B_{k\alpha} D_k(z_c) + S_{Rk}(z_c)]} \left| \sum_k \epsilon_{k\alpha} \frac{D_k(z_c)}{D_k(z_c) + 3S_{Rk}(z_c)} \right| \\ &\approx \frac{9}{4\zeta(3)} \frac{z_c^2 K_1(z_c)}{S_R(z_c)} \frac{r_s r_d^2}{(3 + r_s r_d)(3 + r_s)} \epsilon_{\text{tot}}^Y , \end{aligned}$$
(88)

where the ratios $r_s \equiv D(z_c)/S_R(z_c)$ and $r_d \equiv D(z_c)/D(z_c)$ parameterize the relative dilution effect for the two-body decay, W_R -mediated decay and W_R -mediated scattering processes. The values of r_s and r_d depend on M_N , M_{W_R} , and the Yukawa coupling λ . Assuming a specific value of λ and calculating the two-body decay width simply as $\Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha \phi) = \Gamma(N_k \to \ell_\alpha^c \phi^c) = \lambda^2 M_k/16\pi$, we can evaluate these parameters as functions of M_k and M_{W_R} .



Fig. 19. Contour plots of $|\eta^{\Delta L}(z_c)| = 2.47 \times 10^{-8}$ for $\lambda = 10^{-3.8}$ (dashed lines) and $\lambda = 10^{-3.5}$ (solid lines) with $\epsilon_{\text{tot}}^Y = 1$ (red lines) and $\epsilon_{\text{tot}}^Y = 3$ (blue lines). The non-trivial dependence on the Yukawa coupling is due to the interplay of decay and dilution/washout terms, which is further illustrated in Fig. 20. m_N indicates in this plot the mass scale of the heavy neutrino M_N . The green dot corresponds to the example fit value presented in Ref. [321] from which this plot is taken.

Figure 19 shows the contour plots of $|\eta^{\Delta L}(z_c)| = 2.47 \times 10^{-8}$ for two different Yukawa couplings $\lambda = 10^{-3.8}$ and $\lambda = 10^{-3.5}$. The red curves correspond to $\epsilon_{tot}^Y =$ 1, which is the total CP asymmetry in the example fit given in Ref. [321]. Any region outside the red curve is incompatible with successful leptogenesis under the assumptions we introduced to obtain it, i.e. $M_1 \approx M_2 \approx M_3$, $B_{k1}^Y \approx B_{k2}^Y \approx B_{k3}^Y \approx$ 1/3, $\epsilon_{tot}^Y = 1$ for the two specific values of λ . For $\lambda = 10^{-3.8}$, we find that the lowest value of M_{W_R} allowed for $\epsilon_{tot}^Y = 1$ is 13 TeV at around $M_k = 580$ TeV. If we use the same expression and take the maximal CP asymmetry allowed in principle, i.e. $\epsilon_{tot}^Y \equiv \sum_{k\alpha} \epsilon_{k\alpha}^Y = 3$, then we obtain the blue curves Fig. 19. With this maximal CP asymmetry, we have found that the Yukawa coupling $\lambda = 10^{-3.5}$ gives the lower bound of $M_{W_R} = 9.9$ TeV at $M_k = 630$ GeV.

The Yukawa couplings cannot be increased arbitrarily without spoiling the lepton asymmetry, since not only the source term due to the two-body decay of the RH neutrinos, but also the dilution/washout effects due to inverse decay $\ell\phi \to N$ and $\Delta L = 2$ scattering $\ell\phi \leftrightarrow \ell^c \phi^c$ increase with the Yukawa couplings. Similarly, for very small values of the Yukawa couplings, the branching fraction of the two-body decay mode becomes comparable or smaller than the three-body decay mode due to W_R interactions, and therefore, the dilution/washout effect again increases. Thus, successful leptogenesis works only in a range of the Yukawa coupling parameter space. This is shown in the three-dimensional plot given in Fig. 20, where we see



Fig. 20. The allowed region of parameter space (blue shaded region) yielding successful leptogenesis in the L-R seesaw model of Ref. [321] from which this plot is taken. The vertical gray surfaces show the bound on the Yukawa couplings $(h = \lambda)$, while the horizontal pink surface shows the lower bound on M_{W_R} . m_N indicates in this plot the mass scale of the heavy neutrino M_N .

that leptogenesis constraints in the given L-R model require the Yukawa coupling to be $10^{-5.6} \leq \lambda \leq 10^{-3.2}$. The robustness of the lower bound on M_{W_R} obtained in Fig. 19 can also be verified from Fig. 20.

In summary, observing a heavy W_R gauge boson at the LHC would directly exclude leptogenesis in the L-R symmetric model, as for $M_{W_R} < 10$ TeV the dilution effect due to W_R -induced scattering processes is too strong to yield the observed baryon asymmetry. Hereby, the precise limit on the W_R mass depends highly on the assumption of Dirac Yukawa couplings as was discussed above, but the statement on the falsifiability of leptogenesis by the LHC holds true in all cases studied here.

6. Testability of supersymmetric leptogenesis

When supersymmetry (SUSY) is imposed on leptogenesis, new (undesirable, neutral and desirable) features arise:

(1) Undesirable. The main undesirable feature is the gravitino problem [328, 329]:^v The thermal production of gravitinos increases with the reheating temperature $T_{\rm R}$. While the limit on its abundance places an upper bound

^vTo include gravity, SUSY should be local.

on $T_{\rm R}$ (in order not to overclose the Universe), thermal production of RH neutrinos for leptogenesis requires a minimum $T_{\rm R}$. The severity of this tension is model-dependent: besides $T_{\rm R}$ and the gravitino mass, it also depends on the mass spectrum of supersymmetric particles. For stable gravitinos (a form of dark matter) $T_{\rm R} \leq 10^9$ GeV (see a recent study [330] and the references therein) while for unstable gravitinos $T_{\rm R} \leq 10^5 - 10^{10}$ GeV with stringent bounds coming mainly from BBN constraints (see Ref. [331] and the references therein). For hierarchical RH neutrinos, however, a dedicated study [332] in supersymmetric type I leptogenesis gives $T_{\rm R} \gtrsim 10^9$ GeV. (See Sec. 4 for possibilities of lowering the scale of leptogenesis by extending seesaw models.)

- (2) Neutral. Doubling degrees of freedom and new effective global symmetries at high temperature are neutral features [333]. In type I leptogenesis, the impact of doubling degrees of freedom [334–336] and new global symmetries [337] give rise to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ modifications with respect to non-SUSY scenarios.
- (3) Desirable. A desirable feature of SUSY leptogenesis is the introduction of new sources of CP violation, arising from the soft SUSY breaking terms (or just soft terms) [283, 338–340]. Via dimensional analysis, one can naively estimate the leading CP parameter from the soft term of scale m_{soft} to be

$$|\epsilon| \sim \frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{m_{\text{soft}}}{M_1}.$$
(89)

Requiring large enough CP violation (typically $|\epsilon| \gtrsim 10^{-6}$, see Sec. 4), one can derive the following condition for the lightest heavy neutrino mass

$$M_1 \lesssim 10^7 \left(\frac{m_{\text{soft}}}{1 \,\text{TeV}}\right) \,\text{GeV}.$$
 (90)

This relaxes or completely avoids the gravitino problem. In a particular realization known as soft leptogenesis [339, 340], it was shown that utilizing the new effective global symmetries, an enhancement as large as $\mathcal{O}(100)$ can be obtained [341], turning the previously neutral feature to a desirable one.

6.1. Type I soft leptogenesis

Here we will work within the framework of type I seesaw soft leptogenesis based on [339, 340] (see a recent review [342]). Since the CP violation comes from soft terms, leptogenesis proceeds through decays of RH sneutrinos \tilde{N}_k and its antiparticles \tilde{N}_k^* . In particular, soft leptogenesis can proceed even within one generation of RH sneutrinos since the otherwise degenerate masses of \tilde{N}_k and \tilde{N}_k^* within a single generation will be split due to the presence of soft bilinear B_k terms. In the following we will assume that the RH neutrinos are hierarchical such that only the lightest RH sneutrino \tilde{N}_1 is relevant for soft leptogenesis. Henceforth, we will drop the family index of RH neutrinos, e.g. $N \equiv N_1$ and $\lambda_\alpha \equiv \lambda_{\alpha 1}$, etc..

In the original proposal [339, 340] a soft trilinear term A_{α} which is proportional to the neutrino Yukawa coupling $A_{\alpha} = A\lambda_{\alpha}$ was assumed. As a result, the leading CP violation vanishes in the limit of zero temperature, while only with thermal effects, the cancellation between asymmetries from the decays of RH sneutrinos to leptons and sleptons is avoided, resulting in a finite, but suppressed total lepton asymmetry. Furthermore, a small soft bilinear term $B \ll m_{\text{soft}}$ is required to resonantly enhance the CP violation to achieve successful leptogenesis.

In the following, however, we will focus on a generic trilinear soft A_{α} term [343] in soft leptogenesis [344], which results in interesting consequences:

- (a) The leading CP violation can be nonzero even when thermal corrections are neglected, implying a *nonthermal* and enhanced CP violation.
- (b) The mixing CP violation away from the resonance is of the order of $\lambda_{\alpha} A_{\alpha}/B$ and large enough for leptogenesis. As a result, a natural $B \sim m_{\text{soft}}$ can be maintained.
- (c) The generic A_{α} gives contributions to charged lepton flavor violating processes which are close to the sensitivities of present and future experiments.

In order to discuss the aforementioned consequences, we assume the temperature range $T \lesssim 10^8$ GeV for $m_{\rm soft} \sim 1$ TeV, where the effective global symmetries discussed in Ref. [333] are absent. The enhancement effects of effective global symmetries in soft leptogenesis are discussed in Ref. [341] and will not be considered further.

The superpotential for type I seesaw is given by

$$W_N = \frac{1}{2} M_N \hat{N^c} \hat{N^c} + \lambda_\alpha \hat{\ell}_\alpha \hat{N^c} \hat{\phi}_u, \qquad (91)$$

where \hat{N}^c , $\hat{\ell}_{\alpha}$ and $\hat{\phi}_u$ denotes the chiral superfields of the RH neutrinos, the lepton doublet and the up-type Higgs doublet, respectively, and α indicates the RH neutrino lepton flavor index. We have left the contraction between $SU(2)_L$ doublets $\hat{\ell}_{\alpha}\hat{\phi}_u = \epsilon_{ab}\hat{\ell}_{\alpha}^a\hat{\phi}_u^b$ implicit. The corresponding soft terms are

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}} = \widetilde{M}_N^2 \widetilde{N}^* \widetilde{N} + \left(\frac{1}{2} B M_N \widetilde{N} \widetilde{N} + A_\alpha \widetilde{N} \widetilde{\ell}_\alpha \phi_u + \text{h.c.}\right), \tag{92}$$

where in the above and in the following, \tilde{x} denotes the superpartner of the corresponding SM field x.

Through field redefinitions, it can be shown that we have three physical phases

$$\Phi_{\alpha} = \arg\left(A_{\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha}^{*}B^{*}\right),\tag{93}$$

and without loss of generality, the phases can be assigned to A_{α} and all other parameters will be taken to be real and positive.^w Due to the bilinear *B* term, \tilde{N} and \tilde{N}^* mix to form mass eigenstates

$$\widetilde{N}_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\widetilde{N} + \widetilde{N}^{*} \right), \qquad \widetilde{N}_{-} = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\widetilde{N} - \widetilde{N}^{*} \right), \qquad (94)$$

^wHere we do not assume the proportionality of A_{α} to the neutrino Yukawa couplings $(A_{\alpha} = A\lambda_{\alpha})$ as has been done in Refs. [339, 340, 345] which results in only one physical phase $\Phi = \arg(AB^*)$.



Fig. 21. One-loop self-energy diagrams for the decays $\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to \ell_{\alpha} \widetilde{\phi}_{u}$ [(a),(d)] and $\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to \widetilde{\ell}_{\alpha} \phi_{u}$ [(b),(c),(e),(f)]. The arrow indicates the flow of lepton number. The dotted vertical lines indicate the possibility of on-shell propagators. The diagrams with fermionic loop and fermionic final states do not contribute to the CP violation since they do not involve the soft couplings A_{α} . Figure taken from Ref. [343].

with the corresponding masses given by $\widetilde{M}_{\pm}^2 = M_N^2 + \widetilde{M}_N^2 \pm BM_N$. We assume $B < M_N + \widetilde{M}_N^2/M_N$ to avoid a tachyonic mass which in turn implies that \widetilde{N}_- will develop a vacuum expectation value. Rewriting the interactions in terms of mass eigenstates \widetilde{N}_{\pm} , we have

$$-\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left\{ \widetilde{N}_{+} \left[\lambda_{\alpha} \overline{\widetilde{\phi}_{u}^{c}} \ell_{\alpha} + (A_{\alpha} + M_{N} \lambda_{\alpha}) \widetilde{\ell}_{\alpha} \phi_{u} \right] + i \widetilde{N}_{-} \left[\lambda_{\alpha} \overline{\widetilde{\phi}_{u}^{c}} \ell_{\alpha} + (A_{\alpha} - M_{N} \lambda_{\alpha}) \widetilde{\ell}_{\alpha} \phi_{u} \right] + \text{h.c.} \right\}.$$
(95)

The total decay width for \widetilde{N}_{\pm} is given by

$$\Gamma_{\pm} \simeq \frac{M_N}{4\pi} \sum_{\alpha} \left[\lambda_{\alpha}^2 + \frac{|A_{\alpha}|^2}{2M_N^2} \pm \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}(A_{\alpha})}{M_N} \right], \tag{96}$$

where we have expanded up to $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_{\alpha}^2, m_{\text{soft}}^2/M_N^2, \lambda_{\alpha}m_{\text{soft}}/M_N)$ and ignored the final state phase space factors. We will impose the restriction that $|A_{\alpha}|, B < M_N$ and $\lambda_{\alpha} < 1$ to ensure that we are always in the perturbative regime.

Implying the out-of-equilibrium condition for leptogenesis ($\Gamma_{\pm} \leq H(T = M_N)$) with the MSSM relativistic degrees of freedom $g_{\star} = 228.75$, one gets the following relation

$$\sqrt{\sum_{\alpha} \left[\lambda_{\alpha}^2 + \frac{|A_{\alpha}|^2}{2M_N^2} \pm \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}(A_{\alpha})}{M_N}\right]} \lesssim 1.6 \times 10^{-5} \left(\frac{M_N}{10^7 \, \mathrm{GeV}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (97)

If $M_N \sim \text{TeV}$, we require $|A_{\alpha}| \lesssim 10^{-4} \text{ GeV}$ and the mass splitting between \tilde{N}_+ and \tilde{N}_- to be of the order of their decay widths to resonantly enhance the CP violation. To avoid such tuning, we consider $|A_{\alpha}| \sim \text{TeV}$ in the following such that Eq. (97) implies $M_N \gtrsim 4 \times 10^7 \text{GeV}$.

Further, we define the CP asymmetry arising from the decays $\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to a_{\alpha}$, with $a_{\alpha} = \{\widetilde{\ell}_{\alpha}\phi_u, \ell_{\alpha}\widetilde{\phi}_u\}$, as

$$\epsilon_{\pm\alpha} \equiv \frac{\gamma(\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to a_{\alpha}) - \gamma(\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to \overline{a_{\alpha}})}{\sum_{a_{\beta};\beta} \left[\gamma(\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to a_{\beta}) + \gamma(\widetilde{N}_{\pm} \to \overline{a_{\beta}})\right]},\tag{98}$$

where $\overline{a_{\alpha}}$ indicates the CP conjugate of a_{α} and $\gamma(i \rightarrow j)$ is the thermal averaged reaction density of the process $i \rightarrow j$. We will only consider CP violation arising from interference between tree-level and one-loop self-energy diagrams as shown in Fig. 21.Vertex contributions were shown to be negligible [343] and will not be considered further. As pointed out in Refs. [339, 340], thermal effects are crucial to prevent the cancellation of leading CP asymmetries from the decays of \tilde{N}_{\pm} to leptons and sleptons. However, terms higher order in m_{soft}/M_N can dominate when considering generic A_{α} [343].

In the following, we will focus on two interesting limits of Eq. (98), the full expressions can be found in Ref. [343].

(i) In the limit $\lambda_{\alpha} \gg A_{\alpha}/M_N$, Eq. (98) leads to

$$\epsilon_{\pm\alpha} \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi} P_{\alpha} \sum_{\beta} \lambda_{\beta} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(A_{\beta})}{M_{N}} \frac{4BM_{N}}{4B^{2} + \Gamma_{\lambda}^{2}} \frac{c_{F}(T) - c_{B}(T)}{c_{F}(T) + c_{B}(T)} r_{B}(T), \quad (99)$$

where we define $P_{\alpha} \equiv \lambda_{\alpha}^2/\lambda^2$ with $\sum_{\alpha} P_{\alpha} = 1$ and $\lambda \equiv \sum_{\alpha} \lambda_{\alpha}$. We define $\Gamma_{\lambda} \equiv \frac{\lambda^2 M_N}{4\pi}$, terms higher order in m_{soft}/M_N are neglected. The parameters $r_B(T)$ and $c_{B,F}(T)$ go to one for $T \to 0$ such that the CP asymmetry in Eq. (99), being proportional to $c_F(T) - c_B(T)$, goes as well to zero for $T \to 0$. The explicit expressions of $r_B(T)$ and $c_{B,F}(T)$ are given in the Appendix A of Ref. [343].

(ii) In the limit $\lambda_{\alpha} \ll A_{\alpha}/M_N$, we have

$$\epsilon_{\pm\alpha} \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{|A_{\alpha}|^2}{\sum_{\delta} |A_{\delta}|^2} \sum_{\beta} \lambda_{\beta} \frac{\operatorname{Im}(A_{\beta})}{M_N} \frac{4BM_N}{4B^2 + \Gamma_A^2} r_B(T), \qquad (100)$$

with $\Gamma_A \equiv \sum_{\alpha} \frac{|A_{\alpha}|^2}{8\pi M_N}$. The CP asymmetries Eq. (100) do not vanish for T = 0 and represents *nonthermal* CP violation. By thermal (nonthermal) CP violation, we refer to the case where CP violation does (not) vanish as $T \to 0$. Although thermal effects are always present, the fact that CP violation is nonvanishing for T = 0 implies less suppression compared to case (i).

Now, we numerically solve the Boltzmann equations using the full expression for the asymmetry parameter in Eq. (98), fixing $M_N = 5 \times 10^7$ GeV, $\tan \beta = 10$, $\arg(A_{\alpha}) = -\pi/2$, and B = 1 TeV. We consider the following three scenarios:

(NTD) Nonthermal-dominated. In this scenario, we choose $A/M_N = (10^{-4}, 10^{-2}, 1)w$ and $\lambda = (10^{-5}, 10^{-3}, 10^{-1})w$.



Fig. 22. The absolute value of the final baryon asymmetry $|Y_{\Delta B}(\infty)|$ as a function of the washout parameter $K \equiv \Gamma_{\pm}/H(T = M_N)$ for $M_N = 5 \times 10^7$ GeV for the three scenarios described in the text: NTD (blue dashed), TD (red dotted), and MIX (purple solid). The left plot corresponds to the case of zero initial number densities of N and \tilde{N}_{\pm} , while the right plot corresponds to the case of thermal initial number densities of N and \tilde{N}_{\pm} . The regions to the left of the blue dashed and purple solid vertical lines correspond to K values when $A_{\alpha} < 5$ TeV for the NTD and MIX scenarios, respectively, while for the TD scenario we always have $A_{\alpha} < 5$ TeV in the range of the plot. The gray band represents the recent combined Planck and WMAP CMB measurements of cosmic baryon asymmetry [346, 347] at 2σ . The dip in the TD scenario in the left plot refers to a change in the sign of the baryon asymmetry. Figure taken from Ref. [343].

- (TD) Thermal-dominated. In this scenario, we choose $\mathbf{A}/M_N = (10^{-5}, 10^{-3}, 10^{-1})w$ and $\mathbf{\lambda} = (10^{-4}, 10^{-2}, 1)w$.
- (MIX) Mixed. In this scenario, we choose $A/M_N = (10^{-4}, 10^{-2}, 1)w$ and $\lambda = (10^{-4}, 10^{-2}, 1)w$.

The couplings are written as 3-vectors A and λ . A scan through the parameter space from $K \equiv \Gamma_{\pm}|_{T=M_N} = 0.1$ to K = 15 is realized by varying the dimensionless variable w between 10^{-6} and 10^{-4} . Since scattering processes only give an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ correction in the intermediate to strong washout regime (which we are considering), we take into account for simplicity only decays and inverse decays \tilde{N}_{\pm} . The numerical result, the absolute final baryon asymmetry $|Y_{\Delta B}(\infty)|$ as a function of Kis shown in Fig. 22.

We conclude that it is possible to have successful leptogenesis for TeV-scale A_{α} and $B \gg \Gamma_{\pm}$ far away from the resonant regime. We see that nonthermal CP violation can significantly enhance the efficiency of soft leptogenesis. Notice that we have assumed some hierarchies in \boldsymbol{A} and $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$ to illustrate lepton flavor effects. Though not crucial for leptogenesis, the hierarchy in \boldsymbol{A} is needed to satisfy phenomenological bounds, which we will discuss next.

In the following, we will discuss the phenomenology of having generic A_{α} . Since we focus on the case $M_N \gtrsim 10^7$ GeV such that |A|, B can remain at around TeVscale, the production of RH sneutrinos is beyond the energy range of current col-

liders.^x On the other hand, the soft terms relevant for soft leptogenesis A_{α} , B and \widetilde{M}_N can contribute to Electric Dipole Moments (EDM) of leptons and to Charged Lepton Flavor Violating (CLFV) interactions. Under the assumption of universality, soft trilinear couplings $A_{\alpha} = A\lambda_{\alpha}$, the analysis of Ref. [349] showed that the contributions to lepton EDM and CLFV processes are much below the experimental bounds. Here we will repeat the analysis by considering generic A_{α} . This, as we will show below, can enhance the contributions to lepton EDM and CLFV processes.^y

• Electric dipole moment of the electron. The contributions of A_{α} and B to the EDM of the electron can be estimated by [349]

$$|d_e| \approx \frac{e \, m_e \, \tan \beta}{16 \pi m_{\tilde{\nu}}^2} \left| \frac{m_\chi \lambda_\alpha}{M_N^2} \right| (|A_\alpha| + B\lambda_\alpha) \,, \tag{101}$$

where m_e is the electron mass, $m_{\tilde{\nu}}^2$ the squared mass of the light sneutrino, and m_{χ} the mass of chargino ($\mathcal{O}(1)$ contributions of the phases and mixing angles in the chargino sectors are assumed). For generic A_{α} , the first term in the bracket in Eq. (101) dominates. Assuming $m_{\tilde{\nu}} = m_{\chi} = m_{\text{soft}}$ and taking into account Eq. (97), we have

$$|d_e| \lesssim 5 \times 10^{-38} \left(\frac{\tan\beta}{10}\right) \left(\frac{10^7 \,\text{GeV}}{M_N}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{1 \,\text{TeV}}{m_{\text{soft}}}\right) e \,\text{cm.}$$
(102)

The bound above is about nine orders of magnitude below the current experimental bound $|d_e|_{\exp} < 8.7 \times 10^{-29} e \text{ cm}$ [351]. We can estimate the contributions to μ and τ EDMs by replacing m_e in Eq. (101) by m_{μ} and m_{τ} , respectively. However, the current experimental constraints on them are even weaker: $|d_{\mu}|_{\exp} < 1.9 \times 10^{-19} e \text{ cm}$ [352] and $|d_{\tau}|_{\exp} < 5.1 \times 10^{-17} e \text{ cm}$ [353].

• Charged lepton flavor violating interactions. The branching ratio for CLFV due to the soft mass matrix of the doublet sleptons $m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2$ is given by [349, 354]

$$BR(\ell_{\alpha} \to \ell_{\beta} \gamma) \approx \frac{\alpha_{EM}^3}{G_F^2} \frac{\left| (m_{\ell}^2)_{\alpha\beta} \right|^2}{m_{\text{soft}}^8} \tan^2 \beta,$$
(103)

where $\alpha_{\rm EM}$ is the electromagnetic fine structure constant. Generically, the off-diagonal elements of $m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2$ will induce too large CLFV rates. As usual, we assume mSUGRA boundary conditions at the Grand Unified Theory (GUT) scale, where the off-diagonal elements of $m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2$ vanish. Considering only off-diagonal elements that are generated due to renormalization effects, $m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2$ evolves from the GUT scale $M_{\rm GUT}$ to the RH neutrino mass scale M_N [355] as

$$(m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2)_{\alpha\beta} \approx -\frac{1}{8\pi^2} A_{\alpha}^* A_{\beta} \ln\left(\frac{M_{\rm GUT}}{M_N}\right)$$
 (104)

^xEven if $M_{\pm} \sim \text{TeV}$, the bound on the Yukawa couplings from the requirement of out-ofequilibrium decays of \tilde{N}_{\pm} in Eq. (97) makes \tilde{N}_{\pm} challenging to be produced at colliders [348]. ^yReference [350] considered in details the phenomenological consequences of the soft terms consid-

ering three generations of RH neutrino chiral superfields. Here, we will focus only on parameters related to N_1 that are relevant for soft leptogenesis, i.e. B, \widetilde{M}_N , A_{α} , λ_{α} and M_N .

for $\alpha \neq \beta$.

The strongest constraint on the rare decay $\mu \to e\gamma$ comes from nonobservation at the MEG experiment [356, 357]:

$$BR(\mu \to e\gamma)_{exp} < 5.7 \times 10^{-13}.$$
 (105)

Substituting Eq. (104) in Eq. (103) and applying the constraint Eq. (105), we obtain

$$|A_{\mu}^*A_e| \lesssim 5 \times 10^3 \,\text{GeV}^2 \left(\frac{m_{\text{soft}}}{1 \,\text{TeV}}\right)^4 \left(\frac{10}{\tan\beta}\right),\tag{106}$$

where we set $M_{\rm GUT} = 10^{16}$ GeV and $M_N = 10^7$ GeV. Similarly, using the experimental bounds on CLFV processes in τ decays, BR $(\tau \rightarrow e\gamma)_{\rm exp} < 3.3 \times 10^{-8}$ and BR $(\tau \rightarrow \mu \gamma)_{\rm exp} < 4.4 \times 10^{-8}$ [358], we obtain

$$|A_{\tau}^*A_e| \approx |A_{\tau}^*A_{\mu}| \lesssim 1 \times 10^6 \,\text{GeV}^2 \left(\frac{m_{\text{soft}}}{1 \,\text{TeV}}\right)^4 \left(\frac{10}{\tan\beta}\right). \tag{107}$$

For $m_{\text{soft}} \sim \text{TeV}$, the bound in Eq. (107) can be satisfied with all $|A_{\alpha}|$ at the TeV-scale while the stronger bound in Eq. (106) requires the product of $|A_{\mu}^*A_e|$ to be *smaller* than the TeV²-scale. This requires some hierarchy in A_{α} , consistent with what was assumed in Fig. 22.

Finally, nonzero $(m_{\tilde{\ell}}^2)_{\alpha\beta}$ can also give rise to other CLFV processes like $\mu \to 3e$ and $\mu - e$ conversion. If such processes are dominated by the dipole type operator for relatively large $\tan \beta$, BR $(\mu \to 3e)$ and the rate of $\mu - e$ conversion rate $R_{\mu e}$ are proportional to BR $(\mu \to e\gamma)$ and are approximately given by [359]

$$BR(\mu \to 3e) \sim 6.6 \times 10^{-3} BR(\mu \to e\gamma), \qquad (108)$$

and, for the $^{27}_{13}$ Al nucleus, by [360]

$$R_{\mu e} \sim 2.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{BR}(\mu \to e\gamma). \tag{109}$$

Currently these constraints are less stringent than those coming from $\mu \to e\gamma$. In future experiments, however, the sensitivity for such processes could reach the presently allowed parameter space. For instance, the future Mu3e experiment [361] could reach BR($\mu \to 3e$) ~ 10⁻¹⁵ – 10⁻¹⁶. As for $\mu - e$ conversion process, the sensitivities of Mu2e [362] and COMET [363] experiments could reach $R_{\mu e} \sim 10^{-17}$ for the ²⁷₁₃Al nucleus while the PRISM/PRIME [363] project may have even greater sensitivity by two orders of magnitude.

In conclusion, in the framework of supersymmetric type I seesaw, soft leptogenesis is an attractive mechanism to explain the cosmological matter-antimatter asymmetry since it works at a lower temperature regime $T \leq 10^9$ GeV, where the tension caused by overproduction of gravitinos can be relaxed or even evaded. By considering generic soft trilinear A_{α} couplings, we reach both, interesting theoretical and phenomenological consequences. Theoretically, nonthermal CP violation

can dominate and successful leptogenesis can be achieved with all relevant soft parameters taking *natural* values at the around the TeV-scale. Phenomenologically, such large A_{α} couplings allow significant contributions to CLFV processes that are close to sensitivities of present and future experiments. While the direct probe of soft leptogenesis with generic A_{α} terms will require the production of \tilde{N} , which is not possible with current or foreseeable particle colliders, the detection of CLFV processes consistent with this framework will provide a boost of such a realization.

6.2. Type II soft leptogenesis

The type II seesaw, in which a Higgs triplet boson is responsible for the observed neutrino masses and mixing, enjoys also the basic features of soft leptogenesis [364, 365]. Contrary to the type I leptogenesis, the type II leptogenesis suffers from rather efficient gauge annihilation processes, which strongly suppresses the resulting lepton asymmetry (see the detailed discussion in Sec. 4.2). The gauge annihilation effect becomes weaker for higher Higgs triplet mass, which, however, suppresses the lepton asymmetry in soft leptogenesis as it is inversely proportional to the Higgs triplet mass. For TeV-scale seesaw, the huge suppression of lepton asymmetry by gauge annihilations can be overcome by the effect of soft SUSY breaking terms such that successful TeV-scale leptogenesis can be obtained [365].

In the supersymmetric type II seesaw a vector-like pair of $\Delta = (\Delta^{++}, \Delta^{+}, \Delta^{0})$ and $\Delta^{c} = (\Delta^{c--}, \Delta^{c-}, \Delta^{c0})$ with hypercharge Y = 1 and -1 is introduced to construct the following renormalizable superpotential:

$$W = \lambda_{\Delta} \ell \ell \Delta + \lambda_1 H_1 H_1 \Delta + \lambda_2 H_2 H_2 \Delta^c + M_{\Delta} \Delta \Delta^c \,. \tag{110}$$

The term $\lambda_{\Delta} \ell \ell \Delta$ contains the neutrino mass operator $h \nu \nu \Delta^0$. The relevant soft SUSY breaking terms are

$$-\mathcal{L}_{soft} = (\lambda_{\Delta} A \ell \ell \Delta + \lambda_1 A H_1 H_1 \Delta + \lambda_2 A H_2 H_2 \Delta^c + B M_{\Delta} \Delta \Delta^c + \text{h.c.}) + m_0^2 |\Delta|^2 + m_0^2 |\Delta^c|^2.$$
(111)

Note, we have used the same capital letters to denote superfields and their scalar components, and considered the universal soft masses, A and m_0 . In the limit of $M_{\Delta} \gg m_0, A$, the Higgs triplet vacuum expectation value (vev) $\langle \Delta^0 \rangle = \lambda_2 \langle H_2^0 \rangle^2 / M_{\Delta}$ gives the neutrino mass

$$(M_{\nu})_{\alpha\beta} = 2(\lambda_{\Delta})_{\alpha\beta} \langle \Delta^0 \rangle = 2(\lambda_{\Delta})_{\alpha\beta} \lambda_2 \frac{v_2^2}{M_{\Delta}}.$$
 (112)

The mass eigenstates of the scalar triplets are given by $\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\Delta \pm \bar{\Delta}^c)$ with the mass-squared values $M_{\pm}^2 = M_{\Delta}^2 + m_0^2 \pm BM_{\Delta}$, and the mass-squared difference $\Delta M^2 = 2BM_{\Delta}$. From Eq. (110) and Eq. (111), one easily finds the scalar triplet couplings of the mass eigenstates for the leptonic final states $\ell \ell, \tilde{\ell}\tilde{\ell}$, and the Higgs final states $H_i H_i, \tilde{H}_i \tilde{H}_i$ with i = 1, 2.



Fig. 23. Diagrams contributing to the gauge–annihilation amplitude of triplet particles. $\tilde{\Delta}$, $\tilde{\Delta_c}$ represent the fermionic partners of Δ and Δ_c , respectively, while A indicates a gauge boson, λ a gaugino, h a Higgs particle, \tilde{h} a higgsino, f a fermion and \tilde{f} a sfermion. Figure taken from Ref. [365].

Lepton asymmetry generation in the supersymmetric triplet seesaw model can be described by a general system of a charged particle $X(\bar{X})$ decaying to a final state $j(\bar{j})$ and generating tiny CP asymmetric number densities, $n_X - n_{\bar{X}}$ and $n_j - n_{\bar{j}}$. The relevant Boltzmann equations in the approximation of Maxwell–Boltzmann distributions are

$$\frac{dY_X}{dz} = -zK \left[\gamma_D (Y_X - Y_X^{eq}) + \gamma_A \frac{(Y_X^2 - Y_X^{eq^2})}{Y_X^{eq}} \right]
\frac{dY_{\Delta x}}{dz} = -zK\gamma_D \left[Y_{\Delta x} - \sum_k 2B_k \frac{Y_X^{eq}}{Y_{\Delta k}^{eq}} Y_{\Delta k} \right]
\frac{dY_{\Delta j}}{dz} = 2zK\gamma_D \left[\epsilon_j (Y_X - Y_X^{eq}) + B_j (Y_{\Delta x} - 2\frac{Y_X^{eq}}{Y_{\Delta j}^{eq}} Y_{\Delta j}) \right],$$
(113)

where Y's are the number densities in unit of the entropy density s as defined by $Y_X \equiv n_X/s \approx n_{\bar{X}}/s$, $Y_{\Delta x} \equiv (n_X - n_{\bar{X}})/s$ and $Y_{\Delta j} \equiv (n_j - n_{\bar{j}})/s$. Here, the CP asymmetry ϵ_j in the decay $X \to j$ is defined by

$$\epsilon_j \equiv \frac{\Gamma(X \to j) - \Gamma(\bar{X} \to \bar{j})}{\Gamma_X}.$$
(114)

In Eq. (113), $K \equiv \Gamma_X / H(T = M_X)$, and B_j is the branching ratio of the decay $X \to j$. The evolution of the X abundance is determined by the decay and inverse decay processes, as well as by the annihilation effect described by the diagrams

of Fig. 23, and are accounted for by the functions γ_D and γ_A , respectively. Note that unitarity requires $2Y_{\Delta x} + \sum_j Y_{\Delta j} \equiv 0$, and thus the equation for $Y_{\Delta x}$ can be dropped by the replacement: $Y_{\Delta x} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_j Y_{\Delta j}$ in the last line of Eq. (113).

In our model, the heavy particle X can be one of the six charged particles; $X = \Delta_{\pm}^{++}, \Delta_{\pm}^{+}$ or Δ_{\pm}^{0} . Each of them follows the first Boltzmann equation in Eq. (113) where γ_D and γ_A are given by

$$\gamma_D = \frac{K_1(z)}{K_2(z)},\tag{115}$$

$$\gamma_A = \frac{\alpha_2^2 M_X}{\pi K H_1} \int_1^\infty dt \, \frac{K_1(2zt)}{K_2(z)} \, t^2 \beta(t) \, \sigma(t) \,, \tag{116}$$

with

$$\sigma(t) = (14 + 11t_w^4)(3 + \beta^2) + (4 + 4t_w^2 + t_w^4) \left[16 + 4(-3 - \beta^2 + \frac{\beta^4 + 3}{2\beta} \ln \frac{1 + \beta}{1 - \beta}) \right] + 4 \left[-3 + \left(4 - \beta^2 + \frac{(\beta^2 - 1)(2 - \beta^2)}{\beta} \ln \frac{1 + \beta}{1 - \beta} \right) \right].$$
(117)

Here $t_w \equiv \tan(\theta_W)$ with θ_W being the Weinberg angle, and $\beta(t) \equiv \sqrt{1-t^{-2}}$. For the region of relevance, $z \equiv M_X/T > 10$, the Boltzmann approximation for the decay and inverse decay amplitudes is in good agreement with the full numerical calculation, where Bose–Einstein and Fermi–Dirac distributions, as well as thermal masses, are included.

Given γ_D and γ_A in the Boltzmann approximation, one can figure out the behavior of Y_X in an analytic way. First of all, the inverse decay freezes out at $z_f \approx 9$ satisfying the relation $K z_f^{5/2} e^{-z_f} = 1$ with K = 32. On the other hand, the thermal annihilation and decay rates can be compared as

$$\frac{<\Gamma_A>}{<\Gamma_D>}(z_f)\simeq 2\frac{\alpha^2}{\alpha_X}z_f^{-3/2}e^{-z_f}\approx \frac{2\times 10^8~{\rm GeV}}{M_X},$$

where $\alpha_X = KH/M_X$. Thus, the annihilation effect is less effective for higher M_X and becomes irrelevant for $M_X \gtrsim 10^8$ GeV. But, the CP asymmetry in soft leptogenesis is inversely proportional to M_X ($\epsilon_\ell \propto A/M_X$ as shown explicitly later in Eq. (121)). Thus, there is a tension between these two effects, and lower values of M_X turn out to be favored. As the annihilation processes freeze out at $z \approx 20$, Y_X follows more closely its equilibrium density Y_X^{eq} with a deviation of order 10^{-3} . Since decoupling occurs indeed at high z, one can safely approximate

$$Y_X - Y_X^{eq} = \frac{-Y_X^{eq'}}{zK(\gamma_D + 2\gamma_A)} \,. \tag{118}$$

Concerning the evolution of $Y_{\Delta j}$ with $j = \ell \ell$ and $\tilde{\ell}\tilde{\ell}$, let us recall that the combined lepton asymmetry vanishes in the supersymmetric limit, $Y_{\Delta \ell} \equiv Y_{\Delta \ell \ell} + Y_{\Delta \tilde{\ell}\tilde{\ell}} = 0$, as the CP asymmetries in the bosonic and fermionic final states takes the opposite sign, $\epsilon_{\ell\ell} = -\epsilon_{\tilde{\ell}\tilde{\ell}}$. A nonvanishing lepton asymmetry arises after taking into account the SUSY breaking effect by temperature and by the soft terms. The
temperature effect can be well accounted for by a slight modification of the last Boltzmann equation of Eq. (113), resulting from the extension of the usual Maxwell– Boltzmann approximation to the second order. The total lepton asymmetry density $Y_{\Delta \ell}$ turns out to follow the approximate Boltzmann equation (in the limit of $|\lambda_{\Delta}| = |\lambda_2| \gg |\lambda_1|$):

$$\frac{dY_{\Delta\ell}}{dz} = 2g_{\Delta}zK\gamma_D \left[\tilde{\epsilon}_{\ell}\delta(z)(Y_X - Y_X^{eq}) - \frac{Y_X^{eq}}{Y_{\Delta\ell}^{eq}}Y_{\Delta\ell}\right], \qquad (119)$$

where $g_{\Delta} = 6$ counts the total number of triplet components generating the lepton asymmetry. The function $\delta(z) \equiv \delta_{BF}(z) + \delta_{soft}$ accounts for the SUSY breaking effect with

$$\delta_{BF}(z) \equiv 2\sqrt{2} \frac{K_1(\sqrt{2}z)}{K_1(z)}, \quad \delta_{soft} = \frac{m_0^2 + |A|^2}{M_X^2}$$
(120)

describing the difference between the Bose–Einstein and Fermi–Dirac distributions and the soft SUSY breaking effect, respectively. The CP asymmetry parameter $\tilde{\epsilon}_{\ell}$ is given by

$$\tilde{\epsilon}_{\ell} \equiv \frac{4B\Gamma_{\pm}}{4B^2 + \Gamma_{\pm}^2} \frac{4|\lambda_{\Delta}|^2 |\lambda_2|^2}{(|\lambda_{\Delta}|^2 + |\lambda_1|^2 + |\lambda_2|^2)^2} \frac{\mathrm{Im}(A)}{M_X}.$$
(121)

In Eq. (119), the number $K = \Gamma_{\pm}/H$ takes the minimal value of K = 32 for $|\lambda_{\Delta}| = |\lambda_2| \gg |\lambda_1|$ following from the relation:

$$K = 32 \, \frac{|\lambda_{\Delta}|^2 + |\lambda_2|^2}{2|\lambda_{\Delta}||\lambda_2|} \left(\frac{|m_{\nu}|}{0.05 \text{ eV}}\right) \,. \tag{122}$$

Notice that the maximal value of $\tilde{\epsilon}_{\ell} = \frac{\text{Im}(A)}{M_X}$ is obtained at the resonance point of $B = \Gamma_{\pm}$.

Combining the two simplified Boltzmann equations, Eq. (118) and Eq. (119), it is straightforward to get solutions for the lepton asymmetry $Y_{\Delta \ell}$. Figure 24 shows the final lepton asymmetry as a function of the triplet mass M_X , varying Im(A) from 1 to 5 TeV. One finds that the required baryon asymmetry can be reached whenever A and M_X are in the multi-TeV region for which the soft SUSY breaking term δ_{soft} plays an important role.

A doubly charged boson in type II seesaw can lead to clean signals of samesign di-lepton resonances at colliders: $\Delta^{\pm\pm} \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}_{\alpha}\ell^{\pm}_{\beta}$. The LHC13 data from the integrated luminosity of 13.9 fb⁻¹ puts bounds on the doubly charged boson mass of 570 GeV assuming Br $(\Delta^{\pm\pm} \rightarrow e^{\pm}e^{\pm})=1$ [366]. Observation of a same-sign dilepton resonance would be a hint for type II seesaw. A concrete confirmation could come from measuring branching ratios and checking if they are consistent with the observed neutrino mass matrix as the type II seesaw relation requires $B_{\alpha\beta} \equiv$ Br $(\Delta^{\pm\pm} \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}_{\alpha}\ell^{\pm}_{\beta}) \propto |(M_{\nu})_{\alpha\beta}|^2$ [49, 367]. Assuming for example a normal hierarchy with no CP phase, the current neutrino oscillation data [324] determines the ratio of the branching ratios as follows:

$$B_{ee}: B_{e\mu}: B_{e\tau}: B_{\mu\mu}: B_{\mu\tau}: B_{\tau\tau} = 0.62: 5.11: 0.51: 26.8: 35.6: 31.4, \quad (123)$$



Fig. 24. Final lepton asymmetry produced by triplet decay as a function of M_X . Different curves refer to Im(A) = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 TeV from bottom to top. Figure taken from Ref. [365].

which still allows for a triplet mass much lower than 570 GeV.

A more striking feature of type II seesaw is triplet-antitriplet oscillation, which can lead to a signal of same-sign tetra-leptons [368]. Observation of such signals can tell us about the triplet vacuum expectation value correlated with a tiny neutral triplet mass splitting driven by the neutrino mass [368]. The triplet vev $v_{\Delta} \equiv \langle \Delta^0 \rangle / \sqrt{2}$ breaks the lepton number as well as the Higgs triplet boson number and thereby generates a neutrino masses as well as a correlated mass splitting δM_{HA} between two neutral triplet boson states H^0 and A^0 of, e.g., $\Delta^0 = (H^0 + iA^0)/\sqrt{2}$. Such a small mass gap induces oscillation between Δ^0 and $\bar{\Delta}^0$ and thus, an initial production of a triplet-antitriplet pair oscillates into a triplet (or antitriplet) pair leads to same-sign tetra-lepton production in the following chain reaction:

$$pp \to \Delta^0 \bar{\Delta}^0 \to \Delta^0 \Delta^0 (\bar{\Delta}^0 \bar{\Delta}^0) \to \Delta^{\pm} \Delta^{\pm} 2W^{\mp,*} \to \Delta^{\pm\pm} \Delta^{\pm\pm} 4W^{\mp,*} \to 4\ell^{\pm} 4W^{\mp,*} \,.$$

As usual, the oscillation probability is proportional to x_{HA}^2 with the oscillation parameter $x_{HA} \equiv \delta M_{HA}/\Gamma_{\Delta^0}$, where $\delta M_{HA} \equiv M_{H^0} - M_{A^0}$ and $\Gamma_{\Delta^0} \equiv \Gamma(\Delta^0 \rightarrow \Delta^{\pm} W^{\mp,*})$ such that

$$\delta M_{HA} \approx 2 \frac{v_{\Delta}^2}{v_{EW}^2} M_{H^0} \text{ and } \Gamma_{\Delta^0} \approx \frac{G_F^2 \Delta M^5}{\pi^3}$$
 (124)

with $\Delta M \equiv M_{\Delta^0} - M_{\Delta^{\pm}}$. Figure 25 shows cross sections for same-sign tetra-lepton signals in the plane of $(v_{\Delta}, \Delta M)$ taking $M_{\Delta^{\pm\pm}} = 400$ GeV. One finds that the cross-section is maximized for $v_{\Delta} \approx 7 \times 10^{-5}$ GeV and $\Delta M \approx 1.5$ GeV for which $x_{HA} \sim 1$.



Fig. 25. Cross sections (in fb) of same-sign tetra-lepton signals for $M_{\Delta \pm \pm} = 400$ GeV. Figure taken from Ref. [368].

7. Model independent falsification of high-scale leptogenesis

While the previous sections were mainly focused on probing a certain model of leptogenesis, we review now the possibility to falsify leptogenesis in a model independent approach. Especially, when the generation mechanism of the lepton asymmetry is at high scale, and thus difficult to access experimentally, such a method can be a powerful tool to narrow down possible underlying leptogenesis mechanisms.

Soon after scenarios of high energy baryogenesis, such as leptogenesis were devised, it was realized that baryon and lepton number violating effective operators would washout the generated asymmetry [369, 370] (for further details we refer to Sec. 3). In Refs. [98, 99, 371], it was demonstrated that an observation of $\Delta L = 2$ washout processes via non-standard contributions at experiments would directly imply a sizable washout rate. Due to the significant washout, leptogenesis models that generate a lepton asymmetry above the scale of observation could be excluded, leading to an insufficient small baryon asymmetry at the electroweak scale.

The low energy effects can be described by $\Delta L = 2$ operators of odd mass dimension, assuming no other light particles beyond the SM at or below the electroweak scale. A full list of all possible 129 $\Delta L = 2$ operators up to 11-dim is given in Ref. [372], extending the work of Ref. [373]. These operators can be probed in different experimental set ups, e.g. at the LHC [98], neutrinoless double beta decay [99], meson decays [374–377], or other low energy experiments [378, 379] (for an overview see e.g. Ref. [380]). Especially sensitive to such $\Delta L = 2$ operators are $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay experiments. As depicted in Fig. 26, $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay could be realized not only by the standard Weinberg operator (Fig. 26 (a)), but also via a long- (Fig. 26 (b)) or short-range contribution (Fig. 26 (c,d)). We quote one operator for each



Fig. 26. Contributions to $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay: Standard Weinberg operator (a), long-range contribution (b), and short-range contribution (c,d). Figure taken from Ref. [99].

possible contribution as example:^z

$$\mathcal{O}_{5} = (\ell^{i}\ell^{j})\phi^{k}\phi^{l}\epsilon_{ik}\epsilon_{jl}, \qquad \mathcal{O}_{7} = (\ell^{i}d^{c})(\bar{e^{c}}\bar{u^{c}})\phi^{j}\epsilon_{ij}, \qquad (125)$$
$$\mathcal{O}_{9} = (\ell^{i}\ell^{j})(\bar{Q}_{i}\bar{u^{c}})(\bar{Q}_{j}\bar{u^{c}}), \qquad \mathcal{O}_{11} = (\ell^{i}\ell^{j})(Q_{k}d^{c})(Q_{l}d^{c})\phi_{m}\bar{\phi}_{i}\epsilon_{jk}\epsilon_{lm}.$$

Assuming one operator dominant at a time, the effective coupling of this operator can be related to the half-life of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay

$$T_{1/2}^{-1} = \omega_i^2 G_i |\mathcal{M}_i|^2, \tag{126}$$

where G_i is the nuclear phase space factor and $|\mathcal{M}_i|$ the nuclear matrix element. Therefore, an observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay would allow one to pin down the effective coupling ω_i of this operator [381, 382] and thus as well to estimate the corresponding operator scale Λ_D

$$m_e\omega_5 = \frac{g^2v^2}{2\Lambda_5}, \ \frac{G_F\omega_7}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{g^3v}{2\sqrt{2}\Lambda_7^3}, \ \frac{G_F^2\omega_{\{9,11\}}}{2m_p} = \{\frac{g^4}{\Lambda_9^5}, \frac{g^6v^2}{2\Lambda_{11}^7}\},$$
(127)

with m_e being the mass of the electron, m_p the proton mass, and G_F the Fermi constant. The coupling g indicates the expected scaling of a UV complete model, set to 1 for simplicity. The very same operator that triggers $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay would contribute as well to the washout processes in the early Universe. Applying the condition of efficient washout ($\Gamma_W/H > 1$), a lower limit on the temperature can be derived above which scale the washout is highly effective:

$$\Lambda_D \left(\frac{\Lambda_D}{c'_D \Lambda_{\rm Pl}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2D-9}} \equiv \lambda_D \lesssim T \lesssim \Lambda_D.$$
(128)

The operator dependent constant $c'_D = \pi^2 c_D / (3.3\sqrt{g_*}) \approx 0.3c_D$ with $c_{\{5,7,9,11\}} = \{8/\pi^5, 27/(2\pi^7), 3.2 \times 10^4/\pi^9, 3.9 \times 10^5/\pi^{13}\}$ arises from the calculation of the reaction density integrated over the phase space including all possible permutations of particles in the initial and final state. The upper limit indicates up to which scale the effective operator approach is valid for estimating the washout rate reliably, given by the scale of the corresponding operator.

A more precise estimate can be performed by solving the Boltzmann equation for a temperature $\hat{\lambda}_D$ at (above) which a lepton asymmetry of order one could still ^{**z**}For easier comparison and readability the commonly used convention of Weyl-spinor-doublets are used with $\ell = (\nu_L, e_L)^T$, $Q = (u_L, d_L)^T$ and $\phi = (\phi^+, \phi^0)^T$ being the left-handed $SU(2)_L$ doublets and e^c, u^c, d^c being the charge conjugates of the $SU(2)_L$ right-handed charged fermion operators. The bar notation indicates Weyl-spinor conjugation in contrast to the Dirac-adjoint.



Fig. 27. Temperature intervals in which the given LNV and LFV operators are in equilibrium, defined by washout scales λ , $\hat{\lambda}$ and the operator scale Λ . All scales are evaluated assuming an observation at current (left bar) and future (right bar) sensitivities. Figure taken from Ref. [99].

have existed and would have been washed out to (less than) the observed baryon asymmetry η_B^{obs} at the electroweak scale v:

$$\hat{\lambda}_D \approx \left[(2D-9) \ln \left(\frac{10^{-2}}{\eta_B^{\text{obs}}} \right) \lambda_D^{2D-9} + (v/\sqrt{2})^{2D-9} \right]^{\frac{1}{2D-9}}.$$
 (129)

Assuming an observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay at the current (Fig. 27, left bars) and future sensitivities (Fig. 27, right bars), the corresponding temperature interval for a highly efficient washout can be obtained. This leads to the main result, directly extractable from Fig. 27: If $0\nu\beta\beta$ was discovered and was not triggered by the standard Weinberg operator, this will imply that any baryogenesis mechanism will be excluded above the scale $\hat{\lambda}_D$, implying anywhere but close to the electroweak scale.

This, however, makes it necessary to being able to distinguish between the Weinberg operator and other higher dimensional operators. Although being a challenge, this is not an impossible task:

• $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay triggered by a 9-dim or 11-dim operator hints towards a visible signature at the LHC. In contrast, the scale of a 7-dim or 5-dim operator is already pushed towards too high values in order to be observable at the

LHC [98]. Possible signatures include an invariant mass peak corresponding to the mass of the new physics particle created on-shell or a possible asymmetry in the rate of e^+e^+ and e^-e^- final states [383–385].

- Specifically the 7-dim operator can be probed with the future SuperNEMO experiment, as it will be able to measure the angular and energy distribution of the two electrons involved in $0\nu\beta\beta$. As $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay realized by a long-range contribution features a signature of a left- and a right-handed electron in contrast to two left-handed ones for the standard mass mechanism, SuperNEMO will be able to distinguish them [386].
- A comparison with cosmology can as well reveal a new physics contribution. A discrepancy between the sum of the neutrino masses from cosmology and $|m_{\beta\beta}|$ from $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay experiments would imply that $0\nu\beta\beta$ is not realised by the Weinberg operator.
- A discrepancy when comparing the experimental ratio of the $0\nu\beta\beta$ halflife of different isotopes with the theoretical prediction could as well hint towards new physics contributions. While systematic uncertainties and effective couplings cancel by considering the ratio $T_{1/2}(^{76}\text{Ge})/T_{1/2}(^{A}X) =$ $(|\mathcal{M}(^{76}\text{Ge})|^2G(^{76}\text{Ge}))/(|\mathcal{M}(^{A}X)|^2G(^{A}X))$, the ratio of the half-life, however, still depends on the model dependent matrix element and phase space factor and is thus sensitive to new physics [387].
- As demonstrated in Ref. [388], the comparison between $0\nu\beta^{-}\beta^{-}$ decay and $0\nu\beta^{+}/\text{EC}$ or $0\nu\beta^{-}\beta^{-}$ and $0\nu\beta^{+}\beta^{+}$ decay can point us as well towards new physics. Similarly, the comparison between $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay to the ground state and an excited state is interesting with that respect [389].

In order to guarantee that no lepton asymmetry is hidden in another flavor sector, LNV should be observed as well in the $\mu\mu$ and $\tau\tau$ sector or in lepton flavor violating (LFV) $\Delta L = 0$ rare decays. In order to estimate above which scale an equilibration of an asymmetry between flavors is highly efficient, a similar analysis as outlined above was performed in Ref. [99]. To this end, the corresponding operators $\mathcal{O}_{ll\gamma} =$ $\mathcal{C}_{ll\gamma}\bar{\ell}_l\sigma^{\mu\nu}\bar{\ell}^c HF_{\mu\nu}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{llqq} = \mathcal{C}_{llqq}(\bar{\ell}\Pi_1 l)(\bar{q}\Pi_2 q)$ (the Π_i represent possible Lorentz structures) [390], with $l = e, \mu, \tau$ were considered. Assuming an observation of the corresponding rare decays at their current and future sensitivity, the operator scale can be evaluated $\mathcal{C}_{ll\gamma} = \frac{eg^3}{16\pi^2\Lambda_{ll\gamma}^2}$, $\mathcal{C}_{llqq} = \frac{g^2}{\Lambda_{llqq}^2}$ and the corresponding equilibration interval derived. As depicted in Fig. 27, an observation of $\tau^{\pm} \to \ell^{\pm}\gamma$ or μ e conversion will guarantee the equilibration of an asymmetry between different flavors. The constraint on $\mu \to e\gamma$, however, is already too sensitive.

Although this approach is conservative and model independent, certain limitations exist, e.g. new conserved quantum numbers or hidden sectors can act as protection mechanism [22, 391, 392], see as well Sec. 4.1.2 for an example.

Besides $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, an observation of $\Delta L = 2$ processes at the LHC would similarly allow one to falsify model independently high-scale leptogenesis models [98], e.g. via the resonant process $pp \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}qq$ (cf. Fig. 28). Based on the



Fig. 28. Possible diagrams contributing to the resonant same-sign di-lepton signal $pp \to \ell^{\pm} \ell^{\pm} qq$. The intermediate particles X and $Y^{(')}$ indicate different vector or scalar bosons, Ψ denotes a fermion. Generally, any two of the four fermions f_i can be leptons. Figures taken from [98].

observed LHC cross section σ_{LHC} and the resonant mass M_X , the washout can be estimated [98]

$$\frac{\Gamma_W}{H} = \frac{0.028}{\sqrt{g_*}} \frac{M_{\rm P} M_X^3}{T^4} \frac{K_1 \left(M_X/T\right)}{f_{q_1 q_2} \left(M_X/\sqrt{s}\right)} \times (s\sigma_{\rm LHC}),\tag{130}$$

where the parton distribution function $f_{q_1q_2}$ has to be singled out for calculating the reaction density of the washout process in the early Universe. As shown in Fig. 29 (left), the observation of an LNV signal at the LHC would imply a significant washout such that high-scale leptogenesis models would be excluded. Similarly, this was discussed in Sec. 5.2 within the context of the L-R symmetric model, where a discovery of a heavy W_R with a mass below ≈ 10 TeV would exclude viable leptogenesis. If the CP asymmetry is generated below the scale of the resonant mass M_X , a falsification is not necessarily possible, however, a lower limit on the CP asymmetry can be set in order to create the observed baryon asymmetry η_B^{obs} with the washout present. In order to demonstrate this, a scale M_N at which the CP asymmetry of order ω is generated was considered [98]

$$\log_{10} \left| \frac{\eta_B}{\eta_B^{\text{obs}}} \right| \lesssim 2.4 \frac{M_X}{\text{TeV}} \left(1 - \frac{4}{3} \frac{M_N}{M_X} \right) + \log_{10} \left[|\epsilon| \left(\frac{\sigma_{\text{LHC}}}{\text{fb}} \right)^{-1} \left(\frac{4}{3} \frac{M_N}{M_X} \right)^2 \right].$$
(131)

The results are shown in Fig. 29 (right). For $M_N < M_X$, there exists a lower limit on the CP asymmetry $\epsilon > \epsilon^{\min} \approx 10^{-3}$, which could strongly constrain resonant leptogenesis models. In concordance with the discussion before, for $M_X < M_N$, high-scale leptogenesis models would be excluded. Similarly to the discussion of the limitations with respect to $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay, it should be guaranteed that no asymmetry is stored in another flavor. To this end, different flavor combinations should be observed to unambiguously exclude high-scale leptogenesis models, meaning $pp \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}qq$ for either $\ell\ell = ee$, $\mu\mu$ and $\tau\tau$, or for $e\mu$ and $e(\mu)\tau$. Again, one has to be aware of possible protection mechanisms like a hidden lepton number, which is converted into a baryon number below the scale M_X .



Fig. 29. Left: Washout rate Γ_W/H at $T = M_X$ as a function of M_X and $\sigma_{\rm LHC}$ (solid blue contours). The dotted light blue contours show the surviving lepton asymmetry at the EW scale relative to its value at M_X ($\eta_L^{\rm EW}/\eta_X^X$). The red dashed curves indicate typical cross sections of the process $pp \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}qq$. The red shaded region is excluded according to LHC searches for resonant same-sign di-leptons [393]. Right: Baryon asymmetry η_B as a function of M_N/M_X and ϵ for $M_X = 2$ TeV and $\sigma_{\rm LHC} = 0.1$ fb (solid contours). The intermediate contour corresponds to the observed value $\eta_B^{\rm obs}$. Figures taken from [98].

However, generally, this method is a powerful approach in order to falsify highscale leptogenesis and baryogenesis models with current experiments and should encourage experiments to refine their analyses and set-ups with respect to $\Delta L = 2$ searches.

8. Summary and conclusions

In this chapter, we have reviewed the possibility to probe leptogenesis models at experiments. In Table 3 we show an overview of experimental signatures probing different leptogenesis models, in Table 4 signatures are summarized which allow for falsifying certain models.

We commenced this chapter with GeV-scale leptogenesis, discussing experimental prospects of the type I seesaw model that allows for a baryon asymmetry via the ARS-mechanism. In Sec. 2.1, we reviewed the experimental prospects of the minimal seesaw model with n = 2 RH neutrinos in the oscillatory regime. We showed that the input from neutrino oscillation experiments, neutrinoless double beta decay searches, and future searches for heavy leptons at SHiP or high intensity $e^+e^$ colliders might be sufficient in order to fully constrain the model by the observed baryon asymmetry of our Universe and is thus possible to be probed. In contrast to the naive seesaw regime, we reviewed in Sec. 2.1 the symmetry protected scenario in the overdamped regime. It can accommodate successful leptogenesis for much

Table 3. Overview of experimental signatures of different leptogenesis/baryogenesis models. Besides ARS leptogenesis where the mass scale of new particles is around GeV, other leptogenesis/baryogenesis models from decays require new particles to be above the electroweak sphalerons freeze-out temperature $T_{\rm EWSp}$ (lattice calculation gives $T_{\rm EWSp} = 131.7 \pm 2.3$ GeV [69]) such that a nonzero baryon asymmetry can be induced. In general, low-scale realizations of the second type of models face two issues due to constraints from (a) the light neutrino mass scale (b) washout from scatterings as described in Sec. 3. The scale can be lowered down to $T_{\rm EWSp}$ by evoking resonant enhancement from almost degenerate decaying particles (see Sec. 3 for details).

model	lowest scale	experimental signatures	section
ARS leptogenesis	GeV	RH neutrino production in fixed	
		target experiments (beam dump or	
		peak searches) or colliders,	
		RH neutrino decays	Sec. 2
		(displaced vertices, LNV, LFV),	
		ν oscillations, $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay,	
		meson decays	
cloistered baryogenesis	$T_{\rm EWsp}$	long-lived scalars at hadron colliders	Sec. 4.1.2
leptogenesis in Z' models	$T_{\rm EWsp}$	same-sign di-lepton final states	Sec. 5.1
soft leptogenesis with generic A term	$T_{\rm EWsp}$	charged LFV	Sec. 6.1
soft type II leptogenesis	$T_{\rm EWsp}$	same-sign di-lepton resonances	Sec. 6.2
		same-sign tetra-leptons	

Table 4. Experimental signatures that could falsify leptogenesis/baryogenesis models which rely on B - L violation.

Models	experimental signatures	section
low-scale type II/III seesaw model	$M_{\Delta}, \ M_{\Sigma} < 1.6 \ \text{TeV}$	Sec. 4.2
L-R symmetric model	$M_{W_B} < 10 \text{ TeV}$	Sec. 5.2
model independent	LNV at LHC, $0\nu\beta\beta$ decay via non-standard contributions, charged LFV	Sec. 7

larger mixing angles and leads hence to larger branching ratios. As for relatively large U^2 , the requirement $U_{\alpha}^2/U^2 \ll 1$ has to be met for at least one flavor in order to generate successfully the correct baryon asymmetry, a comparison of all three U_{α}^2 can be used as a test for leptogenesis. As leptogenesis via the ARS-mechanism requires light RH neutrinos, they can be searched for at experiments. The current constraints on RH neutrino was reviewed in Sec. 2.3 including direct and indirect searches, cosmological and "global" constraints. Another hint for RH neutrinos are lepton-number violating meson decays. The possibility to measure CP violation in these rare decays was discussed in Sec. 2.4.

After focusing on the testability of leptogenesis from oscillations, we discussed the possibility to probe leptogenesis from out-of-equilibrium decays. In Sec. 3, we summarized the problems that have to be addressed in order to obtain TeVscale leptogenesis. We outlined three mechanisms in order overcome the destructive interplay between CP asymmetry generation and washout processes and to achieve models testable at current experiments: almost degenerate particles, late decays or massive decay products.

We then reviewed different models which allow for viable TeV-scale leptogenesis. We started with extensions of the standard, vanilla seesaw models involving new matter fields. After discussing the different possibilities to extend the type I seesaw model with scalar particles charged under SM quantum numbers, and after identifying the corresponding complications to achieve low-scale leptogenesis, we highlighted cloistered baryogenesis in Sec. 4.1. In this mechanism, a global $U(1)_B$ is imposed. The decays of heavy states N generate an equal in size and opposite in sign baryon asymmetry in the two daughter particle species u and \tilde{u} ($\Delta B_u = -\Delta B_{\tilde{u}}$). While the *u*-sector couples to electroweak sphalerons, the \tilde{u} sector remains chemically decoupled (cloistered), and since baryon asymmetry in u gets partially converted to lepton asymmetry, it does no longer balance the asymmetry stored in \tilde{u} . Eventually \tilde{u} particles decay into SM particles but only after electroweak sphalerons freeze out, so that a non-vanishing total baryon asymmetry $\Delta B = \Delta B_u + \Delta B_{\tilde{u}} \neq 0$ results. This scenario requires a new long-lived particle carrying color and baryon number, which can be looked for at hadron colliders.

In Sec. 4.2, we then discussed limitations and possible extensions to type II and type III seesaw models. Triplets, unlike heavy neutrinos, undergo gauge interactions. These do not lead to any washout, however, they get thermalized which leads to a suppression of the lepton asymmetry: If the gauge interaction rate is larger than the Hubble rate and the decay rate, the asymmetry production is suppressed by the ratio of these two rates. This leads to a lower bound on the triplet mass $M_{\Sigma} > 3 \times 10^{10} \text{GeV}$. Assuming a quasi-degenerate spectrum and a CP asymmetry of order one, the bound can be lowered to $M_{\Sigma} > 1.6$ TeV for type III, holding as well for M_{Δ} in type II. This opens up the possibility to falsify these scenarios by discovering lighter states. Unlike type I seesaw states, the new heavy states in type II and type III seesaw can be pair produced at the LHC and are intensively searched for. Also characteristic displaced vertices could be probed. By extending these models by new scalars and fermions, either the resonant enhancement takes place or an additional contribution to the neutrino mass generations mechanism is added. This leads to a separation between the scales of leptogenesis and neutrino mass generation, and opens up a new versatile phenomenology and testability.

We then focused on leptogenesis generated by seesaw models involving an extended gauge sector. In Sec. 5.1, we discussed (resonant) U(1)' models. Here, LHC bounds already strongly constrain the mass of the Z' ($M_{Z'} > 3.7$ TeV) and thus the corresponding heavy neutrino mass. Observation of large CP violation in same-sign di-lepton final states at the LHC would be a hint for this scenario. Another popular scenario is the L-R symmetric model, which was reviewed in Sec. 5.2. With the mass of the W_R being constrained to be above 10 TeV in order to have successful leptogenesis, it is difficult to test this scenario. Thus, we discussed to which extent it is possible to falsify this model if a W_R with a mass below 10 TeV were to be discovered at the LHC.

We further reviewed supersymmetric leptogenesis models. While the direct probe of type I soft leptogenesis with generic trilinear couplings by the observation of heavy sneutrinos is not forseeable in the future, possible significant contributions to CLFV processes are close to sensitivities of present and future experiments. This was discussed in Sec. 6.1. As shown in Sec. 6.2, also in type II soft leptogenesis the heavy neutrinos are too heavy to be probed directly. However, signatures of doubly charged bosons decaying into same-sign leptons at the LHC are an indicator for this scenario, as well as a same-sign tetra-lepton signal from triplet-antitriplet oscillations.

Being unable to probe high-scale models directly at current experiments, we reviewed in Sec. 7 the possibility to falsify high-scale leptogenesis by the observation of $\Delta L = 2$ washout processes. We demonstrated that the observation of $pp \rightarrow \ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}qq$ without missing energy at the LHC would imply the falsification of certain high-scale models. Similarly, the observation of $0\nu\beta\beta$ by a non-standard operator would point us towards a low-scale leptogenesis model.

Generally, we could show that common experimental and theoretical effort are in place. It is important to continue this joint effort in order to pin down the underlying mechanism responsible for the generation of the observed cosmic baryon asymmetry.

Acknowledgments

This work has been initiated at the Munich Institute for Astro- and Particle Physics (MIAPP) of the DFG cluster of excellence "Origin and Structure of the Universe".

References

- P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 594, A13, (2016).
- [2] M. B. Gavela, P. Hernández, J. Orloff, and O. Pene, Standard model CP violation and baryon asymmetry, *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A9, 795–810, (1994).
- [3] P. Huet and E. Sather, Electroweak baryogenesis and standard model CP violation, *Phys. Rev.* D51, 379–394, (1995).
- [4] M. B. Gavela, P. Hernández, J. Orloff, O. Pene, and C. Quimbay, Standard model CP violation and baryon asymmetry. Part 2: Finite temperature, *Nucl. Phys.* B430, 382–426, (1994).
- [5] M. Gurtler, E.-M. Ilgenfritz, and A. Schiller, Where the electroweak phase transition ends, *Phys. Rev.* D56, 3888–3895, (1997).
- [6] A. I. Bochkarev and M. E. Shaposhnikov, Electroweak Production of Baryon Asymmetry and Upper Bounds on the Higgs and Top Masses, *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A2, 417, (1987).
- [7] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, The Electroweak phase transition: A Nonperturbative analysis, *Nucl. Phys.* B466, 189–258, (1996).
- [8] M. Laine and K. Rummukainen, What's new with the electroweak phase transition?, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 73, 180–185, (1999).
- [9] F. Csikor, Z. Fodor, and J. Heitger, Endpoint of the hot electroweak phase transition, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82, 21–24, (1999).
- [10] Y. Aoki, F. Csikor, Z. Fodor, and A. Ukawa, The Endpoint of the first order phase

transition of the SU(2) gauge Higgs model on a four-dimensional isotropic lattice, *Phys. Rev.* **D60**, 013001, (1999).

- [11] M. Trodden, Electroweak baryogenesis, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **71**, 1463–1500, (1999).
- [12] D. E. Morrissey and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Electroweak baryogenesis, New J. Phys. 14, 125003, (2012).
- [13] A. D. Dolgov, NonGUT baryogenesis, *Phys. Rept.* **222**, 309–386, (1992).
- [14] N. Turok, Electroweak bubbles: Nucleation and growth, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 1803– 1806, (1992).
- [15] A. G. Cohen, D. B. Kaplan, and A. E. Nelson, Progress in electroweak baryogenesis, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 43, 27–70, (1993).
- [16] V. A. Rubakov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, Electroweak baryon number nonconservation in the early universe and in high-energy collisions, *Usp. Fiz. Nauk.* 166, 493–537, (1996). [Phys. Usp.39,461(1996)].
- [17] I. Affleck and M. Dine, A New Mechanism for Baryogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B249, 361–380, (1985).
- [18] I. Affleck, M. Dine, and N. Seiberg, Dynamical Supersymmetry Breaking in Four-Dimensions and Its Phenomenological Implications, *Nucl. Phys.* B256, 557–599, (1985).
- [19] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida, Baryogenesis Without Grand Unification, Phys. Lett. B174, 45–47, (1986).
- [20] S. Davidson, E. Nardi, and Y. Nir, Leptogenesis, Phys. Rept. 466, 105–177, (2008).
- [21] S. Weinberg, Baryon and Lepton Nonconserving Processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43, 1566–1570, (1979).
- [22] S. Weinberg, Varieties of Baryon and Lepton Nonconservation, Phys. Rev. D22, 1694, (1980).
- [23] S. Davidson and A. Ibarra, A Lower bound on the right-handed neutrino mass from leptogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B535, 25–32, (2002).
- [24] P. S. B. Dev, P. Di Bari, B. Garbrecht, S. Lavignac, P. Millington, and D. Teresi, Flavour Effects in Leptogenesis, accompanying review article.
- [25] S. Biondini, D. Bödeker, N. Brambilla, M. Garny, J. Ghiglieri, A. Hohenegger, M. Laine, S. Mendizabal, P. Millington, A. Salvio, and A. Vairo, *Status of Rates and Rate Equations for Thermal Leptogenesis, accompanying review article.*
- [26] C. Hagedorn, R. N. Mohapatra, E. Molinaro, C. C. Nishi, and S. T. Petcov, CP Violation in the Lepton Sector and Implications for Leptogenesis, accompanying review article.
- [27] E. K. Akhmedov, V. A. Rubakov, and A. Yu. Smirnov, Baryogenesis via neutrino oscillations, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 81, 1359–1362, (1998).
- [28] M. Drewes, B. Garbrecht, P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, J. Racker, N. Rius, and J. Salvado, ARS Leptogenesis, accompanying review article.
- [29] M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM, leptonic asymmetries, and properties of singlet fermions, JHEP. 08, 008, (2008).
- [30] L. Canetti and M. Shaposhnikov, Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe in the ν MSM, *JCAP*. **1009**, 001, (2010).
- [31] L. Canetti, M. Drewes, T. Frossard, and M. Shaposhnikov, Dark Matter, Baryogenesis and Neutrino Oscillations from Right Handed Neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D87, 093006, (2013).
- [32] P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, J. Racker, and J. Salvado, Testable Baryogenesis in Seesaw Models, JHEP. 08, 157, (2016).
- [33] K. Abe et al., Observation of Electron Neutrino Appearance in a Muon Neutrino Beam, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112, 061802, (2014).

- [34] P. Adamson et al., First measurement of electron neutrino appearance in NOvA, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **116**(15), 151806, (2016).
- [35] R. Acciarri et al., Long-Baseline Neutrino Facility (LBNF) and Deep Underground Neutrino Experiment (DUNE), arXiv:1512.06148, (2015).
- [36] K. Abe et al., Letter of Intent: The Hyper-Kamiokande Experiment Detector Design and Physics Potential —, arXiv:1109.3262, (2011).
- [37] M. Blennow, E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. López-Pavón, and J. Menendez, Neutrinoless double beta decay in seesaw models, *JHEP*. 07, 096, (2010).
- [38] A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro, and S. T. Petcov, Low Energy Signatures of the TeV Scale See-Saw Mechanism, *Phys. Rev.* D84, 013005, (2011).
- [39] M. Mitra, G. Senjanovic, and F. Vissani, Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay and Heavy Sterile Neutrinos, Nucl. Phys. B856, 26–73, (2012).
- [40] J. López-Pavón, S. Pascoli, and C.-f. Wong, Can heavy neutrinos dominate neutrinoless double beta decay?, *Phys. Rev.* D87(9), 093007, (2013).
- [41] J. López-Pavón, E. Molinaro, and S. T. Petcov, Radiative Corrections to Light Neutrino Masses in Low Scale Type I Seesaw Scenarios and Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay, JHEP. 11, 030, (2015).
- [42] D. Gorbunov and M. Shaposhnikov, How to find neutral leptons of the νMSM?, JHEP. 10, 015, (2007). [Erratum: JHEP11,101(2013)].
- [43] M. Anelli et al., A facility to Search for Hidden Particles (SHiP) at the CERN SPS, arXiv:1504.04956, (2015).
- [44] A. Blondel, E. Graverini, N. Serra, and M. Shaposhnikov, Search for Heavy Right Handed Neutrinos at the FCC-ee, *Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc.* 273-275, 1883–1890, (2016).
- [45] S. Antusch and O. Fischer, Testing sterile neutrino extensions of the Standard Model at future lepton colliders, *JHEP*. 05, 053, (2015).
- [46] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato, M. Drewes, O. Fischer, B. Garbrecht, D. Gueter, and J. Klaric, Probing Leptogenesis at Future Colliders, arXiv:1710.03744, (2017).
- [47] P. Minkowski, $\mu \to e\gamma$ at a Rate of One Out of 10⁹ Muon Decays?, *Phys. Lett.* B67, 421–428, (1977).
- [48] R. Alonso, M. Dhen, M. B. Gavela, and T. Hambye, Muon conversion to electron in nuclei in type-I seesaw models, *JHEP*. 01, 118, (2013).
- [49] D. N. Dinh, A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro, and S. T. Petcov, The μe Conversion in Nuclei, $\mu \to e\gamma, \mu \to 3e$ Decays and TeV Scale See-Saw Scenarios of Neutrino Mass Generation, *JHEP*. **08**, 125, (2012). [Erratum: JHEP09,023(2013)].
- [50] D. Ng and J. N. Ng, A Note on Majorana neutrinos, leptonic CKM and electron electric dipole moment, *Mod. Phys. Lett.* A11, 211–216, (1996).
- [51] J. P. Archambault, A. Czarnecki, and M. Pospelov, Electric dipole moments of leptons in the presence of majorana neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D70, 073006, (2004).
- [52] A. Abada and T. Toma, Electron electric dipole moment in Inverse Seesaw models, *JHEP.* 08, 079, (2016).
- [53] P. Langacker and D. London, Lepton Number Violation and Massless Nonorthogonal Neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D38, 907, (1988).
- [54] S. Antusch, C. Biggio, E. Fernandez-Martinez, M. B. Gavela, and J. López-Pavón, Unitarity of the Leptonic Mixing Matrix, *JHEP*. 10, 084, (2006).
- [55] E. Akhmedov, A. Kartavtsev, M. Lindner, L. Michaels, and J. Smirnov, Improving Electro-Weak Fits with TeV-scale Sterile Neutrinos, *JHEP*. 05, 081, (2013).
- [56] L. Basso, O. Fischer, and J. J. van der Bij, Precision tests of unitarity in leptonic mixing, *Europhys. Lett.* 105(1), 11001, (2014).
- [57] E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. Hernandez-Garcia, J. López-Pavón, and M. Lucente,

Loop level constraints on Seesaw neutrino mixing, JHEP. 10, 130, (2015).

- [58] E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. Hernandez-Garcia, and J. López-Pavón, Global constraints on heavy neutrino mixing, *JHEP*. 08, 033, (2016).
- [59] J. A. Casas and A. Ibarra, Oscillating neutrinos and $\mu \to e\gamma$, Nucl. Phys. B618, 171–204, (2001).
- [60] T. Asaka and M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM, dark matter and baryon asymmetry of the universe, *Phys. Lett.* B620, 17–26, (2005).
- [61] M. Drewes and S. Eijima, Neutrinoless double β decay and low scale leptogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B763, 72–79, (2016).
- [62] T. Asaka, S. Eijima, and H. Ishida, On neutrinoless double beta decay in the ν MSM, *Phys. Lett.* **B762**, 371–375, (2016).
- [63] A. Caputo, P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, and J. Salvado, The seesaw path to leptonic CP violation, *Eur. Phys. J.* C77(4), 258, (2017).
- [64] A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro, and S. T. Petcov, TeV Scale See-Saw Mechanisms of Neutrino Mass Generation, the Majorana Nature of the Heavy Singlet Neutrinos and $(\beta\beta)_{0\nu}$ -Decay, *JHEP*. **09**, 108, (2010).
- [65] R. N. Mohapatra and J. W. F. Valle, Neutrino Mass and Baryon Number Nonconservation in Superstring Models, *Phys. Rev.* D34, 1642, (1986).
- [66] R. N. Mohapatra, Mechanism for Understanding Small Neutrino Mass in Superstring Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 561–563, (1986).
- [67] M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia and J. W. F. Valle, Fast Decaying Neutrinos and Observable Flavor Violation in a New Class of Majoron Models, *Phys. Lett.* B216, 360–366, (1989).
- [68] A. Pilaftsis and T. E. J. Underwood, Resonant leptogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B692, 303–345, (2004).
- [69] M. D'Onofrio, K. Rummukainen, and A. Tranberg, Sphaleron Rate in the Minimal Standard Model, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113**(14), 141602, (2014).
- [70] G. F. Giudice, A. Notari, M. Raidal, A. Riotto, and A. Strumia, Towards a complete theory of thermal leptogenesis in the SM and MSSM, *Nucl. Phys.* B685, 89–149, (2004).
- [71] B. Garbrecht, Leptogenesis: The Other Cuts, Nucl. Phys. B847, 350–366, (2011).
- [72] M. Drewes and J. U. Kang, Sterile neutrino Dark Matter production from scalar decay in a thermal bath, JHEP. 05, 051, (2016).
- [73] T. Hambye and D. Teresi, Higgs doublet decay as the origin of the baryon asymmetry, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **117**(9), 091801, (2016).
- [74] T. Hambye and D. Teresi, Baryogenesis from L-violating Higgs-doublet decay in the density-matrix formalism, *Phys. Rev.* D96(1), 015031, (2017).
- [75] A. Anisimov, D. Besak, and D. Bodeker, Thermal production of relativistic Majorana neutrinos: Strong enhancement by multiple soft scattering, *JCAP*. **1103**, 042, (2011).
- [76] D. Besak and D. Bodeker, Thermal production of ultrarelativistic right-handed neutrinos: Complete leading-order results, *JCAP*. **1203**, 029, (2012).
- [77] M. Laine, Thermal right-handed neutrino production rate in the relativistic regime, JHEP. 08, 138, (2013).
- [78] B. Garbrecht, F. Glowna, and P. Schwaller, Scattering Rates For Leptogenesis: Damping of Lepton Flavour Coherence and Production of Singlet Neutrinos, *Nucl. Phys.* B877, 1–35, (2013).
- [79] I. Ghisoiu and M. Laine, Right-handed neutrino production rate at T > 160 GeV, JCAP. **1412**(12), 032, (2014).
- [80] M. Drewes and B. Garbrecht, Leptogenesis from a GeV Seesaw without Mass De-

generacy, JHEP. 03, 096, (2013).

- [81] B. Shuve and I. Yavin, Baryogenesis through Neutrino Oscillations: A Unified Perspective, Phys. Rev. D89(7), 075014, (2014).
- [82] P. Hernández, M. Kekic, J. López-Pavón, J. Racker, and N. Rius, Leptogenesis in GeV scale seesaw models, *JHEP*. 10, 067, (2015).
- [83] M. Drewes, B. Garbrecht, D. Gueter, and J. Klaric, Leptogenesis from Oscillations of Heavy Neutrinos with Large Mixing Angles, *JHEP*. **12**, 150, (2016).
- [84] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine, GeV-scale hot sterile neutrino oscillations: a derivation of evolution equations, *JHEP*. 05, 132, (2017).
- [85] S. Eijima and M. Shaposhnikov, Fermion number violating effects in low scale leptogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B771, 288–296, (2017).
- [86] M. Drewes, B. Garbrecht, D. Gueter, and J. Klaric, Testing the low scale seesaw and leptogenesis, *JHEP*. 08, 018, (2017).
- [87] T. Spadaro, Perspectives from the NA62 experiment, Talk given at the PBC Kickoff Meeting - CERN (September 2016).
- [88] E. Graverini, SHiP sensitivity to Heavy Neutral Leptons (Sep, 2016). URL https: //cds.cern.ch/record/2214085.
- [89] C. Adams et al., The Long-Baseline Neutrino Experiment: Exploring Fundamental Symmetries of the Universe, arXiv:1307.7335, (2013).
- [90] T. Asaka, S. Eijima, and A. Watanabe, Heavy neutrino search in accelerator-based experiments, *JHEP*. 03, 125, (2013).
- [91] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato, and O. Fischer, Displaced vertex searches for sterile neutrinos at future lepton colliders, *JHEP*. 12, 007, (2016).
- [92] T. Asaka and H. Ishida, Lepton number violation by heavy Majorana neutrino in B decays, Phys. Lett. B763, 393–396, (2016).
- [93] A. Kobach and S. Dobbs, Heavy Neutrinos and the Kinematics of Tau Decays, *Phys. Rev.* D91(5), 053006, (2015).
- [94] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato, and O. Fischer, Sterile neutrino searches via displaced vertices at LHCb, *Phys. Lett.* B774, 114–118, (2017).
- [95] E. Izaguirre and B. Shuve, Multilepton and Lepton Jet Probes of Sub-Weak-Scale Right-Handed Neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D91(9), 093010, (2015).
- [96] J. C. Helo, M. Hirsch, and S. Kovalenko, Heavy neutrino searches at the LHC with displaced vertices, *Phys. Rev.* D89, 073005, (2014). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D93,no.9,099902(2016)].
- [97] A. M. Gago, P. Hernández, J. Jones-Perez, M. Losada, and A. Moreno Briceno, Probing the Type I Seesaw Mechanism with Displaced Vertices at the LHC, *Eur. Phys. J.* C75(10), 470, (2015).
- [98] F. F. Deppisch, J. Harz, and M. Hirsch, Falsifying High-Scale Leptogenesis at the LHC, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**, 221601, (2014).
- [99] F. F. Deppisch, J. Harz, M. Hirsch, W.-C. Huang, and H. Paes, Falsifying High-Scale Baryogenesis with Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay and Lepton Flavor Violation, *Phys. Rev.* D92(3), 036005, (2015).
- [100] M. Laine and M. Shaposhnikov, Sterile neutrino dark matter as a consequence of ν MSM-induced lepton asymmetry, *JCAP*. **0806**, 031, (2008).
- [101] C. O. Dib, C. S. Kim, K. Wang, and J. Zhang, Distinguishing Dirac/Majorana Sterile Neutrinos at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D94(1), 013005, (2016).
- [102] C. O. Dib and C. S. Kim, Discovering sterile Neutrinos lighter than M_W at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* **D92**(9), 093009, (2015).
- [103] G. Anamiati, M. Hirsch, and E. Nardi, Quasi-Dirac neutrinos at the LHC, JHEP. 10, 010, (2016).

- [104] O. Ruchayskiy and A. Ivashko, Experimental bounds on sterile neutrino mixing angles, *JHEP*. 06, 100, (2012).
- [105] T. Asaka, S. Eijima, and H. Ishida, Mixing of Active and Sterile Neutrinos, JHEP. 04, 011, (2011).
- [106] J. Gluza and T. Jelinski, Heavy neutrinos and the $pp \rightarrow lljj$ CMS data, Phys. Lett. **B748**, 125–131, (2015).
- [107] P. S. Bhupal Dev and R. N. Mohapatra, Unified explanation of the *eejj*, diboson and dijet resonances at the LHC, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115**(18), 181803, (2015).
- [108] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato, and O. Fischer, Heavy neutrino-antineutrino oscillations at colliders, arXiv:1709.03797, (2017).
- [109] A. Das, P. S. B. Dev, and R. N. Mohapatra, Same Sign vs Opposite Sign Dileptons as a Probe of Low Scale Seesaw Mechanisms, arXiv:1709.06553, (2017).
- [110] D. Boyanovsky, Nearly degenerate heavy sterile neutrinos in cascade decay: mixing and oscillations, *Phys. Rev.* D90(10), 105024, (2014).
- [111] A. Caputo, P. Hernández, J. López-Pavón, and J. Salvado, The seesaw portal in testable models of neutrino masses, *JHEP*. 06, 112, (2017).
- [112] L. Canetti, M. Drewes, and B. Garbrecht, Probing leptogenesis with GeV-scale sterile neutrinos at LHCb and Belle II, *Phys. Rev.* D90(12), 125005, (2014).
- [113] R. E. Shrock, General Theory of Weak Leptonic and Semileptonic Decays. 1. Leptonic Pseudoscalar Meson Decays, with Associated Tests For, and Bounds on, Neutrino Masses and Lepton Mixing, *Phys. Rev.* D24, 1232, (1981).
- [114] R. E. Shrock, General Theory of Weak Processes Involving Neutrinos. 2. Pure Leptonic Decays, *Phys. Rev.* D24, 1275, (1981).
- [115] A. de Gouvea, See-saw energy scale and the LSND anomaly, Phys. Rev. D72, 033005, (2005).
- [116] T. Asaka and T. Tsuyuki, Perturbativity in the seesaw mechanism, Phys. Lett. B753, 147–149, (2016).
- [117] M. Drewes, The Phenomenology of Right Handed Neutrinos, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E22, 1330019, (2013).
- [118] F. F. Deppisch, P. S. Bhupal Dev, and A. Pilaftsis, Neutrinos and Collider Physics, New J. Phys. 17(7), 075019, (2015).
- [119] P. S. B. Dev, A. Pilaftsis, and U.-k. Yang, New Production Mechanism for Heavy Neutrinos at the LHC, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**(8), 081801, (2014).
- [120] D. Alva, T. Han, and R. Ruiz, Heavy Majorana neutrinos from $W\gamma$ fusion at hadron colliders, *JHEP*. **02**, 072, (2015).
- [121] P. S. Bhupal Dev, R. Franceschini, and R. N. Mohapatra, Bounds on TeV Seesaw Models from LHC Higgs Data, *Phys. Rev.* D86, 093010, (2012).
- [122] C. G. Cely, A. Ibarra, E. Molinaro, and S. T. Petcov, Higgs Decays in the Low Scale Type I See-Saw Model, *Phys. Lett.* B718, 957–964, (2013).
- [123] A. Das, P. S. B. Dev, and C. S. Kim, Constraining Sterile Neutrinos from Precision Higgs Data, *Phys. Rev.* D95(11), 115013, (2017).
- [124] A. Das, Y. Gao, and T. Kamon, Heavy Neutrino Search via the Higgs boson at the LHC, arXiv:1704.00881, (2017).
- [125] F. Andres, G. Alfredo, G. Kaiwen, P. Carlos, and R. Diego, Expanding the Reach of Heavy Neutrino Searches at the LHC, arXiv:1708.03007, (2017).
- [126] G. Bernardi et al., Further Limits On Heavy Neutrino Couplings, Phys. Lett. B203, 332–334, (1988).
- [127] A. Vaitaitis et al., Search for neutral heavy leptons in a high-energy neutrino beam, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83, 4943–4946, (1999).
- [128] F. Bergsma et al., A Search for Decays of Heavy Neutrinos in the Mass Range

0.5-GeV to 2.8-GeV, Phys. Lett. 166B, 473–478, (1986).

- [129] P. Vilain et al., Search for heavy isosinglet neutrinos, *Phys. Lett.* B343, 453–458, (1995). [Phys. Lett.B351,387(1995)].
- [130] J. Badier et al., Direct Photon Production From Pions and Protons at 200-GeV/c, Z. Phys. C31, 341, (1986).
- [131] A. V. Artamonov et al., Search for heavy neutrinos in $K^+ \to \mu^+ \nu_H$ decays, *Phys. Rev.* **D91**(5), 052001, (2015). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D91,no.5,059903(2015)].
- [132] S. A. Baranov et al., Search for heavy neutrinos at the IHEP-JINR neutrino detector, *Phys. Lett.* B302, 336–340, (1993).
- [133] A. M. Cooper-Sarkar et al., Search for Heavy Neutrino Decays in the BEBC Beam Dump Experiment, Phys. Lett. 160B, 207–211, (1985).
- [134] E. Gallas et al., Search for neutral weakly interacting massive particles in the Fermilab Tevatron wide band neutrino beam, *Phys. Rev.* D52, 6–14, (1995).
- [135] P. Astier et al., Search for heavy neutrinos mixing with tau neutrinos, *Phys. Lett.* B506, 27–38, (2001).
- [136] C. Lazzeroni et al., Search for heavy neutrinos in $K^+ \to \mu^+ \nu_\mu$ decays, *Phys. Lett.* **B772**, 712–718, (2017).
- [137] W. Bonivento et al., Proposal to Search for Heavy Neutral Leptons at the SPS, arXiv:1310.1762, (2013).
- [138] S. Alekhin et al., A facility to Search for Hidden Particles at the CERN SPS: the SHiP physics case, *Rept. Prog. Phys.* **79**(12), 124201, (2016).
- [139] M. Aoki et al., Search for Massive Neutrinos in the Decay $\pi \to e\nu$, Phys. Rev. D84, 052002, (2011).
- [140] D. I. Britton et al., Measurement of the $\pi^+ \to e^+ \nu$ branching ratio, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 68, 3000–3003, (1992).
- [141] D. I. Britton et al., Improved search for massive neutrinos in $\pi^+ \to e^+ \nu$ decay, *Phys. Rev.* **D46**, R885–R887, (1992).
- [142] D. A. Bryman and T. Numao, Search for massive neutrinos in $\pi^+ \to \mu^+ \nu$ decay, *Phys. Rev.* D53, 558–559, (1996).
- [143] R. Abela, M. Daum, G. H. Eaton, R. Frosch, B. Jost, P. R. Kettle, and E. Steiner, Search for an Admixture of Heavy Neutrino in Pion Decay, *Phys. Lett.* 105B, 263–266, (1981). [Erratum: Phys. Lett.106B,513(1981)].
- [144] M. Daum, B. Jost, R. M. Marshall, R. C. Minehart, W. A. Stephens, and K. O. H. Ziock, Search for Admixtures of Massive Neutrinos in the Decay $\pi^+ \to \mu^+$ Neutrino, *Phys. Rev.* D36, 2624, (1987).
- [145] T. Yamazaki et al., Search for Heavy Neutrinos in Kaon Decay, (1984). [Conf. Proc.C840719,262(1984)].
- [146] R. S. Hayano et al., Heavy-Neutrino Search Using $K\mu 2$ Decay, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **49**, 1305, (1982).
- [147] D. Liventsev et al., Search for heavy neutrinos at Belle, *Phys. Rev.* D87(7), 071102, (2013). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D95,no.9,099903(2017)].
- [148] R. Aaij et al., Search for Majorana neutrinos in $B^- \to \pi^+ \mu^- \mu^-$ decays, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**(13), 131802, (2014).
- [149] B. Shuve and M. E. Peskin, Revision of the LHCb Limit on Majorana Neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D94(11), 113007, (2016).
- [150] R. Aaij et al., Search for massive long-lived particles decaying semileptonically in the LHCb detector, *Eur. Phys. J.* C77(4), 224, (2017).
- [151] P. Abreu et al., Search for neutral heavy leptons produced in Z decays, Z. Phys. C74, 57–71, (1997). [Erratum: Z. Phys.C75,580(1997)].
- [152] O. Adriani et al., Search for isosinglet neutral heavy leptons in Z^0 decays, Phys.

Lett. **B295**, 371–382, (1992).

- [153] P. Achard et al., Search for heavy isosinglet neutrino in e^+e^- annihilation at LEP, *Phys. Lett.* **B517**, 67–74, (2001).
- [154] G. Aad et al., Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos with the ATLAS detector in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV, *JHEP*. **07**, 162, (2015).
- [155] V. Khachatryan et al., Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos in $\mu^{\pm}\mu^{\pm}$ + jets events in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV, *Phys. Lett.* **B748**, 144–166, (2015).
- [156] S. Oh, Probing Majorana Neutrinos at the CMS, PoS. ICHEP2016, 753, (2016).
- [157] CMS Collaboration, Search for heavy neutrinos and W bosons with right handed couplings in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV, (2017). CMS-PAS-EXO-16-045.
- [158] M. Drewes and B. Garbrecht, Combining experimental and cosmological constraints on heavy neutrinos, Nucl. Phys. B921, 250–315, (2017).
- [159] J. P. Chou, D. Curtin, and H. J. Lubatti, New Detectors to Explore the Lifetime Frontier, *Phys. Lett.* B767, 29–36, (2017).
- [160] S. Antusch, E. Cazzato, and O. Fischer, Sterile neutrino searches at future e⁻e⁺, pp, and e⁻p colliders, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A32(14), 1750078, (2017).
- [161] V. Khachatryan et al., Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos in $e^{\pm}e^{\pm}$ +jets and e^{\pm} μ^{\pm} + jets events in proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV, *JHEP*. **04**, 169, (2016).
- [162] A. Atre, T. Han, S. Pascoli, and B. Zhang, The Search for Heavy Majorana Neutrinos, JHEP. 05, 030, (2009).
- [163] A. Kusenko, S. Pascoli, and D. Semikoz, New bounds on MeV sterile neutrinos based on the accelerator and Super-Kamiokande results, *JHEP*. **11**, 028, (2005).
- [164] J. Orloff, A. N. Rozanov, and C. Santoni, Limits on the mixing of tau neutrino to heavy neutrinos, *Phys. Lett.* B550, 8–15, (2002).
- [165] A. Kusenko, Sterile neutrinos: The Dark side of the light fermions, Phys. Rept. 481, 1–28, (2009).
- [166] S. Antusch and O. Fischer, Non-unitarity of the leptonic mixing matrix: Present bounds and future sensitivities, *JHEP*. 10, 094, (2014).
- [167] D. Gorbunov and I. Timiryasov, Testing ν MSM with indirect searches, *Phys. Lett.* B745, 29–34, (2015).
- [168] D. Gorbunov and A. Panin, On the minimal active-sterile neutrino mixing in seesaw type I mechanism with sterile neutrinos at GeV scale, *Phys. Rev.* D89(1), 017302, (2014).
- [169] F. L. Bezrukov, νMSM-predictions for neutrinoless double beta decay, Phys. Rev. D72, 071303, (2005).
- [170] M. Agostini et al., Results on Neutrinoless Double-β Decay of ⁷⁶Ge from Phase I of the GERDA Experiment, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111**(12), 122503, (2013).
- [171] A. Gando et al., Search for Majorana Neutrinos near the Inverted Mass Hierarchy Region with KamLAND-Zen, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **117**(8), 082503, (2016). [Addendum: Phys. Rev. Lett.117,no.10,109903(2016)].
- [172] L. Canetti and M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM and muon to electron conversion experiments, *Hyperfine Interact.* 214(1-3), 5–11, (2013).
- [173] A. Abada and T. Toma, Electric Dipole Moments of Charged Leptons with Sterile Fermions, JHEP. 02, 174, (2016).
- [174] L. Canetti, M. Drewes, and M. Shaposhnikov, Sterile Neutrinos as the Origin of Dark and Baryonic Matter, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110**(6), 061801, (2013).
- [175] A. D. Dolgov, S. H. Hansen, G. Raffelt, and D. V. Semikoz, Heavy sterile neutrinos: Bounds from big bang nucleosynthesis and SN1987A, *Nucl. Phys.* B590, 562–574, (2000).

- [176] A. D. Dolgov, S. H. Hansen, G. Raffelt, and D. V. Semikoz, Cosmological and astrophysical bounds on a heavy sterile neutrino and the KARMEN anomaly, *Nucl. Phys.* B580, 331–351, (2000).
- [177] O. Ruchayskiy and A. Ivashko, Restrictions on the lifetime of sterile neutrinos from primordial nucleosynthesis, *JCAP*. **1210**, 014, (2012).
- [178] P. Hernández, M. Kekic, and J. López-Pavón, N_{eff} in low-scale seesaw models versus the lightest neutrino mass, *Phys. Rev.* D90(6), 065033, (2014).
- [179] S. Dodelson and L. M. Widrow, Sterile-neutrinos as dark matter, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 72, 17–20, (1994).
- [180] X.-D. Shi and G. M. Fuller, A New dark matter candidate: Nonthermal sterile neutrinos, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82, 2832–2835, (1999).
- [181] T. Asaka, S. Blanchet, and M. Shaposhnikov, The νMSM, dark matter and neutrino masses, *Phys. Lett.* B631, 151–156, (2005).
- [182] A. Boyarsky, O. Ruchayskiy, and M. Shaposhnikov, The Role of sterile neutrinos in cosmology and astrophysics, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 59, 191–214, (2009).
- [183] M. Drewes et al., A White Paper on keV Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter, JCAP. 1701 (01), 025, (2017).
- [184] M. Blennow, P. Coloma, E. Fernandez-Martinez, J. Hernandez-Garcia, and J. López-Pavón, Non-Unitarity, sterile neutrinos, and Non-Standard neutrino Interactions, *JHEP.* 04, 153, (2017).
- [185] K. N. Abazajian et al., Light Sterile Neutrinos: A White Paper, arXiv:1204.5379, (2012).
- [186] T. Asaka and S. Eijima, Direct Search for Right-handed Neutrinos and Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay, PTEP. 2013(11), 113B02, (2013).
- [187] A. Abada, A. M. Teixeira, A. Vicente, and C. Weiland, Sterile neutrinos in leptonic and semileptonic decays, *JHEP*. 02, 091, (2014).
- [188] T. Asaka, S. Eijima, and K. Takeda, Lepton Universality in the ν MSM, *Phys. Lett.* **B742**, 303–309, (2015).
- [189] A. Abada and M. Lucente, Looking for the minimal inverse seesaw realisation, Nucl. Phys. B885, 651–678, (2014).
- [190] A. Abada, M. E. Krauss, W. Porod, F. Staub, A. Vicente, and C. Weiland, Lepton flavor violation in low-scale seesaw models: SUSY and non-SUSY contributions, *JHEP.* **11**, 048, (2014).
- [191] A. Abada, V. De Romeri, and A. M. Teixeira, Impact of sterile neutrinos on nuclearassisted cLFV processes, *JHEP*. 02, 083, (2016).
- [192] F. J. Escrihuela, D. V. Forero, O. G. Miranda, M. Tortola, and J. W. F. Valle, On the description of nonunitary neutrino mixing, *Phys. Rev.* D92(5), 053009, (2015). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D93,no.11,119905(2016)].
- [193] A. de Gouvea and A. Kobach, Global Constraints on a Heavy Neutrino, *Phys. Rev.* D93(3), 033005, (2016).
- [194] R. W. Rasmussen and W. Winter, Perspectives for tests of neutrino mass generation at the GeV scale: Experimental reach versus theoretical predictions, *Phys. Rev.* D94 (7), 073004, (2016).
- [195] A. Das and N. Okada, Bounds on heavy Majorana neutrinos in type-I seesaw and implications for collider searches, *Phys. Lett.* B774, 32–40, (2017).
- [196] G. Cvetic, C. S. Kim, and J. Zamora-Saa, CP violations in π^{\pm} Meson Decay, J. Phys. **G41**, 075004, (2014).
- [197] G. Cvetic, C. Dib, C. S. Kim, and J. Zamora-Saa, Probing the Majorana neutrinos and their CP violation in decays of charged scalar mesons π, K, D, D_s, B, B_c, Symmetry. 7, 726–773, (2015).

- [198] G. Cvetic, C. S. Kim, R. Kogerler, and J. Zamora-Saa, Oscillation of heavy sterile neutrino in decay of $B \rightarrow \mu e \pi$, *Phys. Rev.* **D92**, 013015, (2015).
- [199] G. Moreno and J. Zamora-Saa, Rare meson decays with three pairs of quasidegenerate heavy neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D94(9), 093005, (2016).
- [200] J. Zamora-Saa, Resonant CP violation in rare tau decay, JHEP. 05, 110, (2017).
- [201] G. Cvetic, C. S. Kim, and J. Zamora-Saa, CP violation in lepton number violating semihadronic decays of K, D, D_s, B, B_c, Phys. Rev. D89(9), 093012, (2014).
- [202] G. Cvetic, C. Dib, and C. S. Kim, Probing Majorana neutrinos in rare $\pi^+ \rightarrow e^+e^+\mu^-\nu$ decays, *JHEP*. **06**, 149, (2012).
- [203] C. Dib and C. S. Kim, Remarks on the lifetime of sterile neutrinos and the effect on detection of rare meson decays $M^+ \to M'^- \ell^+ \ell^+$, Phys. Rev. **D89**(7), 077301, (2014).
- [204] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari, and M. Plumacher, Leptogenesis for pedestrians, Annals Phys. 315, 305–351, (2005).
- [205] M. Trodden, Baryogenesis and leptogenesis, eConf. C040802, L018, (2004).
- [206] A. Strumia. Baryogenesis via leptogenesis. In Particle physics beyond the standard model. Proceedings, Summer School on Theoretical Physics, 84th Session, Les Houches, France, August 1-26, 2005, pp. 655–680, (2006).
- [207] M.-C. Chen. TASI 2006 Lectures on Leptogenesis. In Proceedings of Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics : Exploring New Frontiers Using Colliders and Neutrinos (TASI 2006): Boulder, Colorado, June 4-30, 2006, pp. 123-176, (2007). URL http://lss.fnal.gov/cgi-bin/find_paper.pl? pub-07-059.
- [208] R. Barbieri, P. Creminelli, A. Strumia, and N. Tetradis, Baryogenesis through leptogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B575, 61–77, (2000).
- [209] W. Buchmuller and T. Yanagida, Quark lepton mass hierarchies and the baryon asymmetry, *Phys. Lett.* B445, 399–402, (1999).
- [210] T. Hambye, Leptogenesis at the TeV scale, Nucl. Phys. B633, 171–192, (2002).
- [211] G. C. Branco, R. Gonzalez Felipe, F. R. Joaquim, and M. N. Rebelo, Leptogenesis, CP violation and neutrino data: What can we learn?, *Nucl. Phys.* B640, 202–232, (2002).
- [212] T. Hambye, Leptogenesis: beyond the minimal type I seesaw scenario, New J. Phys. 14, 125014, (2012).
- [213] C. S. Fong, E. Nardi, and A. Riotto, Leptogenesis in the Universe, Adv. High Energy Phys. 2012, 158303, (2012).
- [214] A. Abada, S. Davidson, F.-X. Josse-Michaux, M. Losada, and A. Riotto, Flavor issues in leptogenesis, JCAP. 0604, 004, (2006).
- [215] E. Nardi, Y. Nir, E. Roulet, and J. Racker, The Importance of flavor in leptogenesis, *JHEP.* 01, 164, (2006).
- [216] A. Abada, S. Davidson, A. Ibarra, F. X. Josse-Michaux, M. Losada, and A. Riotto, Flavour Matters in Leptogenesis, *JHEP*. 09, 010, (2006).
- [217] J. Racker, M. Pena, and N. Rius, Leptogenesis with small violation of B-L, JCAP. 1207, 030, (2012).
- [218] D. V. Nanopoulos and S. Weinberg, Mechanisms for Cosmological Baryon Production, *Phys. Rev.* D20, 2484, (1979).
- [219] J. Racker, Mass bounds for baryogenesis from particle decays and the inert doublet model, JCAP. 1403, 025, (2014).
- [220] E. Ma, Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter, *Phys. Rev.* D73, 077301, (2006).
- [221] J. Racker, Mini-review on baryogenesis at the TeV scale and possible connections

with dark matter, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. 273-275, 334–339, (2016).

- [222] M. Flanz, E. A. Paschos, U. Sarkar, and J. Weiss, Baryogenesis through mixing of heavy Majorana neutrinos, *Phys. Lett.* B389, 693–699, (1996).
- [223] L. Covi and E. Roulet, Baryogenesis from mixed particle decays, Phys. Lett. B399, 113–118, (1997).
- [224] A. Pilaftsis, CP violation and baryogenesis due to heavy Majorana neutrinos, *Phys. Rev.* D56, 5431–5451, (1997).
- [225] P. S. B. Dev, M. Garny, J. Klarić, P. Millington, and D. Teresi, Resonant Enhancement in Leptogenesis, accompanying review article.
- [226] M. Plumacher, Baryogenesis and lepton number violation, Z. Phys. C74, 549–559, (1997).
- [227] J. Racker and E. Roulet, Leptogenesis, Z-prime bosons, and the reheating temperature of the Universe, *JHEP*. 03, 065, (2009).
- [228] Y. Cui, L. Randall, and B. Shuve, A WIMPy Baryogenesis Miracle, JHEP. 04, 075, (2012).
- [229] N. Bernal, F.-X. Josse-Michaux, and L. Ubaldi, Phenomenology of WIMPy baryogenesis models, JCAP. 1301, 034, (2013).
- [230] N. Bernal, S. Colucci, F.-X. Josse-Michaux, J. Racker, and L. Ubaldi, On baryogenesis from dark matter annihilation, *JCAP*. **1310**, 035, (2013).
- [231] M. Frigerio and C. E. Yaguna, Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter and Low Scale Leptogenesis from a Charged Scalar, *Eur. Phys. J.* C75(1), 31, (2015).
- [232] J. Racker and N. Rius, Helicitogenesis: WIMPy baryogenesis with sterile neutrinos and other realizations, JHEP. 11, 163, (2014).
- [233] C. S. Fong, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, E. Nardi, and E. Peinado, New ways to TeV scale leptogenesis, *JHEP*. 08, 104, (2013).
- [234] C. Patrignani et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C40(10), 100001, (2016).
- [235] D. Aristizabal Sierra, C. S. Fong, E. Nardi, and E. Peinado, Cloistered Baryogenesis, JCAP. 1402, 013, (2014).
- [236] H. Georgi and D. V. Nanopoulos, Suppression of Flavor Changing Effects From Neutral Spinless Meson Exchange in Gauge Theories, *Phys. Lett.* B82, 95–96, (1979).
- [237] G. C. Branco, P. M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M. N. Rebelo, M. Sher, and J. P. Silva, Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models, *Phys. Rept.* 516, 1–102, (2012).
- [238] J. A. Grifols and A. Mendez, Pair Production of Colored Hypermesons at Very High-energy, Phys. Rev. D26, 324, (1982).
- [239] J. L. Hewett and S. Pakvasa, Leptoquark Production in Hadron Colliders, Phys. Rev. D37, 3165, (1988).
- [240] J. Blumlein, E. Boos, and A. Kryukov, Leptoquark pair production in hadronic interactions, Z. Phys. C76, 137–153, (1997).
- [241] M. Kramer, T. Plehn, M. Spira, and P. M. Zerwas, Pair production of scalar leptoquarks at the Tevatron, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **79**, 341–344, (1997).
- [242] M. Kramer, T. Plehn, M. Spira, and P. M. Zerwas, Pair production of scalar leptoquarks at the CERN LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D71, 057503, (2005).
- [243] E. Nardi and E. Roulet, Are exotic stable quarks cosmologically allowed?, Phys. Lett. B245, 105–110, (1990).
- [244] L. Di Luzio, F. Mescia, and E. Nardi, Redefining the Axion Window, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118(3), 031801, (2017).
- [245] L. Di Luzio, F. Mescia, and E. Nardi, Window for preferred axion models, *Phys. Rev.* D96(7), 075003, (2017).

- [246] C. S. Fong, Baryogenesis from Symmetry Principle, Phys. Lett. B752, 247–251, (2016).
- [247] W. Buchmuller and M. Plumacher, Spectator processes and baryogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B511, 74–76, (2001).
- [248] E. Nardi, Y. Nir, J. Racker, and E. Roulet, On Higgs and sphaleron effects during the leptogenesis era, *JHEP*. 01, 068, (2006).
- [249] R. Mackeprang and D. Milstead, An Updated Description of Heavy-Hadron Interactions in GEANT-4, *Eur. Phys. J.* C66, 493–501, (2010).
- [250] E. Ma and U. Sarkar, Neutrino masses and leptogenesis with heavy Higgs triplets, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 80, 5716–5719, (1998).
- [251] T. Hambye, E. Ma, and U. Sarkar, Supersymmetric triplet Higgs model of neutrino masses and leptogenesis, *Nucl. Phys.* B602, 23–38, (2001).
- [252] T. Hambye and G. Senjanovic, Consequences of triplet seesaw for leptogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B582, 73–81, (2004).
- [253] T. Hambye, M. Raidal, and A. Strumia, Efficiency and maximal CP-asymmetry of scalar triplet leptogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B632, 667–674, (2006).
- [254] R. Gonzalez Felipe, F. R. Joaquim, and H. Serodio, Flavoured CP asymmetries for type II seesaw leptogenesis, *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* A28, 1350165, (2013).
- [255] D. Aristizabal Sierra, M. Dhen, and T. Hambye, Scalar triplet flavored leptogenesis: a systematic approach, JCAP. 1408, 003, (2014).
- [256] S. Lavignac and B. Schmauch, Flavour always matters in scalar triplet leptogenesis. JHEP. 05, 124, (2015).
- [257] T. Hambye, Y. Lin, A. Notari, M. Papucci, and A. Strumia, Constraints on neutrino masses from leptogenesis models, *Nucl. Phys.* B695, 169–191, (2004).
- [258] W. Fischler and R. Flauger, Neutrino Masses, Leptogenesis, and Unification in the Absence of Low Energy Supersymmetry, JHEP. 09, 020, (2008).
- [259] A. Strumia, Sommerfeld corrections to type-II and III leptogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B809, 308–317, (2009).
- [260] D. Aristizabal Sierra, J. F. Kamenik, and M. Nemevsek, Implications of Flavor Dynamics for Fermion Triplet Leptogenesis, *JHEP*. **10**, 036, (2010).
- [261] B. Bajc and G. Senjanovic, Seesaw at LHC, JHEP. 08, 014, (2007).
- [262] I. Dorsner and P. Fileviez Perez, Upper Bound on the Mass of the Type III Seesaw Triplet in an SU(5) Model, JHEP. 06, 029, (2007).
- [263] B. Bajc, M. Nemevsek, and G. Senjanovic, Probing seesaw at LHC, Phys. Rev. D76, 055011, (2007).
- [264] S. Blanchet and P. Fileviez Perez, Baryogenesis via Leptogenesis in Adjoint SU(5), JCAP. 0808, 037, (2008).
- [265] J. F. Kamenik and M. Nemevsek, Lepton flavor violation in type I + III seesaw, JHEP. 11, 023, (2009). [Erratum: JHEP03,033(2014)].
- [266] P. J. O'Donnell and U. Sarkar, Baryogenesis via lepton number violating scalar interactions, *Phys. Rev.* D49, 2118–2121, (1994).
- [267] S. Antusch and S. F. King, Type II Leptogenesis and the neutrino mass scale, *Phys. Lett.* B597, 199–207, (2004).
- [268] E. Ma and D. P. Roy, Heavy triplet leptons and new gauge boson, Nucl. Phys. B644, 290–302, (2002).
- [269] R. Franceschini, T. Hambye, and A. Strumia, Type-III see-saw at LHC, Phys. Rev. D78, 033002, (2008).
- [270] P. Fileviez Perez, T. Han, G.-y. Huang, T. Li, and K. Wang, Neutrino Masses and the CERN LHC: Testing Type II Seesaw, *Phys. Rev.* D78, 015018, (2008).
- [271] A. Melfo, M. Nemevsek, F. Nesti, G. Senjanovic, and Y. Zhang, Type II Seesaw at

LHC: The Roadmap, *Phys. Rev.* **D85**, 055018, (2012).

- [272] P.-H. Gu and U. Sarkar, Leptogenesis, dark matter and Higgs phenomenology at TeV, Nucl. Phys. B789, 245–257, (2008).
- [273] P.-H. Gu, Resonant Leptogenesis and Verifiable Seesaw from Large Extra Dimensions, *Phys. Rev.* D81, 073002, (2010).
- [274] C. Hati and U. Sarkar, Neutrino dark energy and leptogenesis with TeV scale triplets, Eur. Phys. J. C76(5), 236, (2016).
- [275] M. Borah, D. Borah, M. K. Das, and S. Patra, Perturbations to $\mu \tau$ Symmetry, Leptogenesis and Lepton Flavour Violation with Type II Seesaw, *Phys. Rev.* D90 (9), 095020, (2014).
- [276] L. Covi, J. E. Kim, B. Kyae, and S. Nam, Leptogenesis with high-scale electroweak symmetry breaking and an extended Higgs sector, *Phys. Rev.* D94(6), 065004, (2016).
- [277] D. Aristizabal Sierra, F. Bazzocchi, and I. de Medeiros Varzielas, Leptogenesis in flavor models with type I and II seesaws, *Nucl. Phys.* B858, 196–213, (2012).
- [278] P.-H. Gu, H.-J. He, U. Sarkar, and X.-m. Zhang, Double Type-II Seesaw, Baryon Asymmetry and Dark Matter for Cosmic e[±] Excesses, *Phys. Rev.* D80, 053004, (2009).
- [279] F.-X. Josse-Michaux and E. Molinaro, A Common Framework for Dark Matter, Leptogenesis and Neutrino Masses, *Phys. Rev.* D84, 125021, (2011).
- [280] F.-X. Josse-Michaux and E. Molinaro, Triplet scalar dark matter and leptogenesis in an inverse seesaw model of neutrino mass generation, *Phys. Rev.* D87(3), 036007, (2013).
- [281] S. Kashiwase, H. Okada, Y. Orikasa, and T. Toma, Two Loop Neutrino Model with Dark Matter and Leptogenesis, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A31(20n21), 1650121, (2016).
- [282] T. Hambye, F. S. Ling, L. Lopez Honorez, and J. Rocher, Scalar Multiplet Dark Matter, JHEP. 07, 090, (2009). [Erratum: JHEP05,066(2010)].
- [283] L. Boubekeur, T. Hambye, and G. Senjanovic, Low scale leptogenesis and soft supersymmetry breaking, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93, 111601, (2004).
- [284] E. J. Chun, TeV leptogenesis in Z-prime models and its collider probe, *Phys. Rev.* D72, 095010, (2005).
- [285] J. L. Hewett and T. G. Rizzo, Low-Energy Phenomenology of Superstring Inspired E(6) Models, *Phys. Rept.* 183, 193, (1989).
- [286] P. Langacker, M.-x. Luo, and A. K. Mann, High precision electroweak experiments: A Global search for new physics beyond the standard model, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 64, 87–192, (1992).
- [287] A. Leike, The Phenomenology of extra neutral gauge bosons, Phys. Rept. 317, 143–250, (1999).
- [288] S. Y. Khlebnikov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, The Statistical Theory of Anomalous Fermion Number Nonconservation, Nucl. Phys. B308, 885–912, (1988).
- [289] V. A. Kuzmin, V. A. Rubakov, and M. E. Shaposhnikov, On the Anomalous Electroweak Baryon Number Nonconservation in the Early Universe, *Phys. Lett.* B155, 36, (1985).
- [290] P. B. Arnold and L. D. McLerran, Sphalerons, Small Fluctuations and Baryon Number Violation in Electroweak Theory, *Phys. Rev.* D36, 581, (1987).
- [291] L. Carson, X. Li, L. D. McLerran, and R.-T. Wang, Exact Computation of the Small Fluctuation Determinant Around a Sphaleron, *Phys. Rev.* D42, 2127–2143, (1990).
- [292] A. Pilaftsis and T. E. J. Underwood, Electroweak-scale resonant leptogenesis, *Phys. Rev.* D72, 113001, (2005).
- [293] The ATLAS collaboration, Search for new high-mass resonances in the dilepton

final state using proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, (2016). ATLAS-CONF-2016-045.

- [294] R. N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanovic, Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Violation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44, 912, (1980).
- [295] T. Yanagida, Horizontal Symmetry and Masses of Neutrinos, Conf. Proc. C7902131, 95–99, (1979).
- [296] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond, and R. Slansky, Complex Spinors and Unified Theories, Conf. Proc. C790927, 315–321, (1979).
- [297] S. L. Glashow, The Future of Elementary Particle Physics, NATO Sci. Ser. B. 61, 687, (1980).
- [298] J. C. Pati and A. Salam, Lepton Number as the Fourth Color, *Phys. Rev.* D10, 275–289, (1974). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D11,703(1975)].
- [299] R. N. Mohapatra, J. C. Pati, and L. Wolfenstein, The Superweak Model of CP-Violation in Unified Gauge Theories, *Phys. Rev.* D11, 3319, (1975).
- [300] G. Senjanovic and R. N. Mohapatra, Exact Left-Right Symmetry and Spontaneous Violation of Parity, Phys. Rev. D12, 1502, (1975).
- [301] A. Pilaftsis, Resonant CP violation induced by particle mixing in transition amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B504, 61–107, (1997).
- [302] W. Buchmuller, P. Di Bari, and M. Plumacher, A Bound on neutrino masses from baryogenesis, *Phys. Lett.* B547, 128–132, (2002).
- [303] W.-Y. Keung and G. Senjanovic, Majorana Neutrinos and the Production of the Right-handed Charged Gauge Boson, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 50, 1427, (1983).
- [304] M. Nemevsek, F. Nesti, G. Senjanovic, and Y. Zhang, First Limits on Left-Right Symmetry Scale from LHC Data, *Phys. Rev.* D83, 115014, (2011).
- [305] S. P. Das, F. F. Deppisch, O. Kittel, and J. W. F. Valle, Heavy Neutrinos and Lepton Flavour Violation in Left-Right Symmetric Models at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D86, 055006, (2012).
- [306] C.-Y. Chen, P. S. B. Dev, and R. N. Mohapatra, Probing Heavy-Light Neutrino Mixing in Left-Right Seesaw Models at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D88, 033014, (2013).
- [307] P. S. B. Dev, D. Kim, and R. N. Mohapatra, Disambiguating Seesaw Models using Invariant Mass Variables at Hadron Colliders, *JHEP*. 01, 118, (2016).
- [308] R. Ruiz, Lepton Number Violation at Colliders from Kinematically Inaccessible Gauge Bosons, Eur. Phys. J. C77(6), 375, (2017).
- [309] Riazuddin, R. E. Marshak, and R. N. Mohapatra, Majorana Neutrinos and Lowenergy Tests of Electroweak Models, *Phys. Rev.* D24, 1310–1317, (1981).
- [310] V. Cirigliano, A. Kurylov, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and P. Vogel, Lepton flavor violation without supersymmetry, *Phys. Rev.* D70, 075007, (2004).
- [311] J. Barry and W. Rodejohann, Lepton number and flavour violation in TeV-scale left-right symmetric theories with large left-right mixing, *JHEP*. **09**, 153, (2013).
- [312] A. de Gouvea and P. Vogel, Lepton Flavor and Number Conservation, and Physics Beyond the Standard Model, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 71, 75–92, (2013).
- [313] R. N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanovic, Neutrino Masses and Mixings in Gauge Models with Spontaneous Parity Violation, *Phys. Rev.* D23, 165, (1981).
- [314] M. Hirsch, H. V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus, and O. Panella, Double beta decay in left-right symmetric models, *Phys. Lett.* B374, 7–12, (1996).
- [315] V. Tello, M. Nemevsek, F. Nesti, G. Senjanovic, and F. Vissani, Left-Right Symmetry: from LHC to Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 106, 151801, (2011).
- [316] W. Rodejohann, Neutrino-less Double Beta Decay and Particle Physics, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E20, 1833–1930, (2011).

- [317] P. S. Bhupal Dev, S. Goswami, M. Mitra, and W. Rodejohann, Constraining Neutrino Mass from Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay, *Phys. Rev.* D88, 091301, (2013).
- [318] S. Carlier, J. M. Frere, and F. S. Ling, Gauge dilution and leptogenesis, *Phys. Rev.* D60, 096003, (1999).
- [319] J.-M. Frere, T. Hambye, and G. Vertongen, Is leptogenesis falsifiable at LHC?, *JHEP.* 01, 051, (2009).
- [320] P. S. Bhupal Dev, C.-H. Lee, and R. N. Mohapatra, Leptogenesis Constraints on the Mass of Right-handed Gauge Bosons, *Phys. Rev.* D90(9), 095012, (2014).
- [321] P. S. Bhupal Dev, C.-H. Lee, and R. N. Mohapatra, TeV Scale Lepton Number Violation and Baryogenesis, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 631(1), 012007, (2015).
- [322] M. Dhuria, C. Hati, R. Rangarajan, and U. Sarkar, Falsifying leptogenesis for a TeV scale W[±]_R at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D92(3), 031701, (2015).
- [323] C.-H. Lee, P. S. Bhupal Dev, and R. N. Mohapatra, Natural TeV-scale left-right seesaw mechanism for neutrinos and experimental tests, *Phys. Rev.* D88(9), 093010, (2013).
- [324] C. Patrignani et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C40(10), 100001, (2016).
- [325] J. Kersten and A. Y. Smirnov, Right-Handed Neutrinos at CERN LHC and the Mechanism of Neutrino Mass Generation, *Phys. Rev.* D76, 073005, (2007).
- [326] A. Ferrari, J. Collot, M.-L. Andrieux, B. Belhorma, P. de Saintignon, J.-Y. Hostachy, P. Martin, and M. Wielers, Sensitivity study for new gauge bosons and right-handed Majorana neutrinos in pp collisions at s = 14-TeV, Phys. Rev. D62, 013001, (2000).
- [327] P. S. Bhupal Dev, P. Millington, A. Pilaftsis, and D. Teresi, Flavour Covariant Transport Equations: an Application to Resonant Leptogenesis, *Nucl. Phys.* B886, 569–664, (2014).
- [328] H. Pagels and J. R. Primack, Supersymmetry, Cosmology and New TeV Physics, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48, 223, (1982).
- [329] S. Weinberg, Cosmological Constraints on the Scale of Supersymmetry Breaking, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48, 1303, (1982).
- [330] J. Heisig, Gravitino LSP and leptogenesis after the first LHC results, JCAP. 1404, 023, (2014).
- [331] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, T. Moroi, and A. Yotsuyanagi, Big-Bang Nucleosynthesis and Gravitino, *Phys. Rev.* D78, 065011, (2008).
- [332] S. Antusch and A. M. Teixeira, Towards constraints on the SUSY seesaw from flavour-dependent leptogenesis, *JCAP*. 0702, 024, (2007).
- [333] L. E. Ibanez and F. Quevedo, Supersymmetry protects the primordial baryon asymmetry, *Phys. Lett.* B283, 261–269, (1992).
- [334] B. A. Campbell, S. Davidson, and K. A. Olive, Inflation, neutrino baryogenesis, and (S)neutrino induced baryogenesis, *Nucl. Phys.* B399, 111–136, (1993).
- [335] L. Covi, E. Roulet, and F. Vissani, CP violating decays in leptogenesis scenarios, *Phys. Lett.* B384, 169–174, (1996).
- [336] M. Plumacher, Baryon asymmetry, neutrino mixing and supersymmetric SO(10) unification, Nucl. Phys. B530, 207–246, (1998).
- [337] C. S. Fong, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, E. Nardi, and J. Racker, Supersymmetric Leptogenesis, JCAP. 1012, 013, (2010).
- [338] L. Boubekeur, Leptogenesis at low scale, arXiv:hep-ph/0208003, (2002).
- [339] Y. Grossman, T. Kashti, Y. Nir, and E. Roulet, Leptogenesis from supersymmetry breaking, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **91**, 251801, (2003).
- [340] G. D'Ambrosio, G. F. Giudice, and M. Raidal, Soft leptogenesis, Phys. Lett. B575, 75–84, (2003).

- [341] C. S. Fong, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, and E. Nardi, Early Universe effective theories: The Soft Leptogenesis and R-Genesis Cases, JCAP. 1102, 032, (2011).
- [342] C. S. Fong, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, and E. Nardi, Leptogenesis from Soft Supersymmetry Breaking (Soft Leptogenesis), *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* A26, 3491–3604, (2011).
- [343] R. Adhikari, A. Dasgupta, C. S. Fong, and R. Rangarajan, Nonthermal CP violation in soft leptogenesis, *Phys. Rev.* D91(9), 096001, (2015).
- [344] C. S. Fong, M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, E. Nardi, and J. Racker, Flavoured soft leptogenesis and natural values of the B term, *JHEP*. 07, 001, (2010).
- [345] C. S. Fong and M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, Flavoured Soft Leptogenesis, JHEP. 06, 076, (2008).
- [346] P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 571, A16, (2014).
- [347] C. L. Bennett et al., Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Final Maps and Results, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 208, 20, (2013).
- [348] G. Bambhaniya, S. Khan, P. Konar, and T. Mondal, Constraints on a seesaw model leading to quasidegenerate neutrinos and signatures at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D91 (9), 095007, (2015).
- [349] T. Kashti, Phenomenological consequences of soft leptogenesis, *Phys. Rev.* D71, 013008, (2005).
- [350] A. Dedes, H. E. Haber, and J. Rosiek, Seesaw mechanism in the sneutrino sector and its consequences, *JHEP*. **11**, 059, (2007).
- [351] J. Baron et al., Order of Magnitude Smaller Limit on the Electric Dipole Moment of the Electron, *Science.* 343, 269–272, (2014).
- [352] G. W. Bennett et al., An Improved Limit on the Muon Electric Dipole Moment, *Phys. Rev.* D80, 052008, (2009).
- [353] K. Inami et al., Search for the electric dipole moment of the tau lepton, *Phys. Lett.* B551, 16–26, (2003).
- [354] M. Hirsch, F. R. Joaquim, and A. Vicente, Constrained SUSY seesaws with a 125 GeV Higgs, JHEP. 11, 105, (2012).
- [355] J. Hisano, T. Moroi, K. Tobe, and M. Yamaguchi, Lepton flavor violation via righthanded neutrino Yukawa couplings in supersymmetric standard model, *Phys. Rev.* D53, 2442–2459, (1996).
- [356] J. Adam et al., New limit on the lepton-flavour violating decay $\mu^+ \to e^+\gamma$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 171801, (2011).
- [357] J. Adam et al., New constraint on the existence of the $\mu^+ \to e^+ \gamma$ decay, *Phys. Rev.* Lett. **110**, 201801, (2013).
- [358] B. Aubert et al., Searches for Lepton Flavor Violation in the Decays $\tau^{\pm} \to e^{\pm}\gamma$ and $\tau^{\pm} \to \mu^{\pm}\gamma$, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **104**, 021802, (2010).
- [359] J. R. Ellis, J. Hisano, M. Raidal, and Y. Shimizu, A New parametrization of the seesaw mechanism and applications in supersymmetric models, *Phys. Rev.* D66, 115013, (2002).
- [360] R. Kitano, M. Koike, and Y. Okada, Detailed calculation of lepton flavor violating muon electron conversion rate for various nuclei, *Phys. Rev.* D66, 096002, (2002). [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D76,059902(2007)].
- [361] A. Blondel et al., Research Proposal for an Experiment to Search for the Decay $\mu \rightarrow eee$, arXiv:1301.6113, (2013).
- [362] R. J. Abrams et al., Mu2e Conceptual Design Report, arXiv:1211.7019, (2012).
- [363] Y. Kuno, COMET and PRISM: Search for charged lepton flavor violation with muons, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 225-227, 228–231, (2012).
- [364] G. D'Ambrosio, T. Hambye, A. Hektor, M. Raidal, and A. Rossi, Leptogenesis in the

minimal supersymmetric triplet seesaw model, *Phys. Lett.* **B604**, 199–206, (2004).

- [365] E. J. Chun and S. Scopel, Soft leptogenesis in Higgs triplet model, *Phys. Lett.* B636, 278–285, (2006).
- [366] The ATLAS collaboration, Search for doubly-charged Higgs bosons in same-charge electron pair final states using proton-proton collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, (2016). ATLAS-CONF-2016-051.
- [367] E. J. Chun, K. Y. Lee, and S. C. Park, Testing Higgs triplet model and neutrino mass patterns, *Phys. Lett.* B566, 142–151, (2003).
- [368] E. J. Chun and P. Sharma, Same-Sign Tetra-Leptons from Type II Seesaw, JHEP. 08, 162, (2012).
- [369] A. E. Nelson and S. M. Barr, Upper bound on baryogenesis scale from neutrino masses, *Phys. Lett.* B246, 141–143, (1990).
- [370] B. A. Campbell, S. Davidson, J. R. Ellis, and K. A. Olive, Cosmological baryon asymmetry constraints on extensions of the standard model, *Phys. Lett.* B256, 484–490, (1991).
- [371] J. Harz, W.-C. Huang, and H. Paes, Lepton Number Violation and the Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A30(17), 1530045, (2015). [Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys.25,207(2015)].
- [372] A. de Gouvea and J. Jenkins, A Survey of Lepton Number Violation Via Effective Operators, *Phys. Rev.* D77, 013008, (2008).
- [373] K. S. Babu and C. N. Leung, Classification of effective neutrino mass operators, Nucl. Phys. B619, 667–689, (2001).
- [374] J.-H. Liu, J. Zhang, and S. Zhou, Majorana Neutrino Masses from Neutrinoless Double-Beta Decays and Lepton-Number-Violating Meson Decays, *Phys. Lett.* B760, 571–576, (2016).
- [375] F. F. Wilson. Searches for lepton-number-violating B decays at CLEO, BaBar and Belle. In 7th International Workshop on the CKM Unitarity Triangle (CKM 2012) Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, September 28-October 2, 2012, (2013). URL https: //inspirehep.net/record/1210030/files/arXiv:1301.2075.pdf.
- [376] E. Goudzovski. Searches for lepton flavour and lepton number violation in kaon decays. In Proceedings, 46th Rencontres de Moriond on Electroweak Interactions and Unified Theories: La Thuile, Italy, March 13-20, 2011, pp. 255-262, (2011). URL https://inspirehep.net/record/901838/files/arXiv:1105.5957.pdf.
- [377] P. Seyfert. Searches for Lepton Flavour Violation and Lepton Number Violation in Hadron Decays. In Proceedings, 10th Conference on Flavor Physics and CP Violation (FPCP 2012): Hefei, Anhui, China, May 21-25, 2012, (2012). URL https://inspirehep.net/record/1187785/files/arXiv:1209.4939.pdf.
- [378] J. M. Berryman, A. de Gouvea, K. J. Kelly, and A. Kobach, Lepton-numberviolating searches for muon to positron conversion, *Phys. Rev.* D95(11), 115010, (2017).
- [379] F. Renga, Searches for Lepton Flavor Violation and Lepton Number Violation in Charged Lepton Decays, arXiv:1208.3593, (2012).
- [380] K. P. Jungmann, Experiments searching for lepton number violation, AIP Conf. Proc. 539, 341–354, (2000).
- [381] H. Paes, M. Hirsch, H. V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus, and S. G. Kovalenko, Towards a superformula for neutrinoless double beta decay, *Phys. Lett.* B453, 194–198, (1999).
- [382] F. F. Deppisch, M. Hirsch, and H. Paes, Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay and Physics Beyond the Standard Model, J. Phys. G39, 124007, (2012).
- [383] F. Bonnet, M. Hirsch, T. Ota, and W. Winter, Systematic decomposition of the neutrinoless double beta decay operator, *JHEP*. **03**, 055, (2013). [Erratum:

JHEP04,090(2014)].

- [384] J. C. Helo, M. Hirsch, S. G. Kovalenko, and H. Paes, Neutrinoless double beta decay and lepton number violation at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D88(1), 011901, (2013).
- [385] J. C. Helo, M. Hirsch, H. Paes, and S. G. Kovalenko, Short-range mechanisms of neutrinoless double beta decay at the LHC, *Phys. Rev.* D88, 073011, (2013).
- [386] R. Arnold et al., Probing New Physics Models of Neutrinoless Double Beta Decay with SuperNEMO, *Eur. Phys. J.* C70, 927–943, (2010).
- [387] F. Deppisch and H. Paes, Pinning down the mechanism of neutrinoless double beta decay with measurements in different nuclei, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98, 232501, (2007).
- [388] M. Hirsch, K. Muto, T. Oda, and H. V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus, Nuclear structure calculations of β⁺β⁺, β⁺ / EC and EC / EC decay matrix elements, Z. Phys. A347, 151–160, (1994).
- [389] F. Simkovic, M. Nowak, W. A. Kaminski, A. A. Raduta, and A. Faessler, Neutrinoless double beta decay of Ge-76, Se-82, Mo-100 and Xe-136 to excited 0+ states, *Phys. Rev.* C64, 035501, (2001).
- [390] M. Raidal et al., Flavour physics of leptons and dipole moments, Eur. Phys. J. C57, 13–182, (2008).
- [391] S. Dimopoulos and L. J. Hall, Lepton and Baryon Number Violating Collider Signatures from Supersymmetry, *Phys.Lett.* B207, 210, (1988).
- [392] A. Antaramian, L. J. Hall, and A. Rasin, Hypercharge and the cosmological baryon asymmetry, *Phys. Rev.* D49, 3881–3885, (1994).
- [393] CMS Collaboration, Search for a heavy neutrino and right-handed W of the left-right symmetric model in pp collisions at 8 TeV, (2012). CMS-PAS-EXO-12-017.